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Governance
This section introduces the Punch Taverns  
Board of Directors and how Punch Taverns  
applies its values to the way it does business  
in terms of corporate governance and  
accountability. The remuneration section  
explains our pay policies and contains  
details of the salaries and benefits  
received by the Directors during the year.

Financial statements
This section contains detailed financial  
statements and other information  
shareholders find useful. As well as the  
statutory accounts, this section contains  
a financial calendar for the forthcoming  
year and a summary of financial  
performance over five years.
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Our performance

KPIs* Highlights
Financial performance*
>	 EBITDA* of £422m (2009: £514m)
>	 	Profit before tax of £131m (2009: £160m)
>	 	Disposal proceeds of £299m comprised largely of 

non core assets – achieved at an average multiple 
of 16x EBITDA

>	 Basic earnings per share of 14.4p
>	 Net asset value per share of 229p

Statutory results (after exceptional items)
>	 	Loss after exceptional items of £160m following  

a net exceptional charge of £253m. All of the 
exceptional charges were non cash except for  
£2m of reorganisation charges

>	 	Exceptional items include a £218m charge  
for pub impairments to appropriately value the  
non core estate

>	 Basic loss per share after exceptional items of 24.9p

Capital structure
>	  Net debt reduced by £322m (9%) to £3,143m 
>	 	Outstanding securitised debt has a 17 year average 

maturity and weighted average cost of 6.8%
>	 	Debt repayments and management actions to  

date have helped maintain headroom against 
financial covenants

* Before exceptional items.

EBITDA £m

Profit before tax £m

Basic earnings per share p

2006

2006

2007

2007

2008

2008

2009

2009

2010

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2010

249.6

74.9

663.6

281.7

84.4

623.4

262.3

160.4

421.8

130.8
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Our business

Driving our strategy forward

Each operating business has a clearly focused 
strategy designed to maximise shareholder value 
and realise synergies across the estate, in terms  
of negotiating better value supplier deals and  
in transferring knowledge and skills.

Punch Partnerships
Punch Partnerships is our leased division, 
comprising 5,967 pubs nationwide.  
Over the last 12 months, the leased 
business has made significant progress  
on its Pathway to Partnership business 
change programme, at the heart of which 
is our commitment to build successful, 
lasting relationships as we endeavour to 
become ‘The Most Trusted and Best Value 
Pub Partnership Business in the UK’.

Punch Pub Company
Punch Pub Company is our managed 
division, comprising 803 pubs nationwide. 
The managed business includes some  
of the best quality managed pubs and 
emerging concepts in the UK. Throughout 
the year we have focused on rolling out  
our investment programme to develop 
strong consumer brands and offers whilst 
embarking on a major cultural change 
journey to ‘Put the Guest at the Heart  
of our Business’. 

Punch Taverns is one of the  
UK’s leading pub companies with  
a portfolio of 6,770 managed  
and leased pubs.

Our vision
To be the pre-eminent pub  
group in the UK; lean, innovative 
and dynamic, constantly striving 
to provide a great service to  
our pubs, our Partners and our 
colleagues, driven by a passion for 
excellence in everything we do.

Our objective
To continue to maximise the long 
term shareholder value of the 
Group, through developing the 
best quality estate in the industry, 
building successful long term 
partnerships and delivering  
great guest experiences in our 
managed pubs.
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Group strategy

What we said

Strengthen operational 
management

Stabilise operating 
performance

Improve cash flow

Reduce debt

What we did

Management actions have focused on stabilising business 
performance and on building trading momentum

We delivered improved trading momentum in the final quarter  
of the financial year

We delivered a strong free cash flow of £314m

We have made good progress in strengthening our balance sheet, 
reducing gross debt by £684m
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Market overview

Overview

Consumers

The consumer landscape 
continues to change at pace and 
we have been quick to respond 
to ensure that we cater to 
changing needs.

Success for the pub sector is still being determined by its ability  
to respond at pace to the changing market conditions and deliver 
great guest experiences and value. In response to these continuing 
challenges, we refocused our plans so that we are best placed  
to quickly evolve our consumer offers, improve service standards 
and combat competitor activity.

Consumers
The consumer landscape continues to change at pace and we  
have been quick to respond to changing consumer behaviour. 
Competition within the eating out and leisure sector remains 
intense and we have adapted both our approach to Partner 
support and our managed marketing strategies to ensure  
that we cater to changing needs. 

In our managed business, we have focused on developing new 
concepts to meet consumer needs whilst updating our marketing 
activity with a heavier focus on online media. Within our leased 
business we continue to work closely with our Partners to diversify 
their businesses into new areas including village shops and  
Post Offices. At the same time, we have helped Partners to build 
their food skills with the expertise of eight specialist Catering 
Executives and the rollout of a number of easy to deliver food 
solutions ranging from ‘Coffee and WiFi’ to ‘Table Top’. 

Economic downturn

The UK on-trade has experienced 
significant beer volume declines  
in each of the last two years  
as a result of the smoking ban 
and counter productive tax and 
duty increases.

The sector continues 
to face a number  
of challenges, both  
in terms of consumer 
confidence and in 
Government legislation 
and taxation.

A snapshot
Market overview



Bu
si

ne
ss

 r
ev

ie
w

5
Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

Government legislation
Punch Taverns plays a key role in representing the 5,967 small 
businesses that we work in partnership with. These small 
businesses are at the heart of the communities they serve  
and we take our responsibilities seriously in ensuring that they  
continue to trade with the minimum Government interference  
and tax constraints possible.

We continue to urge the Government to recognise the important 
role that pubs play in their local communities and to push for 
positive measures to reduce the administrative and legislative 
burden that our General Managers and Partners face.

We have actively participated in consultation on a number  
of measures ranging from the Mandatory Code to the Licensing 
Act. Through our industry body membership we actively seek  
to influence Government thinking and to represent the views  
of our Partners so that we minimise legislation and make  
operating a responsible pub as simple as possible.

The industry
Over the last 12 months, the pub industry has taken positive  
steps to collectively influence the political agenda, to shift 
perceptions, and to demonstrate its continued commitment  
to responsible retailing.

We recognise that we have to work in partnership with the rest  
of the industry to speak with one voice on common issues. We 
remain active members of the British Institute of Innkeeping (BII), 
the All Party Parliamentary Beer Group (APPBG), the British Beer 
and Pub Association (BBPA) and the Association of Licensed 
Multiple Retailers (ALMR) and we maintain ongoing dialogue  
with other licensee groups.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

Regulation

We continue to urge the 
Government to recognise the 
important role that pubs play  
in their local communities.

Responsible retailing

We believe that the vast majority 
of pubs already provide a well 
regulated environment for the 
responsible retailing of alcohol. 
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Operations

At a glance

Code of Practice
We were the first major pub company  
to publish our BII Benchmarking and 
Accreditation Services Ltd (BIIBAS) accredited 
Code of Practice, which exceeds the BBPA 
industry framework. It is now live across the 
business, setting the basis of our relationship 
with our Partners. We are committed to 
making this live within the business and 
Business Relationship Managers (BRMs)  
will be bonused on compliance.

Partnership support
Based on Partner feedback, we have  
trialled a new Partner Development Manager 
(PDM) role in the Midlands and South West. 
The emphasis has been to give PDMs greater 
capacity to focus on quality recruitment and 
consultancy support to help Partners with 
financial planning, developing their retail 
offer, standards and marketing. 

Partner feedback
We are committed to listening to our 
Partners and have initiated new ways of 
gaining feedback to help us shape and evolve 
our business. Over the last year, we held a 
series of regional Partner Forums, we posted 
our new Code of Practice on our website 
inviting Partner feedback and we carried  
out a Partner survey on BRM effectiveness  
to help us improve performance in the field. 

Investing For Growth (I4G)
Through I4G, we have invested over £20m  
to deliver over 500 small scale improvements 
and ‘sparkles’ designed to set pubs up for 
success and help grow their businesses in  
the run up to the World Cup and Summer 
trading period. Over 200 projects were 
completed prior to the World Cup to  
ensure that Partners could fully maximise  
the opportunity.

Partner training
Our Partner training has focused on setting 
Partners up for success from day one by 
aligning close BRM support and business 
development activity with Foundation 
Training. New Partners complete the 
Foundation Week prior to entering their new 
pub. This is backed up by a visit from their 
BRM within the first two weeks and followed  
by a series of structured visits over the next  
five months to focus on key business needs.

AchievementsOur leased estate
Punch Partnerships is our leased division, 
comprising 5,967 pubs nationwide, ranging 
from high end food outlets to traditional  
drink led locals. 

Phase 1 

Stabilising 
performance

Phase 2 

Creating  
the platform  
for growth

Phase 3 

Sustainable 
value 
creation

Our progress 
The last 12 months has seen significant progress  
in our three phase business change programme, 
Pathway to Partnership. 

•  Management actions have had a positive impact  
on stabilising the estate 

•  We have continued our programme of disposals  
and accelerated investment in our core estate

•  We have overhauled our letting processes, providing 
transparency on expected earnings and flexibility 
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First major pub Company to publish its  
BIIBAS accredited Code of Practice

Over 800 Partner investments completed

Over 5,200 Partners and their team 
members trained, completing 9,380 days  
of training, an increase of 51%

A record 2,811 Partners attended our 
business building roadshows

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

Our Goal: To be the  
most trusted and best  
value pub partnership  
business in the UK.

Leased estate

5,967 pubs

Roger Whiteside Managing Director, Punch Partnerships
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Operations
continued

Business review

At a glance

Best for team
We believe that a well motivated team will 
deliver consistently great guest experiences. 
To further build the calibre of our team we 
launched our Apprenticeship programme 
with 81 team members now working 
towards a nationally recognised qualification 
and on track for 500 next year. We have also 
focused on reducing Team Player turnover 
and increasing the overall calibre of our  
pub teams, which will in turn drive a better 
guest experience.

Best for guest
Towards the end of the year, we embarked 
on a major cultural change programme to 
‘Put the Guest at the Heart of our Business’, 
to focus our teams on delivering great guest 
experiences, all day every day, which will  
in turn drive guest advocacy. We launched 
our new Guest Recommends Survey giving 
us regular guest feedback which helps to 
develop our service standards, guest offers 
and operational excellence.

Best for investor
We are focused on delivering strong sales, 
margins and profit growth so that we can 
reinvest in our teams and our pubs. Over  
the last 12 months, successful pilots of new 
concept refurbishments have been completed 
and we have now commenced the rollout  
of these concepts, including Chef & Brewer 
PubCo, Fayre & Square and Flaming Grill.  
In addition, refurbishment activity across  
the rest of the estate means that we have 
invested in over 220 pubs during the course 
of the year and we expect to invest in  
a similar number over the next 12 months.

Operational Excellence
Operational Excellence is now embedded 
across the business, delivering further 
shareholder value by ensuring that our teams 
do the right things in the right way, with the 
right measures supported by business leading 
communications. The implementation phase 
of the programme is now complete, with 
focus shifting to embedding cultural change 
and financial benefits.

AchievementsOur managed estate
Punch Pub Company is our managed  
division comprising 803 quality pubs 
nationwide ranging from our premium  
food led Chef & Brewer PubCo to family 
friendly pubs and traditional locals. 

Strong foundations
Over the last 12 months, the management team have  
focused on stabilising performance whilst developing  
a robust five year business plan, built around seven key 
strategy areas; Operational, Concept, Sales and Marketing, 
Estate, Cost Control, People and Process.

Concept 
strategy

Estate strategy

Cost control strategy

Sales and marketing strategy

Operational strategy
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Concept 
strategy

Pub 
restaurants

Neighbour-
hood pubs

City and  
urban pubs
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Strong business plan in place focused  
around seven strategy areas

Operational Excellence programme 
embedded

Calibre improved at all levels and  
in all areas

Brand portfolio developed

Refurbishment programme in place

Best for
Team

(Recruitment, retention,
relationships)

Best for
Guest

(Product, service,
environment)

Best for
Investors
(Sales, margin,
profit growth)

Operational
Excellence

A motivated team create  
a great experience

Satisfied guests 
create repeat 

visits and new guests

Allows us to  
reinvest in our pubs 

and our team

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

Our Circle 
of Success

Mike Tye Managing Director, Punch Pub Company

Managed estate

803 pubs

Our Goal: To become and 
remain the best managed pub 
business in the UK.
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Business review

Chairman’s statement

Ian Dyson Chief Executive Officer from September 2010

Details of our business performance in the 2010 financial year  
are set out in the Operational review on pages 11 to 15.

Board changes
During the year Giles Thorley informed the Board of his intention 
to step down as Chief Executive and leave the Board. I would like 
to thank Giles for the commitment and drive that he has brought 
to Punch Taverns during his time with the business. His dedication 
did not waiver during good or bad times and he has left a business 
poised to benefit from an improvement in economic conditions. 
We wish him every success in the next part of his career.

On 6 September 2010, just after the start of the new financial year, 
Ian Dyson joined us as our new Chief Executive Officer. Ian’s career 
spans 27 years in organisations such as Marks & Spencer plc,  
The Rank Group plc, Hilton Group plc, Granada / Forte plc and  
Arthur Andersen. Ian is an exceptional hire who will add further 
strength to the high calibre team at Punch Taverns. He brings  
a great combination of strategic, operational and financial 
experience having worked in some of the UK’s leading businesses. 
These skills will be invaluable to Punch Taverns’ future development. 
I am delighted to welcome Ian to Punch Taverns. 

Our people
I would like to thank all our employees for their dedicated effort as, 
throughout the year, our operational teams have remained highly 
focused, in challenging conditions.

Peter Cawdron

Peter Cawdron Independent Non-executive Chairman

An introduction from the 
Chief Executive Officer

I am delighted to have joined Punch Taverns and to have the 
opportunity to build on the progress made over the last year.  
While we have been encouraged by more recent trends in both  
the leased and managed businesses, the economic environment  
is very difficult and there remains room for improvement across  
all aspects of our business.

I have started a comprehensive review of our strategy, operating 
performance and capital structure with a view to exploring options 
to create value for our shareholders.

Ian Dyson
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Business review

Operational review

Business overview
Punch Taverns plc is the UK’s leading pub operator of over  
6,700 leased, tenanted and managed pubs. 

The Group has scale across the market, being number two by 
number of leased and tenanted pubs, as well as number two  
by number of managed pubs.

The UK on-trade has experienced significant beer volume declines 
in each of the last two years as a result of the cumulative effect  
of the smoking ban, counter productive tax and duty increases  
and the wider recessionary conditions. This volume reduction has 
been more acute in smaller drink led pubs where profits have 
reduced substantially and compromised their sustainability. In 
response to these market conditions we have taken a series of 
decisions to stabilise the business. We have reduced our debt 
levels, focused on a smaller higher quality estate and implemented 
operational strategies across both sides of the business. Some of 
these decisions, such as increasing financial support to our Partners 
and limiting beer price increases, have put pressure on our short 
term profitability but will, we believe, help provide the platform  
for improved profitability in the longer term.

Leased estate
We have continued to evolve the leased business model as we 
focus on long term sustainable value creation for ourselves and our 
Partners. A key element of this is our commitment to develop more 
open relationships with our Partners through our strategic change 
programme called Pathway to Partnership, setting ourselves the 
ambitious goal of becoming ‘The Most Trusted and Best Value Pub 
Partnership Business in the UK’.

In this continuing difficult economic environment, we believe  
that it is important to work closely with our Partners, not only  
to help them develop their business but also to offer financial 
support where appropriate, through rent concessions and special 
discount schemes. We have taken proactive steps to increase our 
support which continues to run at just under £2m per month,  
up from an average of £1.6m per month last year. In addition,  
we have once again restricted price increases to our Partners this 
year to an average of only 1% for the majority of beers compared 
to wholesale market price increases of c.3%. We are beginning to 
see the benefit of this assistance with the number of pubs returned 
from our Partners being almost half the previous year’s level and 
the number of closed and Tenancy at Will properties available for 
let also down on last year. The estate has been strengthened by 
the number of pubs on substantive agreements being increased  
to 86% and we are confident that the leased model continues  
to offer an attractive proposition to entrepreneurs seeking a low 
cost method of entering the trade and running their own business.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

The Group has scale 
across the market, 
being number two  
by number of leased 
and tenanted pubs,  
as well as number 
two by number of 
managed pubs.
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Operational review
continued

Leased estate continued
We have relaunched our recruitment website which now provides 
an indication of expected earnings from running a particular pub 
together with a clear choice of rents linked to different levels of 
discount on tied products. Furthermore, we were the first major 
pub company to publish our BIIBAS accredited Code of Practice, 
which exceeds the BBPA industry framework and is now live across 
the business, setting the basis of our relationship with our Partners. 
The next stage of the Pathway to Partnership programme is the 
launch of our Punch Buying Club which enables our Partners to 
transact more efficiently with us online. Our new Punch Buying 
Club Agreement is now in place which offers Partners the option 
of free of tie pricing and freedom to source local ales benefiting 
from Progressive Beer Duty.

Whilst we remain committed to the future of the British pub,  
we believe that fundamental change in consumer habits will  
result in some pubs not surviving. We have identified a core estate 
of c.4,700 leased pubs which have a long term, sustainable future. 
The remainder of the estate where we believe long term viability  
is compromised will ultimately be disposed of, representing c.1,300 
pubs at the year end. Within this financial year, we disposed of  
893 leased pubs and other assets largely from the non core estate, 
raising £254m at an average multiple of 16 times EBITDA.  
The proceeds have been used to reduce indebtedness and to  
invest in our core estate. During the year we invested in over  
800 pubs at a cost of £45m.

Whilst management actions have had a positive impact on 
stabilising the estate, consistent with our focus on long term 
sustainability, the polarisation of performance between core and 
non core pubs has continued. Within the core estate, like for like 
EBITDA has declined by 9% driven principally by lower beer 
volumes and reduced rental settlements. However, the non core 
estate has seen like for like EBITDA reduce by 28% driven by 
returned pubs and much reduced levels of beer volumes sold.  
As a result, across the total estate the rate of like for like decline  
in the period is 11% with average EBITDA per pub down 6%, 
benefiting from estate churn. 

Our programme to dispose of non core assets has further reduced 
EBITDA (c.£16m annualised) resulting in an EBITDA for the period 
of £331m.

 Partner support
£2m per month

Partner relationship
Based on Partner feedback, we have trialled a new 
Partner Development Manager (PDM) role in the 
Midlands and South West.
 
Partner Development Manager, Zoe Griffiths said: 
“Having spent a number of years in this role,  
I see this as a great step forward to empowering  
our Partners using our time and expertise to really 
grow their businesses whether through investment, 
training or reviewing the offer and developing  
a quality marketing plan.”

We have taken  proactive steps to   increase Partner support.
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Managed estate
As with the leased estate, management actions have been focused 
on stabilising business performance and on building trading 
momentum. Consequently, although like for like sales in the  
52 week period were 2.0% below last year, improved trading  
has been delivered in the second half of the year and particularly  
in the final quarter where like for like sales for the last 12 weeks 
were up 2.6%. Underpinning these results has been the increased 
investment in the estate and the continuation of our Operational 
Excellence programme.

Over the last year, successful pilots of new concept refurbishments 
have been completed and we have now commenced the rollout  
of these concepts across the estate. During the year we have 
completed 52 Chef & Brewer and 27 Fayre & Square new concept 
refurbishments which are achieving our financial return targets.  
In addition, refurbishment activity across the rest of the estate 
means that we have invested in over 220 pubs during the course  
of the year, which together with replacement capital expenditure 
across the whole estate, cost £58m. We expect to invest in  
a similar number of pubs over the next 12 months.

The objective of our Operational Excellence programme has been 
to simplify ways of working, streamline pub structures and have 
the right people in place focusing on the right things. Significant 
improvements in both employee retention and in guest advocacy 
measures have been achieved. The implementation phase of the 
programme is now complete with focus shifting to embedding 
cultural change and financial benefits.

Within this financial year we disposed of 43 managed pubs,  
raising £45m at an average multiple of 19 times EBITDA. Our 
programme to dispose of non core assets has reduced EBITDA 
(c.£2m annualised) resulting in EBITDA for the year of £88m. 

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

Investment
£58m

We have invested over £58m in our pubs during the course of the year.

The Apprentice – you’re hired
Recruiting and retaining a high calibre team 
continues to be a key business driver. The Punch 
Academy Apprenticeship is designed to help Team 
Players grow and develop their skills and knowledge. 
In July, 45 Team Players were promoted to Team 
Leader roles!

Rafe Hamilton, who is a Team Player at the 
Bridgewater in Worsley, Manchester said: “The 
course has provided me with the opportunities to 
follow a clear career path. I have acquired more 
knowledge which has given me the confidence to 
deal appropriately with potentially difficult situations.”
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Operational review
continued

Matthew Clark joint venture
Matthew Clark, the 50% joint venture with Constellation  
Brands Inc, continues to perform satisfactorily in a very competitive 
market providing a post tax contribution to the Group of £4m for 
the period. Matthew Clark has significant scale in its marketplace 
as the largest independent drinks wholesaler and distributor to  
the UK leisure and hospitality industry, with gross annual turnover 
of c.£600m and c.20,000 customers.

Financial
Profit before tax and exceptional items was £131m (2009: £160m). 
Basic earnings per share before exceptional items were 14.4p 
(2009: 36.1p) reflecting the increased number of shares following 
the July 2009 equity raise. 

A number of exceptional items were incurred in the period 
resulting in a net charge of £253m. The principal items were  
a £218m impairment charge on the carrying value of non core 
assets, a £68m charge for the mark to market of certain interest 
rate swaps, £44m gain on the repurchase of debt, £33m onerous 
lease provision, £2m of reorganisation costs, £6m loss on asset 
disposals and £9m charge on disposed goodwill. The tax effect  
of these items, together with finalising a number of prior year tax 
matters with HMRC, gave rise to an exceptional tax credit of £37m. 

We continue to review the balance sheet values ascribed to  
non core assets, both freehold and leasehold. To this end, we have 
taken a further impairment charge on our non core leased estate 
which, as evidenced by its poor trading performance in each of  
the last two years, do not have a sustainable future. We have also 
reassessed the provision we hold against those assets which make 
losses after rental charges. In recent years we have been subject  
to a number of reversionary leases arising from pre-packed 
administrations. Our policy is to make a provision against these  
loss making assets which has been increased by £33m to £80m.  
We will seek to dispose of these sites as expediently as possible 
and in the meantime seek to optimise their cash generation 
capability.

The effective pre-exceptional tax charge was 29% (2009: 29%) 
with no cash tax paid in the period (2009: £8m repayment). 

As previously announced the Board considers it prudent to 
continue to retain cash and further strengthen the balance sheet. 
Consequently no dividend will be paid for the period.

Investing For Growth
The Hare & Hounds in Beverley, Yorkshire benefited 
from an interior and external refurbishment to 
increase customer appeal. The development has seen 
the pub transformed with contemporary styling 
throughout, including a fully refurbished tap room 
and sports bar. 

Partner Tracy Durrant said: “I believe we have created 
a great environment for all and that is really paying 
off with the comments we have received from our 
customers. We have had great support from Punch 
Taverns in relaunching the pub and I’m sure that it 
will continue to go from strength to strength.”
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Capital structure
We have made good progress in strengthening our balance sheet. 
Since the start of the financial year we have reduced gross debt  
by £684m, being 17%, at a cost of £636m excluding swap break 
costs, £647m of which was bought back ahead of schedule.  
Net debt at 21 August 2010 stood at £3,143m.

Following the repayment of our convertible bond, all of our debt  
is in the form of long term mortgage type finance which has a 
weighted average life of 17 years secured on over 6,500 of our 
pubs. The debt fully repays over terms extending to 25 years and  
is effectively at a fixed rate of interest of 6.8%. We have no bank 
debt or bullet finance and consequently we have no refinancing 
requirements in the foreseeable future.

We have three debt finance structures: Punch A, Punch B and 
Spirit, all of which have a key Debt Service Cover Ratio (DSCR) 
financial covenant. Headroom against these covenants has been 
maintained by our actions in pre-paying certain tranches of debt 
and by utilising cash held outside the debt structures to support 
the profit performance within them. The annualised cost of this 
support was £43m in the year and was largely mitigated by cash 
upstreamed to the Group for tax purposes.

Current trading and outlook
Trading in the first seven weeks of the new financial year has been 
in line with the improved trading performance seen in the fourth 
quarter of last year. The change programmes and continued 
management actions in both sides of our estate are strengthening 
the business to deliver solid long term operational performance. 

However, we still expect the trading outlook in the near term  
to continue to be uncertain. Tax rises and reduction in public 
spending will inevitably put further pressure on unemployment 
levels, reduce disposable incomes and constrain consumer 
confidence. Against this backdrop, we believe it is sensible to  
adopt a cautious approach and we have prepared our financial 
plans accordingly.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

Reduced gross 
debt £684mSince the start of the year we have reduced gross debt by 

£684m.

Chef & Brewer raises the bar
Over the last 12 months Punch Pub Company has 
been investing in its flagship brand Chef & Brewer, 
building a platform for ongoing success.

52 out of 127 Chef & Brewer pubs across the UK 
enjoyed a facelift, which in turn has played a key role 
in building guest loyalty and ultimately driving sales. 

Wine festivals, fish and game seasonal promotions 
and revamped menus supported by high profile  
PR campaigns, have all played a critical part in 
positioning Chef & Brewer as being serious about 
food and drink.



Strategy
Over the last 12 months, the Group has accelerated its Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) strategy, reinforced by the launch of our 
online Annual Report, which will reduce our paper print by 71%. 

CSR has been embedded across many elements of our business, 
from corporate fundraising to responsible retailing and energy 
usage. Our CSR strategy seeks to involve employees, pub teams 
and Partners in making our business and in turn, their businesses 
more ethical and environmentally friendly.

Corporate support 
Punch Taverns remains committed to supporting industry bodies and 
charities. During the year we agreed to donate over £17,900 to 
Licensed Trade Support & Care which we will pay out in the 2011 
financial year. The Licensed Trade Support & Care is part of the 
Licensed Trade Charity which provides support to people in crisis who 
are working or retired from the licensed drinks trade. Our donation 
enables the charity to run a national Volunteer Visitor programme.

Community support
In addition to providing a meeting place for clubs and societies,  
the local pub is also the obvious place to coordinate fundraising  
for local sports teams, community groups and charities. Our pub 
teams are responsible for raising hundreds of thousands of pounds 
every year for local causes. Our pubs are also one of the biggest 
contributors to PubAid, registering nearly £400,000 for good local 
causes since its launch last year. Through a variety of activity, 
including World Cup fundraising, our managed pubs raised over 
£58,000 for The Prostate Cancer Charity.

Through its Punch Community Spirit Project (PCSP), the Group has 
supported 129 local causes to the amount of £178,000, since its 
launch in 2007, from local Scout and football clubs to funding a 
new minibus for Physically Handicapped and Able Bodied (PHAB). 
We have also raised over £2,500 for the Queen’s Hospital (Burton) 
CT Scanner Appeal.

In addition to fundraising activity, we recognise and support the 
crucial role that pubs play in their local communities. We remain 
active supporters of Pub is the Hub, which was initiated by HRH 
the Prince of Wales in 2001. Pub is the Hub encourages rural pub 
owners, licensees and local communities to work together to 
support, retain and locate services within the pub which can often 
improve the viability of the business itself. Punch Taverns supports 
Pub is the Hub through donations and senior members of the team 
actively participate in its Regional Advisory Hubs.

Corporate social 
responsibility

www.punchtaverns.com
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Pubs raised nearly £400,000 for PubAid

Carbon footprint reduced by 13%,  
on target to reach 17%

Rated in top 40 of the FTSE CDP  
Carbon Strategy Index Series

New recycling scheme launched in  
managed pubs

Over 1,200 Partners and 99.6%  
of General Managers completed our 
responsible retailing training

Achievements

NITA Award
We picked up a NITA Social 
Responsibilities award for our carbon 
management training programmes.

£58,000 raised for  
The Prostate Cancer Charity 
across our managed pubs.
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For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

The environment
Our commitment to the environment has become integral to our 
business strategy, both within our campus and across the business. 
As a result, over the last 12 months we have reduced our carbon 
footprint by over 13% and we remain on track to achieve our  
17% goal for the reduction of CO2 by December 2010. 

In recognition of our efforts to reduce carbon emissions,  
Punch Taverns has been rated in the top 40 of the newly launched 
FTSE CDP Carbon Strategy Index Series. 

In February 2010, we were recognised with a BII National 
Innkeeping Training Award (NITA) in the CSR category for our 
‘How Big is your Carbon Footprint’ and ‘Profit Through Energy’ 
workshops. Over 530 Partners and 724 General Managers 
attended the workshops, designed to reduce energy consumption 
and utility bills. In addition, 98% of our managed pubs have smart 
meters installed and 86% of our managed pubs have energy 
efficient lightbulbs.

Punch Taverns was a finalist in the 2010 Publican Awards  
in the CSR category. At the end of the year, we also received 
accreditation by the Carbon Trust Standard for reducing our CO2 
emissions, for the three year period from May 2007 to April 2010.

Our low carbon Support Centre building won a number of awards 
for its ‘green’ credentials including first place in the Staffordshire 
heats of the Sustainable Development and Accessible Building 
Awards, run by the Local Authority Building Control (LABC) and  
a Burton upon Trent Civic Society New Buildings Award.

In addition to energy efficiency we have made significant progress 
in reducing our landfill waste with the launch of a new recycling 
scheme in the managed business. This involved the introduction  
of over 680 cardboard recycling bins and 280 glass recycling bins.
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Corporate social 
responsibility
continued

www.punchtaverns.com

Ethical sourcing
Punch Taverns strives to uphold ethics and principles in every 
aspect of its work, ensuring fairness for guests, employees, its 
Partners and society. Over the last 12 months we have made  
a number of improvements to supplier relationships which support 
our ethical principles. 

In 2009, we entered into a new two year contract for the  
supply of indoor furniture for our managed and leased pubs.  
We ensure that suppliers look to procure their raw materials 
through sustainable sources wherever possible. We continue to 
work closely with our suppliers to identify where we can utilise  
our current furniture in the estate by refurbishing or reconditioning 
rather than buying new products, which will further minimise 
impact on the environment. 

This approach is consistent across the business; in sourcing  
a uniform supplier for nearly 15,000 Team Players in our managed 
business we appointed a business with strong ethical principles 
which has reduced its energy consumption by 20%.

A great place to work
As part of our commitment to make Punch Taverns a great place  
to work so that we attract and retain the highest calibre team,  
we hold a number of annual social events. Both the summer BBQ  
and Christmas Party help to raise funds for the PCSP whilst 
reinforcing our commitment to our employees. We appreciate  
that time is key for our employees and provide a range of facilities 
across our campus including a dry cleaning service and visits  
from external suppliers.
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top 40
We’ve been rated in the top 40  
of the FTSE CDP Carbon Strategy Index

13%
We’ve reduced our CO2 by 13%  
and we’re on target to achieve our  
goal of 17% by the end of 2010
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Responsible retailing
We believe that the vast majority of pubs throughout the UK 
already provide a well regulated environment for the responsible 
retailing of alcohol. We remain committed to building on this and 
have a dedicated team in place to ensure that our pubs operate  
to the highest standards. We do all we can to ensure that our  
pubs are not operating irresponsible drinks promotions, or serving 
underage drinkers or people under the influence of alcohol.

As Portman Group signatories and supporters of Drinkaware we 
do not condone irresponsible drinks promotions. We have actively 
supported the ‘Why let good times go bad’ campaign to tackle 
binge drinking amongst 18 to 25 year olds across our estate.

Responsible retailing forms a key part of our General Manager, 
Team Player and Partner training and last year over 1,229 Partners 
and 99.6% of General Managers completed our responsible 
retailing training. To drive best practice, we produced a 
comprehensive Risk Management pack for all of our Partners 
which gives clear guidance on current legislation and regulations  
to drive best practice. This will help to ensure that our Partners 
comply with the law and operate responsible establishments.

Guest health and wellbeing
We are committed to delivering the highest standards of guest 
health and wellbeing across our estate and have made significant 
progress over the last year in raising the quality and measurement 
of our health and safety procedures.

A key element of Operational Excellence within our managed 
business is focused on implementing robust health and safety 
policies and procedures. Since its introduction, we have made 
significant progress in improving standards through regular  
Professional Safety Audits (PSA) conducted by external auditors, 
NSF-CMi. The audits involve an unannounced visit to the pub  
to assess overall standards and compliance. The PSA forms a key 
part of the overall performance matrix for General Managers  
and is therefore linked to their reward package. We have further 
improved our relationships with local Enforcement Officers 
including our Home Authority, Birmingham City Council.  
As a result, we have seen a dramatic reduction in the number  
of communications from Enforcement Officers and we have had 
no prosecutions for health and safety breaches since the launch  
of Operational Excellence.

We support our Partners in driving standards within their pubs 
through our Partner training programme, which includes food 
hygiene and health and safety qualifications as well as cellar visits 
and retail standard assessments. Within the first few days of taking 
on their pub, Partners receive a risk pack which outlines all the 
responsibilities associated with the safe operation of their pub.  
This includes a Fire Risk Assessment, a Fire Safety Logbook and 
information on how to limit risks throughout their pub including 
details on kitchen safety, flood protection and electrical safety.

We continue to improve the quality and nutritional content of 
menus in our managed pubs from reduced levels of salt and 
hydrogenated vegetable fat to eradicating genetically modified 
ingredients in our menus.

£6m
We’ve saved £6m in energy  
consumption over the last  
three years

£178,000
We’ve donated £178,000 to  
129 local causes through the PCSP

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com



Building and retaining  
a high calibre team

Our people are our 
biggest asset and the 
last 12 months has 
seen a huge focus on 
building and retaining 
the highest calibre 
team in the industry.

Sunday Times Top 100
Punch Taverns was rated ‘One to Watch’ in The Sunday Times 100 
Best Companies to Work For. This was a great achievement for  
the first time of entering. In some of the categories, including 
‘Wellbeing’, ‘My Manager’ and ‘My Team’, Punch Taverns was 
rated as one of the top 25 best companies to work for. We believe 
this endorses our commitment to employee welfare and positions 
Punch Taverns as an employer of choice within the industry. 

Employee engagement
One of our biggest achievements has been in building a highly 
engaged workforce. In 2010 we conducted a ‘One Team Survey’  
of employees across our Support Centre, field and pub teams.  
The results were impressive with over 10,000 employees responding 
to the survey, equating to a 67% return rate, above the average  
for ‘Big Companies’ which is 48%. Over 91% of employees were clear 
about the Company’s goals, 94% said they were prepared to work  
very hard for the Company and 80% were satisfied with their job.

We believe this demonstrates that our employees are highly 
engaged and have real confidence in the business. As a result  
of the feedback, we have developed Company and functional 
development plans to respond to the key themes identified  
by the survey and we communicate progress on a regular basis.

Communicating with our teams
We recognise that high levels of employee engagement come from 
high levels of two way communication. We hold regular listening 
groups at all levels of the business, from Partner Forums in our leased 
business to sessions with our Team Players and General Managers  
in our managed business. These are led by senior colleagues which 
demonstrates our leadership commitment to employee engagement. 
This feedback is used to shape our strategy and our business plans.

We believe it is important that our employees understand how we 
are performing and that they are engaged with what is happening 
across the estate. For support teams we hold a regular face to face 
Business Brief to update employees on Company performance and 
activity across the Group. We also work hard to make sure that we 
engage our employees on what is happening within our pubs from 
tastings of our new menus to samples of the latest drinks products. 
In addition all 17,784 employees receive two 50% and third off 
vouchers every month to use within our managed pubs.

In the field, we hold regular briefings to make sure teams are 
aligned behind business goals as well as weekly communications  
to drive performance and implementation.

www.punchtaverns.com
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Rated ‘One to Watch’ in The Sunday Times  
100 Best Companies To Work For

Apprenticeships launched with over  
80 people qualified

New Partner recognition programme launched

‘One Team Survey’ demonstrates we have  
a highly engaged workforce

Achievements



High calibre team
Our focus on ‘Calibre, Calibre, Calibre’ is starting to generate 
strong results both within our operating business and support 
teams. The use of talent pools, competitive reward packages  
and succession planning at all levels has brought new talent  
into the business and retained high quality individuals.

Apprenticeships
We are determined that when people join our team they have  
the opportunity to progress their career and develop as individuals.  
Our training, team structures and succession planning help our 
employees to perform their roles better and achieve industry 
recognised qualifications. In 2010, we launched our Apprenticeship 
programme to bring new talent into the business and this has 
already seen over 80 people under the age of 25 become qualified  
as Apprentices. Our goal is for Punch Taverns to be seen as an employer 
of choice where people can enjoy excellent career progression in  
a progressive and dynamic environment.

Developing our people
Last year, we invested over £1.3m in raising the calibre of our 
Partners, our pub teams and employees. Our Career Development 
Pathway is designed to progress people throughout the 
organisation, from working behind the bar in one of our pubs  
to becoming an Operations Director or running their own pub  
as a Partner. In the last 12 months more than 400 Team Players  
were promoted to Team Leaders and 49 Deputy General Managers 
were promoted to General Managers.

One of our main areas of focus continues to be the ability to  
move talent across our business so that we can build on people’s 
experiences and give individuals the stretch to progress their 
careers. Over the last 12 months a number of individuals have 
moved from our field to support teams including BDMs moving 
into the Learning and Development team.

Recognising our people
We realise that recognising people is a fundamental part of 
retaining a high calibre team. From ad hoc recognition to our 
‘PROUD’ recognition programme we are committed to celebrating 
success at all levels of our business.

We awarded over 275 ‘PROUD’ awards and over 8,100 employees 
received a ‘PROUD’ award scratch card with prizes ranging from 
vouchers to use in our managed pubs, to £1,500 holiday vouchers.

We’re also committed to recognising excellence in our Partners. 
Last year we launched the ‘Partner Excellence Awards’,  
a regional awards programme, which recognised over 74 Partners 
for excellence in a number of areas including food, beer and sport.

In our managed business we recognise our top performing  
General Managers with the ‘Best Awards’, an annual recognition 
programme based on our Performance Matrix. Our General 
Managers of the Year will be taken to Marrakech for a luxury 
weekend break and their pubs will receive supporting PR.
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Over 10,000  
employees responded

  

to our Engagement 
Survey 

– a 67% return rat
e.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com

We have seen significant 
improvement, both in terms of  
the calibre of our pub and support 
teams and in our ability to 
attract high calibre talent from 
within and outside the industry.
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Our risks and uncertainties

Our approach to managing risks and uncertainties
Punch Taverns has a formal risk management process in place 
which is designed to identify, evaluate and manage the risks and 
uncertainties which it is exposed to. 

Management teams from every department across the Group  
carry out regular risk workshops and update our Group Risk 
Register. Risks are highlighted and then assessed based on the 
probability of them occurring and the impact they may have  
on the business. A consistent approach for reporting risks on  
a Group risk matrix ensures that Punch Taverns is able to prioritise 
its risks. Mitigation plans are implemented where necessary to  
ensure that risks are managed appropriately. The Board has 
ultimate responsibility for the risk management framework and 
formally reviews the material risks to the Group regularly as well  
as discussing changing or emerging risks on an ongoing basis.  
The Board is responsible for ensuring that business risks are 
appropriately managed by the executive management team  
and monitors recently introduced key risk performance measures  
on a periodic basis, to track the movement of these key risks. 

An Internal Audit and Risk Assurance team provide assurance  
to the Board on key controls and the management of risks  
within Punch Taverns. The Audit Committee annually reviews  
the overall effectiveness of the risk management framework. 

Punch Taverns is exposed to a variety of financial, operational, 
economic and regulatory risks and uncertainties. Our main risks 
and how we manage them are shown in the table overleaf, 
however, this is not an exhaustive list of all of the risks which  
Punch Taverns is exposed to. 

Some of the risks Punch Taverns faces are external and therefore 
beyond our control. Some risks may not be known at present or 
may be considered to be currently immaterial, but could develop 
into material risks in the future. The risk management processes 
are, therefore, designed to manage the risks which may have  
a material impact on our ability to meet our strategic objectives, 
rather than fully mitigate all risks. 

The Board is aware that these risks and uncertainties may either 
singularly or collectively affect the Group’s revenue, costs, the value 
of our assets, our reputation or our ability to meet our strategic 
objectives and are therefore committed to continually reviewing 
and improving the risk management framework. 

Risk management
framework

Identify and 
evaluate risks

Identify controls 
or mitigation 

already 
in place

Monitor and 
track progress 
and key risk 

KPIs

Plc Board
Management
Departments
Risk owners

• Risk workshops
• Assess risk tolerance 
 and risk appetite
• Update to risk registers
• Risk matrix reporting

Implement 
mitigating 
action plans

Test controls

Group risk matrix Risk management framework
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Our key risks and uncertainties

Risks and their impact Mitigating actions and controls
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Economic climate 
The recent recession and continued uncertain outlook for the UK 
economy has affected consumer confidence and discretionary spending 
across both the retail and leisure industries. Any delay in economic 
recovery or further challenges such as the VAT increase in January 2011  
or planned duty increases could affect consumer expenditure, our 
Partners’ businesses and Punch Taverns’ revenue. 

>  We carry out regular reviews of the impact of economic conditions  
on our budget and five year strategic plan.

>  We provided circa £2m support to our Partners during the difficult conditions 
last year resulting in 86% of our leased pubs now being on a substantive 
agreement. 

>  We continue to monitor the financial health of our Partners via a Customer 
Support Tool and have launched new Partner Development Manager roles  
to help grow and diversify our Partners’ businesses. 

>  We have successfully launched new concepts in the managed estate 
providing new consumer offers and regularly review pricing and  
promotional offers to adapt to the needs of our guests. 

Property valuations
Fluctuations in the UK property market as well as the current uncertain 
market conditions could impact the value of Punch Taverns’ property 
portfolio and our ability to dispose of pubs at an appropriate value.

>  We have conducted full estate reviews and regularly update these to allow  
us to assess the future strategy of pubs within the managed and leased estate. 

>  This has allowed us to invest where appropriate; consider possible alternative 
use; or dispose of those pubs which no longer fit our future strategy.

>  We invested £103m on developing and improving the quality of our  
estate during the year. 

>  We carry out an annual review for any indicators of impairment.

Increasing costs
Increases in any of our key supply costs including food, drink, and utility 
costs, due to availability of products, the economic climate or inflationary 
price increases, is an on going risk to our business. The national minimum 
wage increase from £5.80 to £5.93 in October 2010 has also impacted 
our Team Players in our managed pubs. 

>  We have negotiated successful supplier contracts to protect us against 
significant increases in food and drink costs.

>  We have forward purchased our electricity and gas for the next financial year 
and have a dedicated Carbon team who monitor and reduce utility usage.

>  Careful cost control processes ensure that all costs, including labour, are 
budgeted, closely monitored and are subject to appropriate authorisation.
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Liquidity and covenant risk
Punch Taverns’ capital structure is made up of debt, issued share capital 
and reserves. Secured loan notes make up the majority of our financing, 
with approximately 90% (August 2009: 91%) of the capital balance  
on these loan notes being repayable after more than five years. These 
borrowings are subject to financial covenants.

>  Cash flow forecasts are frequently produced to assist management in 
identifying liquidity requirements and are stress tested for possible scenarios. 
This includes assessments of the ability to meet the restricted payment 
conditions in the three securitisation structures in order that cash can be 
released to top Company level.

>  Cash balances are invested in short term deposits such that they are readily 
available to settle short term liabilities or fund capital additions.

>  Covenants are closely monitored and stress tested to ensure we are able  
to generate sufficient returns to service our debt and meet our covenant 
requirements. 

>  The securitised debt is monitored by a variety of measures which are 
reported to debt providers on a quarterly basis.

Interest rate risk
Punch Taverns is exposed to interest rate risk from our loan notes and 
bonds and borrows at both fixed and floating rates of interest. 

Further information on Punch Taverns’ financial instruments can be found in note 22  
to the financial statements.

>  Punch Taverns employs derivative financial instruments such as interest rate 
swaps to generate the desired interest rate profile.

>  Punch Taverns has taken out derivative financial instruments such that 100% 
of all loans (August 2009: 100%) were either at fixed rate or were converted 
to fixed rate as a result of swap arrangements, reducing our exposure to 
changes in interest rates.

Pensions
Punch Taverns has three defined benefit pension schemes which must  
be funded to meet required benefit payments. The value and funding  
of the schemes are subject to risk of changes in life expectancy, actual  
and expected price inflation, changes in bond yields and future salary 
increases. The difference in value between scheme assets and scheme 
liabilities may vary resulting in an increased deficit (or reduced surplus) 
being recognised on our balance sheet. 

>  All three of our defined benefit pension schemes are closed to new 
members; and instead we operate defined contribution schemes  
for our employees.

>  We maintain a close relationship with the Trustees of the pension schemes. 

Internal financial control 
Punch Taverns is committed to maintaining a robust internal control 
environment. This includes controls within our Support Centre and  
our managed pubs. A lack of control could result in financial fraud  
or material error in our financial statements. 

>  Robust internal controls operate over all key processes including general 
controls such as segregation of duties, and authorisation of contracts and 
expenditure. 

>  An Internal Audit team review and report on strengths and weaknesses  
in the internal control environment. 

>  Our internal stock and retail auditors provide assurance on controls within 
our managed pubs and have completed 1,480 risk based control audits 
during the year. 
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Our risks and uncertainties
continued

Risks and their impact Mitigating actions and controls
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Change management
The Group is reliant on the successful implementation of change 
programmes such as Pathway to Partnership and Operational Excellence 
to deliver both day to day operational improvements and our five year 
strategic plan. 

>  Formal project management processes are used across the business to 
prepare project objectives and plans and to ensure progress is tracked and 
results measured.

>  Major projects are well communicated across the business so that a joined 
up approach is maintained.

>  Our Operational Excellence change programme was successfully 
implemented during the year. 

>  Other major change programmes such as Pathway to Partnership and our 
new concepts are well underway and implementation of these is on track.

Information systems, technology and security
Punch Taverns is reliant upon information systems and technology for 
many aspects of its business which could be damaging if they were to  
fail for any length of time. 

>  An Incident Management and Business Continuity plan is in place for  
critical business processes to ensure the business is able to continue  
operating in the event of a major incident. 

>  The business has effectively tested these plans during the year and made 
further improvements to them.

>  We have an off site Disaster Recovery Facility if access to our Support Centre, 
or its systems, are affected. 

Product quality
Punch Taverns is exposed to product quality risk in relation to food  
and drink which is supplied to us and prepared within our pubs. Food 
contamination, a food scare, poor quality, or wrongly prepared food could 
result in a food safety issue for our guests and impact our guest satisfaction 
and reputation. 

>  Safety measures are in place to ensure that product integrity is maintained 
and that all food and drink products are fully traceable.

>  Our Incident Management plan ensures that products can be recalled  
quickly if required.

> 	We have a formal food accreditation process for our managed estate  
based on a programme of robust supplier audits by an external food 
assurance company.

>  We have a Professional Safety Audit (PSA) carried out in every pub in the  
managed estate which includes food safety. Results have improved by 4%  
in the year with our average score being 88%. 

>  Punch Taverns has a policy of providing food hygiene and safety training  
and guidance for all team members in our managed estate.

Service standards and threats to our concepts and reputation
Poor service or an incident may occur which may materially impact or 
damage the reputation of one of our managed pub concepts. This could 
affect the ability of the concept to attract future guests or negatively impact 
the ability of that concept to generate income. 

>  We have supported our Operational Excellence programme with a focus  
in putting ‘The Guest at the Heart of our Business’.

>  This is supported by award winning training for all team members to ensure 
our team are motivated to create a great guest experience. 

>  A third party supplier carries out mystery guest audits and we invite all  
of our guests to complete satisfaction surveys so we can continue to  
improve our standards.

Supply chain management
Punch Taverns places reliance on our key suppliers and distributors to  
ensure continuous supply of food, drink and other products into our pubs. 
Punch Taverns is exposed to the risk of interruption or failure of suppliers  
or distributors resulting in our products not being delivered on time or  
to our required standards. 

>  Punch Taverns has reviewed the disaster recovery and business continuity 
plans of our key distributors.

>  We monitor product quality closely and consider action which may be 
required to provide substitute products or suppliers if required.

People risks
Failure to recruit, train and successfully retain successful Partners for our 
leased pubs, talented managers and Team Players for our managed pubs 
and high calibre people for our support teams may impact the ability  
to deliver our strategic five year plan and operational objectives. 

>  Punch Taverns was rated ‘One to Watch’ in The Sunday Times 100  
Best Companies to work for during the year.

> 	We provide industry leading induction training and coaching programmes  
for our managed employees and our new Partners within the leased estate. 

>  We have improved our succession planning at all levels to ensure we retain 
high calibre people.

>  We carry out an annual Employee Engagement Survey and regular Listening 
Groups to obtain direct feedback from our employees. 

>  We have a formal remuneration strategy to ensure our teams are paid fairly 
and competitively. 
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For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com
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Health and safety
A health and safety accident or incident could lead to serious illness,  
injury or even loss of life to one of our guests, Partners, employees  
or visitors or significantly impact Punch Taverns’ reputation. 

>  A health and safety management committee meets on a regular basis  
to consider all aspects of health and safety across Punch Taverns and report  
to the Board of Directors on the status of health and safety.

>  We have formally documented and briefed health and safety policies for  
our Support Centre, field based teams, and our managed pubs and carry  
out annual risk assessments in key areas.

> 	Our ‘Be Safe, Legal and Compliant’ hardline introduced as part of 
Operational Excellence has significantly improved our health and safety 
culture within our managed pubs.

> 	We have a Professional Safety Audit (PSA) carried out in every pub in the  
managed estate. Results have improved by 4% in the year with our  
average score being nearly 88%. 

Changes in legislation
Punch Taverns is subject to many different areas of regulation, many  
due to the high level of control over the sale of alcohol. Increasing focus  
in areas such as binge drinking, underage drinking, and health impacts 
over recent years, means that the Government may introduce further 
regulation which may significantly affect our business. 
 
The Policing and Crime Bill received royal assent in November 2009 and 
introduced a new mandatory code of practice for licensing the sale of 
alcohol. The Government also issued a Consultation paper in July 2010 
entitled Rebalancing the Licensing Act which may impose additional 
changes for our business. 

>  Punch Taverns works closely with its Partners and the rest of the industry  
to address the key issues facing the pub sector.

>  We actively participate in consultation processes and have attended 
consultation meetings for discussion of Rebalancing the Licensing Act.

> 	We work closely with the BBPA and other industry bodies and have provided 
input into the Institute of Licensing’s response to Rebalancing the Licensing Act.

>  We ensure that our training covers all aspects of licensing requirements  
and have due diligence in place to confirm that all of our pubs meet all 
licensing legislation.

> 	Punch Taverns works closely with local Licensing Boards, to ensure all 
individual pub licensing requirements are met and any issues are highlighted 
as soon as possible.
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Financial review

Group results have 
continued to be 
impacted by the 
challenging market 
conditions faced 
across the sector. 

Results for the year
The financial review comprised the 52 weeks to 21 August 2010. 
Group results have continued to be impacted by the challenging 
market conditions faced across the sector. 

Summary consolidated income statement before exceptional items:

2010
£m

2009
£m  % change

Revenue 1,283.0 1,441.0  (11)%
Operating costs (864.7) (928.9)
Share of post tax profit  
from joint venture 3.5 2.3
EBITDA 421.8 514.4  (18)%
Depreciation and amortisation (51.6) (62.3)
Operating profit 370.2 452.1  (18)%
Net finance costs (239.4) (291.7)
Profit before taxation 130.8 160.4  (18)%
Tax (38.1) (47.0)
Net earnings 92.7 113.4  (18)%
Basic EPS 14.4p 36.1p  (60)%

The Group operates in two business segments; Punch Partnerships, 
a leased estate and Punch Pub Company, a managed estate. The 
results of both business segments have been impacted by the 
strategic disposal programme, reduced consumer spending and 
upward cost pressures.

Pub numbers have reduced as the Group has focused on 
generating cash flow and strengthening the balance sheet  
through the disposal of underperforming or non core assets.

Pub numbers
Punch

 Partnerships
Punch 

Pub Company Total

August 2009 6,841 835 7,676
– Lease conversions 1 (1) –
– Disposals (893) (43) (936)
– Lease reversions 18 12 30
August 2010 5,967 803 6,770
– Net change (13%) (4)%  (12)%
Average estate size  
– August 2010 6,371 824 7,195
Average estate size  
– August 2009 7,426 871 8,297

Phil Dutton Finance Director
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Operational highlights were as follows:

Leased estate
•  Continued the estate churn with 893 disposals in the year
• Proportion of pubs on substantive agreements increased to 86%
• Significant reduction in the number of business failures
•  Financial support to our Partners stabilised at just under  

£2m per month

Managed estate
• Concept aligned our pubs to provide better support
• Invested in over 220 of our pubs during the year
• New concepts trialled and rolled out 
•  Improved cost efficiency, leading to stabilised operating margin

Leased 
estate

% change
average 
per pub

Managed 
estate

% change
average 
per pub

Average pub numbers 6,371 824
Year end pub numbers 5,967 803

£m  £m

Revenue 
Drink 455.7  2% 353.7  (2)%
Rent 178.3  (7)% –  –
Food –  – 243.6  0%
Machine and other income 19.1  (12)% 32.6  1%
Total revenue 653.1  (1)% 629.9  (1)%
Gross margin
Drink 204.3  (3)% 263.6  (2)%
Rent 178.0  (7)% –  –
Food –  – 149.3  0%
Machine and other income 19.1  (12)% 32.6  2%
Total gross margin 401.4  (5)% 445.5  (1)%
Rent payable (12.8) 7% (40.1) 13%
Managed pub running costs –  – (288.1) (1)%
Other costs (58.0) 1% (29.6) (4)%
EBITDA 330.6  (6)% 87.7  (8)%

Disposals and lease reversions
During the year we disposed of 936 pubs of which the majority 
were underperforming and non core pubs, generating proceeds  
of £299m at a small book loss of £6m. The difficult trading 
environment resulted in 30 leasehold pubs reverting to the Group 
during the year, of which the majority have since resumed trading.

Financing costs
Net underlying financing costs decreased by 18% to £239m in the 
year, principally due to the repayment of £684m of debt, £647m 
of which was ahead of schedule. The weighted average interest 
rate for Group loans and borrowings, including the effect of 
interest rate swaps, at the balance sheet date was 6.8%.

Taxation
The underlying tax charge of £38m represents an effective tax  
rate of 29%; the equivalent rate for the previous year was 29%. 
Reported cash tax continues to differ from the tax charge in the 
income statement due to the utilisation of capital allowances  
and brought forward tax losses. As a result, no cash tax was paid 
in the year as compared with a net receipt of £8m in 2009.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com
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Financial review
continued

Exceptional items
In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, 
profit is presented excluding items which we consider will distort 
comparability, whether due to their significant non recurring nature 
or as a result of specific accounting treatments.

Exceptional operating costs primarily relate to £218m impairment 
losses recognised due to further weakening in trading in our  
non core pubs. The £209m impairment recognised within the 
leased division followed a review of the entire estate in which 
c.1,300 pubs have been identified as non core, being considered 
not sustainable as pubs in the long term as having a higher 
alternative use value. These pubs are likely to be sold or converted 
for alternative use within the next five years, and have been 
written down to their fair value, being the higher of their value  
in use and market values.

The £9m impairment recognised in the managed division relates  
to pubs which were actively being marketed for disposal at the 
year end and which have been written down to their fair value  
less costs to sell. 

Accounting standards require that impairment charges are 
recognised in the income statement. Uplifts in value are only 
reflected in the financial statements to the extent that they reverse 
a previous impairment charge. Included within the impairment 
charge for the year are reversals on impairment losses previously 
recognised of £26m. The impairment reversals are due to the 
forecast fair value less costs to sell being in excess of book values 
which had previously been written down to value in use, based  
on expected future cash flows. 

Exceptional operating costs include £33m of additional provision 
for onerous leases, of which £12m is due to the lease reversions  
in the year. In addition, the Group made a loss on pub disposal 
amounting to £6m, and £9m on disposal of goodwill, representing 
the apportioned value of goodwill allocated to those pubs 
disposed in the year. 

Also included within exceptional operating costs is £2m of 
reorganisation costs following the further simplification of our 
organisational structure in the year. 

The Group has continued to benefit from opportunities to 
purchase portions of its debt at prices below par resulting in  
an exceptional net credit of £44m being recognised in the year.  
In addition, there was an exceptional financing charge of £68m, 
which arose from the movement in the fair value of interest rate 
swaps which do not qualify for hedge accounting. Whilst the 
interest rate swaps are considered to be effective in matching the 
amortising profile of existing floating rate borrowings, they either 
did not meet the definition of an effective hedge due to the 
relative size of the mark to market difference of the swaps at the 
date of acquisition or there have been changes to expected future 
maturity profiles.

The tax effect of the above items, together with the finalisation  
of prior year tax matters with HMRC had the net effect of a £37m 
tax credit in the year.

9% Net debt reduced  by £322m  to £3,143m .
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Earnings per share
Adjusted basic earnings per share and adjusted diluted earnings 
per share both fell by 60% to 14.4p, compared with 36.1p in 
2009, reflecting the increased number of shares following the  
July 2009 equity raise.

The basic reported loss per share of 24.9p was impacted by  
the exceptional charges in the year, as detailed above, and 
compares with a loss of 56.1p in 2009. 

Dividends
The Board is not proposing to recommend a final dividend for 
2010. We continue to consider it prudent to retain cash and  
further strengthen the balance sheet ahead of returning cash  
to shareholders.

Capital expenditure and cash flow
We have focused on delivering strong cash flows with £370m 
operating cash generated in the year. This cash, together with 
£299m proceeds from our successful non core asset disposal 
programme has enabled the balance sheet to be substantially 
strengthened as the Group has taken opportunities available  
to repay £684m of gross debt at a cost of £636m before swap 
break costs. 

Investment spend increased to £103m in the year, up from  
£93m in the prior year, as new concepts started to be rolled out 
across the estate. 

Capital structure
At 21 August 2010 the share price was 77p compared with  
103p at the start of the financial year, and at the year end date  
the market capitalisation of the Group was £496m.

During the year, 0.5m new shares were issued on the exercise  
of share based awards, for £nil cash proceeds.

Following the successful completion of our placing and open  
offer in July last year, all of the convertible debt has been repaid.  
At the year end, the nominal value of net debt amounted to 
£3,143m, compared to £3,465m at August 2009. 

Following the repayment of our convertible bond, all of our debt  
is in the form of long term mortgage type finance, secured on  
our sizeable freehold property portfolio. The debt fully repays over 
terms extending to 25 years and is all effectively at fixed rates  
of interest. 

As with all debt finance of this type, there are covenant and 
performance tests. We have three debt finance vehicles; Punch A, 
Punch B and Spirit, all of which have a key Debt Service Cover Ratio 
(DSCR) test. Headroom in this key financial covenant has been 
maintained by our actions in repaying certain tranches of debt and 
by utilising cash held outside the debt structures to improve the 
operating margin performance within the debt structures.

Net debt
The nominal value of net debt decreased by £322m, 9% in the 
year to £3,143m.

Net borrowings at the year end comprise:
21 August

 2010
£m

22 August
 2009

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 316.5 678.6
Debt
Secured loans (3,459.8) (3,941.9)
Convertible loans – (201.7)
Nominal value of gross debt (3,459.8) (4,143.6)
Nominal value of net debt (3,143.3) (3,465.0)

Pensions
The Group operates three defined benefit pension schemes, all  
of which are closed to new entrants. Movements in equity markets 
and corporate bond yields in the year have resulted in a reduction 
of £37m in the net pension liability in the year, with the net 
pension liability at £23m at 21 August 2010. 

Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared under IFRS as 
adopted by the EU. New standards and interpretations issued  
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), 
becoming effective during the year, have not had a material impact 
on the results or the financial position of the Group.

For more information visit:
www.punchtaverns.com
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Governance

Board of Directors

Senior Management

Neil Griffiths 
Property & Development Director 

Karen Caddick 
Director of Human Resources

Ed Bashforth 
Company Secretary 

Ian Dyson
Chief Executive Officer

Tony Rice 
Senior Independent Non-executive Director

Phil Dutton 
Finance Director 

Ian Wilson 
Independent Non-executive Director

Mike Tye 
Managing Director – Punch Pub Company

Roger Whiteside 
Managing Director – Punch Partnerships 

Peter Cawdron 
Independent Non-executive Chairman

Ian Fraser 
Independent Non-executive Director

Mark Pain 
Independent Non-executive Director
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Ian Dyson Chief Executive Officer
Ian Dyson, 48, was appointed Chief Executive 
Officer of Punch Taverns in September 2010. Ian 
was previously with Marks & Spencer plc where  
he was Group Finance and Operations Director 
and prior to that Group Finance Director. He was 
formerly Finance Director of The Rank Group plc 
and Financial Controller of Hilton Group plc.  
Ian was appointed a Non-executive Director  
of Betfair Limited in February 2010.

Phil Dutton Finance Director 
Phil Dutton, 49, was appointed Finance Director 
in September 2007 after previously holding the 
position of Non-executive Director of Punch 
Taverns. Phil was Finance Director of Matalan plc 
where he had been since 2002. Prior to this he 
had worked in various finance and IT roles at 
Asda, joining them in 1990. Phil is a member  
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales.

Roger Whiteside Managing Director  
– Punch Partnerships 
Roger Whiteside, 52, was appointed to the 
Executive Board of Punch Taverns in November 
2008 as Managing Director of Punch 
Partnerships. Roger has approaching 30 years 
experience in retail, notably with Marks & 
Spencer plc (1979 to 2000), Ocado and Thresher. 
Roger has considerable experience in leadership 
roles having sat on the Marks & Spencer UK 
Operating Board as Head of Food and he was 
Joint Managing Director at Ocado from 2000 to 
2003. Most recently, Roger joined the Thresher 
Group where he was CEO from 2004 until 2007 
during which time he led the strategic review 
that culminated in the restructuring and 
subsequent successful sale of Thresher. In 
addition, Roger is a Non-executive Director of 
Greggs plc.

Mike Tye Managing Director  
– Punch Pub Company
Mike Tye, 56, was appointed to the Executive 
Board of Punch Taverns in July 2008. Mike has 
spent over 20 years working in many different 
areas of the leisure business, mainly with 
Whitbread, Forte and Aramark. In recent years, 
he has been Managing Director of Costa Coffee; 
Managing Director of Premier Travel Inn (where 
he led the acquisition and integration of Premier 
Lodge to Travel Inn); and David Lloyd Leisure, 
where he led the business turnaround and sale 
of the Company. He has spent a number of  
years working in the retail pub and casual dining 
markets, after an early career in managing  
FMCG brands and running his own wine and 
spirit retail and wholesale business.

Peter Cawdron 
Independent Non-executive Chairman
Peter Cawdron, 67, was appointed 
Non-executive Chairman in January 2007, having 
joined Punch Taverns as a Non-executive Director 
in May 2003. He retired from the Board of Grand 
Metropolitan plc in 1997, where he had held the 
position of Group Strategy Director for 10 years 
and Group Planning Director for four years. 
Previously, he had spent six years in the United 
States as Chief Financial Officer of D’Arcy 
MacManus & Masius Worldwide, Inc., the 
international advertising agency business based 
in New York and seven years at S.G.Warburg & Co. 
Ltd in London. He qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in 1966 at Peat, Marwick,  
Mitchell & Co. He is also Chairman of Spice plc 
and a Non-executive Director of ProStrakan plc 
and BUPA.

Tony Rice Senior Independent  
Non-executive Director
Tony Rice, 58, was appointed as an Independent 
Non-executive Director in December 2007.  
Tony moved up to Senior Independent 
Non-executive Director in March 2010 and 
brings with him many years experience at board 
level with some of the UK’s leading companies. 
He spent 16 years with BAE Systems (formerly 
British Aerospace) where he had various roles 
from 1986 to 2002, culminating in the role of 
Group Managing Director of Commercial Aircraft 
responsible for the UK Airbus and commercial 
aircraft business. He then spent three years at 
Tunstall plc as Chief Executive from 2002 until  
its sale to Bridgepoint in 2005. Tony is Chief 
Executive Officer of Cable and Wireless 
Communications where he is responsible for the 
international business consisting of 38 telecoms 
companies in various locations around the world. 
Tony was also a Non-executive Director and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee at Cable & 
Wireless from 2003 to 2006 and at Telewest 
from 2000 to 2003.

Ian Fraser Independent Non-executive Director
Ian Fraser, 53, was appointed as an Independent 
Non-executive Director in September 2004.  
He started his professional career with Deloitte  
in Glasgow and Paris, qualifying as an 
accountant in 1981. From this he moved to  
hold various financial positions with Esmark, 
Schlumberger and ADT before joining Safeway 
Stores in the UK in 1989 as a member of the 
commercial team. Following several senior 
positions Ian was appointed as Buying Director 
of Safeway in 1994. In 2000 he joined Orange 
UK to lead the Retail and Distribution Division 
and was appointed Chief Operating Officer  
of the UK Group in 2003. In February 2005 he 
was appointed by CVC as CEO of Kwik Fit, a role 
he continues following the successful sale to PAI. 
Ian is a graduate of the University of Glasgow,  
a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Scotland and a Fellow of the 
Royal Society for the Encouragement of Arts, 
Manufactures and Commerce. He was also 
invited to become a Keeper of the Quaich in 1997.

Mark Pain Independent Non-executive Director
Mark Pain, 49, was appointed as an Independent 
Non-executive Director in December 2007.  
Mark brings with him a wealth of experience  
as a FTSE 100 main Board Director, covering  
a range of sectors, including retail and wholesale 
banking, consumer finance, life assurance and 
general insurance. Mark served as Chief Financial 
Officer of Barratt Developments plc from 2006 
to 2009. He was previously at Abbey National 
where he held a number of senior executive and 
group board positions including Group Finance 
Director, from 1998 to 2001 and Customer Sales 
Director from 2002 to 2005. Mark is a Fellow of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Ian Wilson Independent Non-executive Director
Ian Wilson, 52, was appointed as an 
Independent Non-executive Director in 
December 2007 and has over 20 years 
experience as a corporate lawyer and investment 
banker. Ian was an Elected Partner at Baker & 
McKenzie’s Sydney office in 1986 where he 
specialised in corporate finance and taxation. 
From there he had 14 years at UBS Australasia, 
initially as Executive Director Private Equity from 
1986 to 1993 before moving on to become 
Deputy Chairman and Managing Director  
in UBS Australia / NZ Corporate Finance operations 
from 1993 to 2000. Ian is currently Strategic 
Development Director of Amcor Ltd, the 
Australia based leading global speciality plastics 
packaging company, where he has been 
responsible for overall strategic development  
of the Group since 2000. He has also been 
Chairman of Amcor Flexibles Europe A/S since 
2002 and Chairman of TMF-Group BV, the 
Amsterdam based administrative services is 
outsourcing business, from 2005 to 2008 and  
is currently Managing Director of TMF Group 
Holdco B.V.

Ed Bashforth Company Secretary 
Ed Bashforth, 36, is responsible as Company 
Secretary for ensuring that the Company meets 
all its legal and regulatory requirements as a plc. 
Ed is a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of England & Wales and is also the 
Head of Corporate Finance for the Group. Prior 
to joining Punch Taverns in early 2007 Ed worked 
in the Hospitality & Leisure Transaction Advisory 
Services team for Ernst & Young LLP.

Karen Caddick 
Director of Human Resources
Karen Caddick, 41, joined Punch Taverns in 
October 2006 and leads the HR function across 
the Group. Karen started her career with Royal & 
Sun Alliance in 1993 and performed several  
HR roles including Head of HR for More Th>n. 
Karen then moved to Barclays as Head of 
Employee Relations & HR Policy. She also led the 
HR functions at Channel Five Broadcasting and 
The Financial Times prior to joining Punch 
Taverns. Karen is a Graduate of the Chartered 
Insurance Institute and a Fellow of the Institute 
of Personnel & Development.

Neil Griffiths Property & Development Director 
Neil Griffiths, 49, was appointed Property & 
Development Director with effect from June 
2005, and is responsible for the strategic 
development of the estate, maximising 
profitability through acquisition, disposal, 
investment, rental growth and alternative use 
development. Neil joined Punch Taverns in 2001 
and has been responsible for building the 
Group’s industry leading transactional team.  
Neil was previously with Warner Brothers  
where he was International Property Director 
responsible for pan European multiplex cinema 
development. Prior to that, Neil held senior 
positions with Bass plc including Head of 
Property and he was a board member of  
Bass Leisure Entertainments as Commercial 
Development Director.
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their annual report to shareholders on the 
affairs of the Group and the Company together with the audited 
financial statements for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010.

Certain information required for disclosure in this report is 
provided in other appropriate sections of the full Annual Report 
and Financial Statements 2010. These include the Business review, 
the Corporate governance statement, Report on Directors’ 
remuneration and the Group financial statements and these are 
accordingly incorporated into this Directors’ report by reference.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the period are set out in the 
Consolidated income statement on page 53. As announced on  
12 October 2010 the Directors will not be proposing the payment 
of a final dividend. 

Principal activity and review of the business
The Group’s main trading activities are the operation of public 
houses under either the leased model or as directly managed by 
the Group. The leased model involves the granting of leases to 
tenants who operate the pub as their own business, paying rent 
to the Group, purchasing beer and other drinks from the Group 
and entering into profit sharing arrangements for income from 
leisure machines. Pubs that are directly managed involve the 
employment of a manager to operate each managed pub and 
the Group receives all revenues generated by the pub and is 
responsible for costs.

A review of the period’s activities and future developments, and 
information on the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, 
are included in the Business review. The management of business 
risk is set out in the Corporate governance statement and Our 
risks and uncertainties on pages 35 and 22 of this report and  
key performance indicators (KPIs) are shown on page 1.

Directors and their interests
The current Directors of the Company are listed on pages 30 to 31. 

During the period Fritz Ternofsky and Mike Foster retired from 
the Board on 31 March 2010. Subsequent to the year end,  
Giles Thorley resigned from the Board on 6 September 2010  
and Ian Dyson was appointed in his place.

There are no special provisions contained in any of the Directors’ 
contracts for loss of office beyond normal contractual obligations; 
further details of Directors’ contracts are contained within  
the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 40 to 51.

The procedure for the appointment, replacement and re-election 
of Directors and the role of the Nominations Committee  
is disclosed in the Corporate governance statement on  
pages 35 to 39.

At the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting (AGM), 
to be held on 17 December 2010, in accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association, Ian Dyson offers himself for 
election, this being the first opportunity for shareholders to 
approve his appointment. The Articles of Association also require 
all Directors who held office at the time of the two preceding 
AGMs, and who did not retire at either of them, to stand for 
re-election. Accordingly, Phil Dutton, Mark Pain, Tony Rice and 
Ian Wilson will stand for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. 
The biographical details of each director can be found on page 31 
of this report.

The beneficial interests of Directors, who held office at  
21 August 2010, in the share capital of the Company are shown 
below.

At
11 October

2010
Ordinary

shares

At
21 August

2010
Ordinary

shares

At
22 August

2009
Ordinary

shares

Peter Cawdron 29,018 29,018 29,018
Giles Thorley n/a 502,348 502,217
Phil Dutton 54,556 54,556 52,633
Mike Tye 27,808 27,808 25,885
Roger Whiteside 27,808 27,808 25,885
Ian Fraser 29,177 29,177 29,177
Mark Pain 29,177 29,177 29,177
Ian Wilson 60,422 60,422 60,422
Tony Rice 503,013 503,013 503,013

None of the Directors have any other interests in the shares or 
other securities of the Company or of any other company in the 
Group.

A statement of the Directors’ remuneration and their interests  
in the various share incentive schemes of the Company is set  
out in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 40 to 51.

Directors’ conflicts of interests
During the period, the Board has continued to review the 
interests of the Directors and their connected persons and has 
authorised any interests which conflicted or potentially conflicted 
with the interests of the Company. The Nominations Committee 
will continue to conduct periodic reviews of conflict authorisations 
to determine whether the authorisation given should continue, 
be added to or be revoked by the Board.
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Directors’ indemnity
In terms of section 236 of the Companies Act 2006, the Group 
maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers.  
On 26 February 2006 a subsidiary company within the Group; 
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited granted indemnity cover for the 
benefit of the Group’s Directors and officers. The indemnity is 
uncapped in amount, in relation to certain losses and liabilities 
which they may incur to third parties in the course of acting as  
a Director or officer of the Group and was in effect during the 
financial year and continues to date. Neither the indemnity nor 
insurance cover provides cover in the event that a Director or 
officer is proved to have acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 11 October 2010, being the last business day prior to the 
publication of this report, the Company has been notified of the 
following substantial interests (representing 3% or more) in the 
ordinary shares of the Company.

Shareholder

Shareholding made up of:

Total 
holding

Ordinary 
shares

Contracts for 
difference

Total return 
swaps

Glenview Capital 
Management 15.04% 2.00% – 13.04%
D. E. Shaw 7.02% 1.86% 5.16% –
HSBC 5.68% 5.68% – –
Schroders 5.05% 5.05% – –
Norges Bank 5.01% 5.01% – –
Standard Life 4.94% 4.94% – –
GLG Partners LP 4.71% 3.36% 1.35% –
Legal & General 4.23% 4.23% – –
Barclays plc 3.97% 3.97% – –
Maverick Capital 3.08% – – 3.08%

Political and charitable contributions
During the period the Group made charitable contributions of 
£3,380 (2009: £19,392) and no political contributions (2009: nil).

Disabled employees
The Group is committed to promoting diversity across the Group. 
To this end, the Group is committed to providing equal 
opportunities in recruitment, promotion, career development, 
training and reward to all employees without discrimination. The 
Group gives full consideration to applications for employment 
from disabled persons where the requirements of the job can be 
adequately fulfilled by such persons. The Group continues to be 
supportive of the employment of disabled persons in accordance 
with their abilities and aptitudes, provided that they can be 
employed in a safe working environment. Where existing 
employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy wherever 
practicable to provide continuing employment under normal 
terms and conditions.

The environment
The Group regards compliance with relevant environmental  
laws and the adoption of responsible standards as integral  
to its business operation. It is also committed to introducing 
measures to limit any adverse effects its business may have  
on the environment and will promote continuous improvement  
in accordance with best available techniques.

Employee involvement
The total number of employees at the end of the period was 
17,784. The Group recognises the value of its employees and 
seeks to create an energetic, dynamic and responsive environment 
in which to work. It places considerable importance on 
communications with employees which take place at many levels 
through the organisation on both a formal and informal level.

Employees are encouraged to own shares in the Company and 
the Group operates an HMRC Approved Share Incentive Plan (SIP) 
which is open to all employees of the Group including the 
Executive Directors. Currently, 704 eligible employees participate 
in the SIP which provides employees with the opportunity of 
purchasing £1,500 of shares per annum out of pre-tax salary 
either as a one-off amount or on a monthly basis (partnership 
shares) and the Company awarding additional shares on  
a 1:1 ratio (matching shares). The partnership shares are held  
in trust, using an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) for a period of 
three years at the end of which the matching shares will normally 
be released provided that the partnership shares have been 
retained and that the employee is still employed by the Group  
at this time. During this time the shares are beneficially owned  
by employees, attract voting rights and are eligible for dividends. 
The voting rights in respect of these shares are exercised by the 
trustees of behalf of the employees. If after three years, the 
employee elects to keep the matching shares in the EBT for  
a further two years (i.e. after a total period of five years) the 
matching shares are released to the employee free of tax and 
National Insurance.

The Company also operates a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) 
for certain senior employees. When applicable, 25% of the senior 
employees’ bonus is awarded in shares (bonus shares) which are 
held in an EBT for a qualifying period and attract full dividend 
and voting rights which are exercisable by the employees should 
they wish. In the event of an offer being made to acquire the 
partnership shares or bonus shares, the employees are entitled  
to direct the trustees of the EBT to accept an offer in respect of 
the shares held on their behalf.

Creditor payment policy and practice
It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in 
accordance with those terms and conditions agreed between  
the Company and its suppliers, provided that all trading terms 
and conditions have been complied with. At 21 August 2010  
the Company had nil (2009: nil) days purchases outstanding  
in trade creditors.

Financial instruments
The Group’s policy on the use of financial instruments is  
set out in note 22 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ report
continued

Significant agreements
The Company is party to certain non-material agreements 
(including trust deeds relating to the Company’s employee  
share incentive plans) that contain change of control provisions  
in the event of the takeover of the Company but these are not 
considered to be significant on an individual basis. 

Additional information for shareholders
At 21 August 2010, the Company’s issued share capital 
comprised a single class of shares known as ordinary shares.  
The share capital note on page 91 of this report contains full 
details of shares allotted and provides an explanation of the 
movements in share capital, during the period. Only partnership 
shares, in respect of the Company’s SIP, were purchased by  
the Company during the period.

At the last AGM, held on 16 December 2009, the Company 
obtained shareholder authority to buy back up to 64,236,955 
shares (representing approximately 10% of the Company’s 
ordinary shares in issue as at 30 October 2009). It was made 
clear that this authority would only be exercised by the Directors 
after they had given due consideration to the effects on earnings 
per share and the benefits for shareholders. During the period, 
the Directors did not exercise their right to buy back any of the 
Company’s shares currently in issue. This authority is due to 
expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next AGM where  
new authority to buy back up to 64,283,678 shares (representing 
approximately 10% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue  
as at 1 November 2010) will be sought. 

Authority will also be sought at the forthcoming AGM for 
Directors to allot up to 214,278,927 shares in the Company 
(representing approximately one-third of the Company’s ordinary 
shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at 1 November 2010) 
and up to 428,557,854 equity securities (representing approximately 
two-thirds of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue (excluding 
treasury shares) as at 1 November 2010). This will replace the 
authority granted by shareholders at the Company’s previous 
AGM. The Board will also seek authority to disapply pre-emption 
rights over 32,141,839 shares (representing approximately 5% of 
the Company’s ordinary shares in issue as at 1 November 2010). 

The Directors have no present intention to exercise any of the 
above authorities except to satisfy the allotment of shares under 
the Company’s employee share incentive plans.

Further details of the above resolutions are contained within  
the Notice of Meeting sent to shareholders with this report.

There are no restrictions on transfer of shares in the Company 
other than those which may from time to time be applicable 
under existing laws and regulations (for example under the 
Market Abuse Directive) and the Company is not aware of any 
agreements between shareholders that may result in restrictions 
on the transfer of securities or on voting rights. In addition, there 
are no people holding securities that carry special rights with 
regard to control of the Company.

In addition, pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services 
Authority, Directors and persons discharging managerial 
responsibility (PDMRs) of the Company require prior approval 
from the Company to deal in the Company’s securities, and  
are prohibited from dealing during the Close Period.

General meetings
At a general meeting of the shareholders, the Company’s Articles 
of Association may be amended by special resolution. Also at  
a general meeting of the Company on a show of hands every 
member who is present in person and proxy entitled to vote shall 
have one vote. On a poll every member who is present in person 
and proxy shall have one vote for every share of which he is the 
holder. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in 
relation to their holdings provided that each proxy does not vote 
in relation to the same shares. The Notice of Meeting sent to 
shareholders with this report gives full details of deadlines for 
exercising voting rights and appointing a proxy or proxies to  
vote in relation to resolutions to be considered at the meeting.

Post balance sheet events
Subsequent to the year end the Group has repurchased  
£21.3m of the nominal value of outstanding debt. 

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information  
to auditors
The Directors confirm that, so far as they are aware, there is  
no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware 
and that each Director has taken all reasonable steps to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as the Company’s 
auditors will be put to the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board of Directors

Ed Bashforth
Company Secretary
11 October 2010



G
ov

er
na

nc
e

35
Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate 
governance and demonstrates this by being fully compliant with 
all of the provisions set out in section 1 of the 2008 Combined 
Code on Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’) and chapter 7 of the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules (the ‘DTR’) throughout the 
period from 22 August 2009 to 21 August 2010. 

This report, together with the Directors’ report (which includes 
information as required by section 7.2.6 of the DTR, as permitted 
by section 7.2.9 of the DTR) and the Report on Directors’ 
remuneration, provides an overview of how the Group has 
applied the principles of the Code throughout the period.  
It details the work and activities undertaken by the Company’s 
relevant Committees and sets out the key features of the 
Company’s governance structure. 

Following the introduction of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code, which replaces the 2008 Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance for the Company’s 2011 financial year, the Company 
is in the process of reviewing its corporate governance 
procedures and already complies with the majority of the 
provisions of the new Code. We aim to be compliant with all 
provisions by 1 January 2011 and for example, plan to introduce 
annual election of all Directors for our August 2011 year end.

The Board
The Board is effective and is collectively responsible for the 
success of the Company 

The work of the Board is structured around scheduled Board 
meetings which are linked to key events in the Company’s 
corporate calendar, with additional meetings and conference  
calls convened to consider matters which are time-critical or 
which require further discussion.

Together the Board is collectively responsible to the Company’s 
shareholders for the Group’s performance and sets the strategic 
aims and objectives of the Group to fulfil this responsibility.  
The Board determines the Company’s key policies, agrees on 
performance criteria and delegates to senior management their 
planning and implementation. Overall, the Board ensures that all 
necessary resources are in place in order for the Company to 
meet its objectives and that all decisions are taken objectively and 
in the interest of the Company and its shareholders.

Whilst the Board has delegated the normal operational 
management of the Company to the Executive Directors and 
other senior management, it retains a schedule of matters which 
are dealt with by the Board. These include, amongst others, 
strategy and management, structure and capital, financial 
reporting and controls, significant contracts, material acquisitions 
and disposals, investments and capital projects.

Corporate governance statement

During the period the Board held ten scheduled Board meetings, 
the attendance of which was as follows:

Director Board meetings

Giles Thorley 9/10
Phil Dutton 10/10
Mike Tye 10/10
Roger Whiteside 9/10
Peter Cawdron 10/10
Fritz Ternofsky1 7/7
Mike Foster2 6/7
Ian Fraser 10/10
Mark Pain 10/10
Ian Wilson 7/10
Tony Rice 6/10
1 Fritz Ternofsky retired on 31 March 2010.
2 Mike Foster retired on 31 March 2010.

In addition to their attendance at Board and Committee 
meetings, the Chairman and the Non-executive Directors met 
without the Executive Directors to discuss the operational 
performance of the Group as a whole. During the period, the 
Non-executive Directors have also had the opportunity to meet 
without the Chairman to review his performance in line with the 
Company’s objectives.

The Company actively encourages its Non-executive Directors to:

 challenge constructively the strategy proposed by the  •	
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Directors;
scrutinise and challenge performance;•	
 satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information  •	

 and that financial controls are robust and defensible; and
 ensure that appropriate remuneration and succession planning  •	
arrangements are in place in relation to the Executive Directors  
and other senior members of the management team.

If not satisfied with the outcome, the Non-executive Directors 
can record their concerns in the Company’s board minutes until 
further action is taken to remedy their concern.

The role and responsibility of the Chairman and Chief Executive  
is clear and separate 

There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer which has been formally documented 
and approved by the Board.

As Chairman of the Board, Peter Cawdron is responsible for:

 the leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and •	
setting its agenda; 
 ensuring that, through the Company Secretary, the members •	
of the Board receive clear, accurate and timely information; 
 arranging the regular evaluation of the performance of the •	
Board, its Committees and individual Directors; and
 facilitating the effective contribution of Non-executive Directors •	
and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and 
Non-executive Directors.
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The Chief Executive Officer, supported by the Finance Director 
and two Managing Directors, is responsible for:

developing strategic operating plans;•	
 preparing annual budgets and medium term projections for  •	
the Group and closely monitoring performance against plans  
and budgets; 
ensuring effective communication with shareholders; and •	
overseeing the day-to-day management of the Group.•	

The composition of the Board is balanced and not dominated  
by any individual 

The Board includes a strong presence of both Executive and 
Non-executive Directors so that no individual or small group can 
dominate proceedings or the Board’s decision making. Although 
the Board has reduced in size during the period, following the 
retirement of Fritz Ternofsky and Mike Foster, it is considered  
that the Board is of sufficient size such that the balance of skills 
and experience is appropriate to the size of the business.

The Board has assessed the independence of its Non-executive 
Directors against the provisions of the Code and has concluded 
that, under the definitions used, Ian Fraser, Mark Pain, Ian Wilson 
and Tony Rice are independent in character and judgement  
and have no relationships that are likely to affect, or could  
appear to affect, their judgement as Directors of the Company. 
Peter Cawdron was also considered independent upon his 
appointment to Chairman. 

During the period, following the retirement of two Non-executive 
Directors, exactly half of the remaining Board, excluding the 
Chairman, comprised four Non-executive Directors who are 
determined by the Board to be independent. 

Following the retirement of Fritz Ternofsky on 31 March 2010, 
Tony Rice was appointed Senior Independent Non-executive 
Director. As Senior Independent Non-executive Director,  
Tony Rice is responsible for:

supporting the Chairman;•	
 leading the other Non-executive Directors in the review  •	

 of the Chairman; and
 monitoring the division of responsibilities between Chairman  •	

 and Chief Executive Officer. 

He is also available to shareholders to express any concerns  
which the Executive Directors have failed to resolve in  
a satisfactory manner.

Appointments to the Board are formal, rigorous and 
transparent 

During the period, following the retirement of Mike Foster, the 
composition of the Nominations Committee has been reviewed  
by the Company to ensure that the majority of the Committee’s 
members remained independent. The review resulted in  
Tony Rice becoming a member of the Committee and Ian Wilson 
being appointed Chairman. Peter Cawdron continues to serve as 
the third member making the Committee quorate in accordance 
with its terms of reference which can be found on the Company’s 
website www.punchtaverns.com. 

During the period the Nominations Committee held three 
scheduled committee meetings, the attendance of which was  
as follows:

Committee member Meetings attended

Mike Foster (Chairman)1 2/2
Ian Wilson (Chairman)2 3/3
Tony Rice3 1/1
Peter Cawdron 3/3
1 Mike Foster retired on 31 March 2010.
2 Ian Wilson was appointed Chairman on 31 March 2010.
3 Tony Rice was appointed to the Nominations Committee on 31 March 2010.

Senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer and 
the Company Secretary, are invited to attend for part or all of 
each meeting. 

The main purpose of the Nominations Committee is to review the 
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge 
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the 
Board with regard to any adjustments that are deemed necessary. 
Other areas of responsibilities include:

 consideration of the Company’s succession plans which are  •	
in place for Board members and the senior management team;
 the identification, evaluation and nomination of candidates  •	
to fill Board vacancies;
 reviewing Directors’ conflicts of interests and making •	
recommendations to the Board to authorise such conflicts 
where applicable;
 regularly reviewing the membership of the Company’s •	
Committees to ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon 
certain individuals; and
 making recommendations in respect of Board re-election  •	
by shareholders.

On appointment, as the Company’s Non-executive Directors  
may serve on a number of other boards, it is recommended that 
they set aside enough time to demonstrate satisfactory time 
commitment to their new role. Details of other commitments  
and potential conflicts of interest are disclosed to the 
Nominations Committee and approved before appointment.  
The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-executive 
Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered 
office during normal business hours and from 15 minutes prior  
to and during the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM).

When considering new appointments the Company has a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure which is based on merit and 
against objective criteria. The Nominations Committee evaluates 
the balance of skill, knowledge and experience required and 
prepares a description of the role and capabilities required. Before 
any appointment is made the Committee obtains details of any 
interests the candidate may have which conflict or may conflict 
with the interests of the Company and considers whether, 
despite any such conflict, there are nevertheless grounds for 
recommending the candidate for appointment. This procedure 
was utilised during the period in the appointment of Ian Dyson  
as Chief Executive Officer. In conjunction with an external 
recruitment agency, a job specification was drawn up and 
interviews undertaken by the Nominations Committee and other 
Non-executive Directors.

Corporate governance statement
continued
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The Board is provided with timely information and professional 
development opportunities 

The Chairman, together with the Company Secretary, ensures 
that the Board receives accurate, timely and clear information.  
In preparation for every Board meeting, each Director receives 
documentation including a detailed report on current trading and 
full papers on matters where the Board will be required to make 
a decision or give its approval. These matters are discussed during 
the Board meeting, with the Chief Executive Officer, Finance 
Director and two Managing Directors giving an overview of how 
the Group is performing against expectations. In addition, the 
Board receives presentations from other members of senior 
management and external advisors to aid their understanding 
when applicable.

On appointment, the Chairman together with the Company 
Secretary ensures that each Director receives a tailored induction 
programme that includes:

 individual time with the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer  •	
and other members of the Board;
 meetings with the Company’s external advisers, substantial  •	
shareholders, brokers and lawyers;
 an internal induction course which introduces the Group,  •	
its divisions and its employees;
 visits to the Group’s leased and managed pubs and those  •	
of competitors; and
external training courses, if required.•	

On a biannual basis each Board Director undergoes a personal 
development review to set their goals and assess their progress 
during the year. Ongoing training and proactive coaching is 
provided by the Company to develop, support and update the 
knowledge and skills of its Board, including days out in trade, 
meeting the senior leadership team, internal and external courses 
and continual dialogue with peers and colleagues. Directors  
are expected to take responsibility for their own individual 
developmental needs in conjunction with the Company Secretary 
and Director of Human Resources.

All the Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is responsible for:

 advising the Board, through the Chairman, on all governance •	
matters;
 providing assistance and information on corporate •	
administration and legal matters;
 ensuring that good information flows within the Board, its •	
Committees and between the Non-executive Directors and 
senior management; and
 ensuring that board procedures are followed and that all •	
applicable legislation and regulations are complied with.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary  
is a matter for the Board and during the period, Neil Preston 
resigned as Company Secretary and was replaced by  
Ed Bashforth.

The Board undertakes formal and rigorous performance 
evaluation 

During the period the Board undertook a formal evaluation  
of its own performance and that of its Committees and individual 
Directors. The Board considered that the best means of 
effectively undertaking this process was a combination of self 
and peer assessment. This process was led by the Chairman 
except in relation to his own performance as Chairman, which 
was led by the Senior Independent Non-executive Director.  
The results of the review were discussed by the Board and  
an appropriate action plan was agreed.

All directors are submitted for re-election at regular intervals 

Under the Company’s Articles of Association all new directors  
are required to stand for election at the first AGM after their 
appointment. Following his appointment Ian Dyson will stand  
for election at the Company’s forthcoming AGM. The Articles 
also require all Directors who held office at the time of the  
two preceding AGMs, and who did not retire at either of them, 
to stand for re-election. Accordingly, Phil Dutton, Mark Pain,  
Tony Rice and Ian Wilson will stand for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM. The biographical details of each director  
can be found on page 31 of this report.

Remuneration
The remuneration procedure is formal and transparent and  
levels of remuneration are appropriate 

During the period, following the retirement of Fritz Ternofsky  
and Mike Foster, the composition of the Remuneration 
Committee has also been reviewed by the Company to ensure 
that the Committee was quorate and all members were 
independent Non-executive Directors. The review resulted in  
Ian Fraser and Mark Pain becoming members of the Committee 
and Tony Rice being appointed Chairman. The terms of reference  
of the Committee can be found on the Company’s website  
www.punchtaverns.com. 

During the period the Remuneration Committee held three 
scheduled committee meetings the attendance of which was  
as follows:

Committee member Meetings attended

Fritz Ternofsky (Chairman)1 3/3
Mike Foster1 3/3
Tony Rice (Chairman)2 3/3
Ian Fraser3 0/0
Mark Pain3 0/0
1 Fritz Ternofsky and Mike Foster retired on 31 March 2010.
2 Tony Rice was appointed Chairman on 31 March 2010.
3  Ian Fraser and Mark Pain were appointed to the Remuneration Committee 

on 31 March 2010.

Senior management, including the Chairman, Chief Executive 
Officer and Company Secretary are invited to attend for part  
or all of each meeting.
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The main purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to:

 recommend to the Board the Company’s policy for the  •	
remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer, Chairman,  
Executive Directors and other members of senior management;
 take into account factors which it deems necessary with the  •	
objective of ensuring that appropriate incentives are provided  
to encourage enhanced performance and are rewarded in  
a fair and responsible manner for their individual contributions  
to the success of the Company; 
 review the design of all share incentive plans for approval by  •	
the Board and shareholders and determine each year whether  
awards will be made and when;
 determine the overall amount of share awards and the  •	
individual award levels to Executive Directors and senior  
management; 
 determine targets for any performance-related payments; and•	
 determine the policy for and scope of the pension   •	
arrangements, service agreements, termination payments and  
compensation commitments in relation to Executive Directors  
and senior management.

The levels of remuneration are reviewed for all Executive and 
Non-executive Directors by the Remuneration Committee at least 
annually to ensure that they are sufficient to attract, retain and 
motivate the Directors and are linked to both the Company’s  
and their individual performance. Further details of the work of 
the Remuneration Committee and the levels of remuneration 
paid to the Board during the period, including details of how 
remuneration levels are set and external benchmarking 
procedures, can be found in the Report on Directors’ 
remuneration which can be found on pages 40 to 51.

Accountability and audit
There is a sound system of internal control 

The Audit Committee regularly reviews the effectiveness of the 
Company’s system of internal controls to ensure the effectiveness 
of those controls in order to safeguard shareholders’ interests  
and Company assets and guarantee that robust financial 
reporting processes are in place, and reports to the Board that 
they have done so. Such systems, including controls for financial, 
operational, compliance and risk management matters, are 
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve the Company’s strategic objectives. However, it should  
be recognised that these systems can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

To enable the Company to identify, evaluate and manage the 
significant risks of the Group, the Company has an ongoing 
process, in the form of a risk management framework (the 
Company’s Risk Register), which is regularly reviewed and 
updated by the Board. The processes are in accordance with  
the guidance of the Turnbull Committee and have been in place 
for the whole of the period and up to the date of this report. 

Corporate governance statement
continued

The Board has established, with a view to providing effective 
internal control, the following key procedures:

 regular Board meetings to consider the schedule of matters •	
reserved for the Board;
 a formal annual review of corporate strategy, including regular •	
reviews of risks facing the business;
 a Company Risk Register which identifies the key risks facing •	
the business and how these risks are monitored and managed 
on an ongoing basis;
 an established organisational structure with clearly defined •	
lines of responsibility and delegation of authority;
documented and enforced policies and procedures;•	
 appointment of staff of the necessary calibre to fulfil their •	
allotted responsibilities;
 comprehensive budgets and forecasts, approved by the Board, •	
reviewed and revised on a regular basis, with performance 
monitored against them and explanations obtained for  
material variances;
 a detailed investment approval process, requiring Board •	
approval for major projects. Post investment appraisals are 
conducted and are reviewed by the Board;
 an internal audit function which performs continuous •	
assessments of the quality and effectiveness of risk 
management and the internal control environment;
 an Audit Committee of the Board, comprising independent •	
Non-executive Directors, which considers significant financial 
control matters as appropriate;
 regular reporting by the Audit Committee to the Board of •	
Directors regarding internal audit, control updates and  
of any changes to accounting policies and of any accounting  
and legal developments;
 documented fraud and whistle blowing policies and •	
procedures, regular review of current whistle blowing 
regulations, and reporting of any whistle blowing incidents  
to the Audit Committee;
 a regular review of treasury policies and activities by the  •	
Audit Committee; 
 an established programme of management and staff   •	
development and succession planning; and
 formal financial reporting processes for preparation of the  •	
consolidated accounts.

Using this monitoring process, the Audit Committee, on behalf  
of the Board, has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control during the period and has considered  
the material developments which have taken place since the year 
end. The Board are satisfied that the review demonstrated that 
the Company’s internal control system is effective.

The audit procedure is formal and transparent 

During the period, following the retirement of Fritz Ternofsky,  
Ian Wilson became a member of the Audit Committee to ensure 
that the Committee remained quorate. The Committee is made 
up of three independent Non-executive Directors, at least one  
of which has recent and relevant financial experience. The terms 
of reference of the Committee can be found on the Company’s 
website www.punchtaverns.com. 
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During the period the Audit Committee held five scheduled 
committee meetings, the attendance of which was as follows:

Committee member Meetings attended

Ian Fraser (Chairman) 5/5
Fritz Ternofsky1 3/3
Ian Wilson2 1/2 
Mark Pain 5/5
1 Fritz Ternofsky retired on 31 March 2010.
2 Ian Wilson was appointed to the Audit Committee on 31 March 2010.

Senior management, including the Finance Director, Company 
Secretary and internal and external auditors are invited to attend 
for part or all of each meeting. The internal and external auditors 
have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and its 
Chairman, and the Head of Risk Assurance meets at least annually 
with the Chairman without the presence of management.

The Audit Committee is responsible for:

  monitoring and reviewing matters relating to the effectiveness •	
of the Company’s internal controls;
  conducting a formal annual review of the effectiveness of the •	
internal control environment on behalf of the Board;
  the Company’s financial reporting process, ensuring a balanced •	
and understandable assessment of the Company’s position  
and prospects are reported;
the scope and results of internal audit;•	
the statutory audit of the annual consolidated accounts;•	
reviewing the effectiveness of internal and external audit; and•	
the independence and objectivity of the auditors. •	

One of the primary purposes of the Audit Committee is to make 
a recommendation on the appointment or re-appointment  
of the external auditors. During the period, the Audit Committee 
reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors and evaluated their overall performance and concluded 
that the external audit be put out to tender. Three of the  
‘Big Four’ audit firms were invited to tender. It was finally 
decided, on the merits of the tender, that the external audit  
be awarded to KPMG Audit plc. 

To maintain the independence of the external auditors, the  
Board has determined a policy detailing what non-audit services 
can be provided by the Company’s external auditors. Under this 
policy, work of a consultancy nature is not offered to the external 
auditors unless there are clear efficiencies and value-added 
benefits to the Company. The Audit Committee monitors the 
level of non-audit fees paid to the external auditors and details  
of these fees can be found in note 3 of the Notes to the financial 
statements. 

During the period and to the date of this report, the work  
of the Audit Committee has included consideration of the 
following matters:

 the financial statements in the 2009 and 2010 Annual Report •	
and Financial Statements and the interim report issued in  
April 2010. As part of this review, the Committee received 
reports from the external auditors in relation to the 2009  
and 2010 final audits and the 2010 interim review;
the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;•	
the evaluation of the performance of the external auditors;•	
 the recommendation of the appointment of KPMG Audit plc  •	
as the external auditors and the approval of the 2010 external  
audit plan and fee proposal;
 the progress of the internal audit programme and matters  •	
arising and the effectiveness and workload of the internal  
audit department and the adequacy of available resource;
 the maintenance of an effective system of internal financial  •	
control; and
 the Company’s whistle blowing procedures including reviewing  •	
any whistle blowing or fraud incidents which occurred.

Relations and shareholders
There is a satisfactory dialogue with shareholders 

Communications with shareholders are given high priority to 
ensure that a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Group’s position and prospects is given. The Company aims  
to provide as much information as is commercially sensible to 
both existing and potential investors, recognising that 
transparency is the best way to develop understanding of the 
Group’s strategy, performance and growth potential. 

The Company encourages two-way communication with both  
its institutional and private shareholders and aims to provide  
a timely response to all enquiries. There is a regular dialogue  
with institutional shareholders as well as presentations after the 
Company’s preliminary announcement of the year end and 
interim results. The Chairman also writes to the top ten major 
shareholders on an annual basis inviting them to correspond with 
the Non-executive Directors if they so wish.

The AGM is used to communicate with shareholders 

The Board uses the AGM to communicate with institutional  
and private shareholders and welcomes their participation.  
The Chairman aims to ensure that the Chairmen of the Audit, 
Remuneration and Nominations Committees and the Senior 
Independent Non-executive Director attend the AGM to answer 
any relevant questions. All members of the Board are available  
to meet with major shareholders if requested.
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Dear shareholder
Following my appointment as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) earlier in the year, I am pleased  
to introduce the 2009 / 10 Report on Directors’ remuneration.

During the period, the Committee carried out a review of the Company’s remuneration arrangements and consulted with our  
largest shareholders and major representative bodies. Our intention is to meet the remuneration guidelines laid down by institutional 
shareholders and their trade bodies but at the same time structure remuneration and incentives that attract and retain the highest 
quality operational and portfolio management that the business needs in the future. The main conclusions of the review, which are 
set out in more detail in the report which follows, are as follows:

 Base salary levels are broadly appropriate and should not be increased during 2009 / 10 (Executive Director base salary levels were   •	
also frozen in 2008 / 09). The next salary review date will be in March 2011 (March 2012 for Ian Dyson) although to the extent  
that increases are awarded, it is likely that they will be no greater than the average increase awarded to the general workforce.
 Annual bonus potential remains appropriate at 150% of base salary although the equal split between financial and individual   •	
performance should be amended in favour of financial performance, with three quarters of potential based on performance  
against challenging financial targets and one quarter based on individual performance. The requirement for the Group to hit  
at least 95% of its profit before tax target before any bonus payment can be made and the compulsory deferral of one third  
of any bonus into Company shares, which must be held for two years, will be retained for 2010 / 11. 

 –  Consistent with best practice, the Committee has introduced a bonus claw-back provision which will operate for any bonus 
amounts subsequently found to have been based on materially inaccurate results.

 –   No bonus payments will be made for 2010 to any of the Executive Directors. Although the Committee acknowledges that the 
team has worked extremely hard in difficult circumstances and that considerable progress has been made in restoring the health 
and performance of the business, we do not believe that the business results justify a payment.

 The structure of the long term incentive arrangement, use of relative total shareholder return (TSR) and maximum award level   •	
remain appropriate for the 2010 awards which we intend to grant in November 2010. As operated for the November 2009 awards,  
the Committee intends to continue with the use of a group of comparable pub companies for half of the award, and the FTSE 250  
for the other half. Whilst the introduction of a financial performance metric was considered by the Committee, given the strategic   
review being carried out by Ian Dyson at the current time, this was not thought appropriate. However, the current discretion which   
underpins the TSR targets, allowing the Committee to withhold all or part of any LTIP if financial performance has been 
unsatisfactory will be strengthened and clarified for future awards. While the Committee is committed, as part of his joining   
arrangements, to granting an award over shares worth 200% of base salary to the new Chief Executive Officer, the Committee  
will consider scaling back award levels from the usual 200% of salary level to a maximum of 150% of salary for the other  
Executive Directors in light of the Company’s prevailing share price and financial performance.
 As disclosed in last year’s Report on Directors’ remuneration, the Chief Executive Officer and other Executive Directors will receive  •	
in 2010 / 11 a market consistent pension provision of 25% and 20% of salary respectively.

During the period, the Committee has also dealt with the resignation of the Chief Executive and the recruitment of his replacement. 
Details of the termination arrangements for Giles Thorley, and Ian Dyson’s ongoing remuneration package from appointment  
on 6 September 2010 (which is consistent with the existing Executive Director remuneration policy) and arrangements required  
to facilitate his recruitment, are set out in the following report.

The Committee unanimously recommends that shareholders vote to approve the Report on Directors’ remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Tony Rice
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (the ‘Regulations’). The report also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules  
of the Financial Services Authority, and describes how the Board has complied with the provisions of the 2008 Combined Code  
on Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’) relating to remuneration matters.

The report is divided into two parts. The first part contains the commentary on remuneration policy which is not required to be 
audited. The second part contains the remuneration tables that have been audited in accordance with the relevant statutory 
requirements.

Unaudited information
The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’)
For details of the Committee, please see the Corporate governance statement on pages 35 to 39 of this report.

Advisers to the Committee
The Committee received independent remuneration advice from Hewitt New Bridge Street (HNBS), part of Hewitt Associates Ltd.  
This independent adviser was appointed by the Committee and is accountable to it. Hewitt Associates also provided consulting advice 
to the Group in respect of its Punch Pub Company pension schemes and actuarial, investment and other advice to the trustee of the 
two Punch Pub Company pension schemes. The Committee does not believe that the independence of its adviser is compromised by 
these other appointments. The terms of engagement between the Committee and HNBS are available from the Company Secretary 
on request. In addition, Computershare provides administration services connected to the Group’s Executive and all-employee share 
plans. The Committee also consults with the Chief Executive Officer, the Company Secretary and the Director of Human Resources. 
However, no Executive is permitted to participate in discussions or decisions about their personal remuneration. 

Remuneration policy
The Committee’s reward policy is designed to help drive business performance and maximise shareholder value. It is based on the 
following principles:

that remuneration should be viewed holistically (‘Total Reward’), taking account of all reward elements;•	
that Total Reward should be set at a market competitive level to retain and recruit people of the required talent and experience;•	
that the package should be structured so that most of Total Reward is dependent on performance;•	
that Total Reward costs should be monitored and controlled; and•	
that Total Reward should support the creation of shareholder value.•	

Total Reward levels are benchmarked against both listed UK pub, restaurant and hospitality sector companies and those UK 
companies of a similar size and complexity to the Company in other relevant sectors. The last benchmarking exercise took place  
in May 2009 against the following:

Comparator group 1 Comparator group 2

UK pub, restaurant and hospitality sector companies 
(examples provided below)

UK companies of similar size and complexity to Punch Taverns in 
other relevant sectors

Enterprise Inns plc
Mitchells & Butlers plc
JD Wetherspoon plc
Whitbread plc
Greene King plc
Marstons plc
Restaurant Group plc
Luminar plc
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc
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The table below summarises each element of the Company’s Total Reward policy for Executive Directors, and its key features.

Component Size Market position Purpose Delivery Other key features

Base salary Varies by role  
and individual. 
 
Executive Director 
salaries were frozen  
in 2009 and 2010.

Range from lower 
quartile to median, 
however recently to 
attract talent to the 
Company levels have 
gone beyond this.

To recognise the 
market value  
of the employee  
and the role.

• Cash. 
• Monthly. 
• Pensionable.

•  Reviewed  
annually.

Annual 
performance  
bonus plan 

Maximum of 150%  
of base salary. 
 
No bonuses paid for 
2009 / 10. 
 
Bonuses up to 11.5% 
of base salary paid for 
2008 / 09.

Upper quartile 
opportunity.

To drive and reward 
annual performance 
of individuals, teams 
and the Group.

•  One third  
deferred shares, 
two thirds cash.

• Annual.
• Non-pensionable.
•  2010 / 11: 

claw-back clause.

•  Based on annual 
performance: 
Total amount 
payable depends 
upon a combination 
of Group and 
individual 
performance. 
Higher levels of 
Group performance 
enable higher levels 
of overall payment 
subject to individual 
performance. 

•  2010 / 11: 75%  
of bonus will be 
based on financial 
measures and 25% 
will be based on 
individual measures.

Long Term 
Incentive Plan

Maximum award  
level of 200%  
of base salary (face 
value of shares). 
No LTIPs vested for 
Executive Directors 
following the end of 
the 2009 / 10 year. 
No LTIPs vested for 
Executive Directors 
during the 2008 / 09 
year.

Upper quartile 
opportunity.

To drive and  
reward sustained 
performance of the 
Group and to align 
the interests of 
individuals with those 
of shareholders.

•		Shares subject  
to performance 
conditions.

•		Annual awards 
vesting after  
three years.

•		Non-pensionable.

•  Performance 
condition for 
awards in 2009 / 10 
was total 
shareholder return, 
against two peer 
groups.

Pension 25% of salary for  
the newly appointed 
CEO, 20% of salary 
for other Executive 
Directors. 

Median. To provide a  
market competitive 
level of contribution 
to pension.

•		Defined 
contribution / 
personal pension 
arrangement.
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The chart below shows the relative proportions of package components for the newly appointed Chief Executive Officer for 2010 / 11. 
Pay at risk (annual bonus and long term incentive) constitutes three quarters of the package.

 
Elements of remuneration
Base salary and benefits
The table below shows the current base salaries of each current Executive Director. It should be noted that there has been no salary 
increases for Executive Directors in each of the past two years.
 
Name Position Base salary

Ian Dyson1 Chief Executive Officer £675,000
Phil Dutton Finance Director £350,000
Mike Tye Managing Director – Punch Pub Company £400,000
Roger Whiteside Managing Director – Punch Partnerships £400,000
1 Appointed 6 September 2010.

Base salary levels will next be reviewed in March 2011 (March 2012 for Ian Dyson). To the extent that base salaries are increased, it is 
anticipated that increases will reflect the cost of living and will be made in line with average market workforce salary inflation (other 
than in exceptional cases where current salary is significantly below market comparators).

The Group’s policy is to provide Executive Directors with a market competitive level of benefits, including Company car or car allowance, 
private medical insurance, lump sum life insurance for death-in-service and income protection insurance for long term disability.

Annual bonus
For the 2009 / 10 annual bonus arrangement, the performance conditions for the Executive Directors were structured as follows:

Key performance area Weighting

Group financial performance 50%
Performance of individual’s own business area or function (for the Chief Executive Officer this is the Group as a whole)  
and their overall personal contribution to the business 50%

The maximum annual bonus was 150% of base salary.•	
One third of any bonus paid is deferred into Company shares for a two year period.•	
For any bonus to be payable under the individual targets, at least threshold profit performance must have been achieved.•	

The Committee decided it was not appropriate to award an annual bonus to the Executive Directors for 2009 / 10.

The 2010 / 11 annual bonus arrangement will continue to operate as above although the equal weighting between financial and 
individual performance will be amended in favour of financial performance, with 75% based on challenging financial targets and 
25% based on individual performance. In addition, a claw-back provision will operate whereby the Committee may seek to claw-back 
any bonus amounts paid to Executives which are subsequently found to have been based on materially inaccurate results. 

Long Term Incentive Plan 2008 (LTIP)
Awards made during the 2009 / 10 financial year under the LTIP have the following features:

performance shares;•	
vesting is dependent on total shareholder return (TSR) performance and continued service (this is pro-rated for good leavers);•	
maximum annual award levels continue to be 200% of base salary (face value); and•	
performance and vesting periods are normally three years.•	

n Base salary and pension contribution 26%
n Annual bonus (max) 32%
n Long term incentive (max) 42%
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There are two TSR peer groups: 50% of an award is measured against a peer group of six UK listed pub companies with the other 
50% of an award measured against the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts) as follows:

Pub 
company

 group
FTSE 250 

Index

% 
of total 
award

Below median / index 0% 0% 0%
Median / index1 12.5% 12.5% 25%
Upper quartile (median / index +5% p.a.)1 50% 50% 100%
1 Straight line vesting between points.

Following a move to a smaller and more correlated comparator group for 50% of an award (this part was previously based on a much 
wider group of 27 UK pub, hospitality and retail companies), the requirement to meet or exceed an upper quartile ranking has been 
replaced by the requirement to achieve an annualised TSR which exceeds the median by at least five percentage points. The margin  
of five percentage points on an annualised basis as a proxy for an upper quartile ranking was set following detailed statistical analysis 
of historical TSR data, which is considered to be sufficiently stretching for these purposes. For consistency, these targets have also 
been applied to the other 50% of an award based on the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts).

In addition to the TSR targets above, an underpin operates allowing the Committee to withhold all or part of any LTIP if financial 
performance has been unsatisfactory. Following a review of this underpin, the wording has been clarified and strengthened. For 
future awards therefore, the Committee will consider, inter alia, the Group’s like-for-like sales performance, underlying profit 
performance and debt levels when determining whether the Group’s financial performance is consistent with the level of vesting 
suggested by the relative TSR targets.

These performance conditions were selected by the Committee as they are important measures of the comparative value delivered  
to shareholders.
 
In November 2009, an award of shares worth 200% of salary was made to each Executive Director. For the 2010 awards intended  
to be granted in November, which will be based on similar targets to those set out above, the Committee is committed, as part of  
his joining arrangements (explained below), to granting an award over shares worth 200% of base salary to the new Chief Executive 
Officer. However, while the Committee is committed to the new Chief Executive Officer’s 2010 award level, the Committee will 
consider scaling back award levels from the usual 200% of salary level to a maximum of 150% of salary for the other Executive 
Directors in light of the Company’s prevailing share price and financial performance.

Spirit Value Growth Plan (SVGP)
As reported previously, a specific long term incentive plan was approved by the Committee for Mike Tye, Managing Director – Punch 
Pub Company in June 2008. This was implemented in accordance with Listing Rule 9.4.2, to facilitate the recruitment and retention  
of an individual Director. The SVGP is intended to provide a direct alignment between the performance of the Punch Pub Company 
business and the remuneration of Mike Tye to assist in driving the performance of this business and its value to shareholders.

The SVGP has the following main features:

limited to one individual Executive Director;•	
  linked to the value growth of the Punch Pub Company business, as determined by an independent valuation, and valued as an   •	

 operating company, whereby the Punch Pub Company pubs are deemed to be leased from a separate entity;
the initial measurement period is the three financial years from August 2008;•	
payment from the plan is 7.5% of the amount of value growth above a hurdle;•	
the hurdle is 6% compound annual growth per annum; and •	
 payments from the Plan are in non-pensionable cash and are phased: 60% after the August 2011 year end, and the remaining   •	

 40% after the August 2012 year end.

Share Bonus Plan
The Share Bonus Plan enables the Committee to award part or all of any annual bonus in the form of the Company’s shares, which 
the recipient is not permitted to sell during a restricted period (normally two years). Executive Directors have not received any awards 
under this Plan in respect of 2009 / 10.

This plan was approved by shareholders in 2008 to replace the Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB). The DSB had a matched share 
provision and a three year vesting period with performance conditions attached. Awards granted under the DSB will therefore only  
be released if the Group’s average EPS before exceptional items (tax normalised) growth is equal to or exceeds RPI +5% p.a. over  
the three year holding period from the date of award and the associated bonus shares are retained by the Executive Director over  
this period.
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Appointment of new Chief Executive Officer
Ian Dyson joined Punch as Chief Executive Officer on 6 September 2010. A summary of his ongoing remuneration package, which  
is broadly consistent with the remuneration policy outlined above, is as follows: 

base salary: £675,000;•	
 maximum bonus opportunity: 150% of base salary subject to stretching financial targets (75%) and personal objectives (25%)  •	
with one third payable in shares and retained for two years;
company car allowance: £11,000;•	
pension: 25% of base salary;•	
 LTIP: up to 200% of salary p.a. although, as part of his joining arrangements, a commitment has been made to grant 200%  •	
of salary in November 2010, with Committee discretion annually thereafter;
shareholding requirement: 150% of base salary shareholding requirement; to be built up within five years of appointment.•	

Additionally, in order to facilitate his recruitment, Ian Dyson will, shortly after joining, be:

 paid a cash amount of £69,200 equal to a 2009 / 10 annual bonus earned but withheld by his previous employer following   •	
resignation; and
 granted a long term incentive award over a number of shares to compensate him for a significant number of unvested share   •	
awards which were forfeited upon leaving his previous employer. This award, which will be granted pursuant to the authority   
contained in Listing Rule 9.4.2R2 and is non-pensionable, will be on similar terms and relative TSR performance targets (other  
than as to the quantum of the award and its vesting period) as those awards granted to the other Executives to ensure that the   
team is incentivised in the same way. 

 This award will be based on a number of shares with a value equivalent to three times Ian Dyson’s base salary based on the  
prevailing three month average share price up to the time his appointment was announced on 5 May 2010. The award will normally 
vest, subject to the performance conditions referred to below and Ian Dyson’s continued service, three years after his appointment 
was announced. 

 50% of the award will be measured against a comparator group of UK listed pubs, with 25% of this part vesting at median 
increasing pro-rata to 100% of this part of the award vesting for an annualised TSR of 5% or more in excess of the median. The 
other 50% of the award will be measured against the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts), with 25% of this part vesting at 
the index, increasing pro-rata to 100% of this part of the award vesting for an annualised TSR of 5% or more in excess of the index. 
The Committee has the discretion to reduce the level of vesting of the award under these performance conditions if it considers that 
the Company’s underlying financial performance during the three year period over which the performance conditions are assessed 
has been unsatisfactory. 

The award will be structured as a nil cost option, which will normally be exercisable from vesting until the day before the tenth 
anniversary of grant of the award. If Ian Dyson leaves the Company as a ‘good leaver’ or there is a change of control of the Company 
(other than an internal reorganisation of the Punch group) before the date when the award would normally have vested, then vesting 
will be dependent on the achievement of the performance conditions and will be time pro-rated to reflect the reduced period of 
service prior to vesting. To the extent the award vests, it will be satisfied with existing shares other than treasury shares.

The number of shares subject to the award may be adjusted in the event of any variation of share capital or a special dividend.  
The award cannot be transferred or charged by Ian Dyson. The award cannot be amended to the advantage of Ian Dyson in relation 
to: (i) who can acquire shares under the award; (ii) the basis for determining his entitlement to, and the terms of, the shares and/or 
cash to be provided under the award; and (iii) any adjustment that may be made for any variation of share capital or special dividend 
without prior shareholder approval in general meeting except for minor amendments to benefit the administration of the award, to 
take account of a change in legislation or to obtain or maintain favourable tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment.

The Committee confirms that it is of the view that the package offered to the new Chief Executive Officer is appropriate and that  
the Company is not paying any more than was necessary to facilitate his recruitment.

Dilution
In accordance with shareholder guidelines, the Committee applies a limit on the amount of shares than can be issued to satisfy all  
its employee share plan awards of 10% of the Company’s issued share capital in any rolling ten year period. Of this 10%, only half 
can be issued to satisfy awards under the discretionary arrangements. Based on awards granted since flotation in 2002 the Company 
is currently well with the 10% limit as shown in the table below: 

Limit Current dilution level

Additional dilution during 
the 2009 / 10 financial year

(included in the previous column)

10% in ten years 2.62% 1.25%
5% in ten years 2.37% 1.17%
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Shareholding requirement
The Committee requires that all individuals who participate in the Company’s LTIP satisfy a minimum shareholding requirement within 
five years of appointment to the Board. Targets are set to encourage Directors to retain shares received from share incentive schemes. 
The table below shows the shareholding requirement for Executive Directors, and their current personal shareholding.

Name Position

Shareholding
requirement 

(% of base salary)
To be

achieved by

Current 
shareholding

 (% of base salary)

Ian Dyson1 Chief Executive Officer 150% August 2015 23%
Phil Dutton Finance Director 150% August 2012 12%
Mike Tye Managing Director – Punch Pub Company 150% August 2013 5%
Roger Whiteside Managing Director – Punch Partnerships 150% August 2013 5%
1 Appointed 6 September 2010.

Pension
Executive Directors are entitled to receive a defined contribution to pension from the Group of 25% of base salary for the newly 
appointed Chief Executive Officer and 20% for the other Executive Directors. As previously communicated, the contribution rate  
for Executive Directors receiving 20% of base salary will be increased from the 16% of base salary contributed for 2009 / 10. 

All employee share arrangements
During 2009 / 10 the Group operated an HMRC Approved Share Incentive Plan (SIP) details of which can be found in the Directors’ 
report on page 33. 

Directors’ contracts
The policy on termination is that the Group does not make payments beyond its contractual obligations. In addition, Executive 
Directors will be expected to mitigate their loss. The Committee ensures that there have been no unjustified payments for failure. 
None of the Executive Directors’ contracts provides for liquidated damages. There are no special provisions contained in any of the 
Executive Directors’ contracts which provide for longer periods of notice on a change of control of the Company. Further, there are 
no special provisions providing for additional compensation on an Executive Director’s cessation of employment with the Group.

Executive Directors
Company 

notice period Contract date
Unexpired term of
contract (months)2

Potential
termination

payment

Potential 
payment on 

change 
of control / 
liquidation

Ian Dyson1 12 months 5 May 2010 Rolling contract 12 months’ salary Nil
Phil Dutton 12 months 24 July 2007 Rolling contract 12 months’ salary Nil
Mike Tye 12 months 26 June 2008 Rolling contract 12 months’ salary Nil
Roger Whiteside 12 months 14 October 2008 Rolling contract 12 months’ salary Nil
1 Appointed to the Board on 6 September 2010.
2 Contract will continue until terminated by notice either by the Company or the Director.

Giles Thorley resigned from the Board on 6 September 2010 although he will continue to provide advice to the Matthew Clark Board 
for a period to 30 June 2011 for an annual fee of £15,000. His base salary and benefits as Chief Executive ceased at the time he 
resigned from the Board on 6 September 2010 (no annual bonus was payable for 2009 / 10). His 2008 and 2009 LTIP awards will 
continue to vest at the normal vesting dates subject to performance and time pro-rating to 6 September 2010 and his share options 
will remain exercisable for twelve months after cessation of employment in line with the rules of the scheme.

Non-executive Directors
Company notice 

period Contract date
Unexpired term of
contract (months)

Peter Cawdron 12 months 21 May 2003 10
Ian Fraser 1 month 23 September 2004 10
Mark Pain 1 month 8 November 2007 1
Tony Rice 1 month 16 January 2008 3
Ian Wilson 1 month 16 January 2008 3
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Non-executive Directors’ fees
All Non-executive Directors have specific terms of engagement and their remuneration is determined by the Board based upon 
recommendations from the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (or, in the case of the Chairman, is determined by the Committee  
based on recommendations from the Senior Independent Non-executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer) within the limits  
set by the Articles of Association and based on the median level of fees payable to peers in the same comparator group as that 
used for Executive Directors’ remuneration. Non-executive Directors cannot participate in any of the Group’s share incentive schemes  
or performance based plans and are not eligible to join any of the Group’s pension schemes.

It is the Board’s policy to take into account the following factors in determining the fees of the Non-executive Directors:

the median level of fees for similar positions in the market; and•	
 the time commitment each Non-executive Director makes to the Group (through membership of the Audit, Remuneration and   •	

 Nominations Committees).

The following table sets out the current non-executive fees:

2010 / 11 2009 / 10

Company Chairman £155,000 £155,000
Basic fee £42,000 £42,000
Senior Independent Non-executive Director £45,000 £45,000
Additional fees for chairing the Audit or Remuneration Committee £10,000 £10,000
Additional fees for chairing the Nominations Committee £5,000 £5,000

Having frozen these fees for the past three years it is our intention to continue to review these fees on an annual basis.

Total shareholder return performance graph
The graph shows the Company’s performance, measured by total shareholder return (TSR), compared with the FTSE 350 Travel  
and Leisure Index and the FTSE 350 Index. The Committee considers these to be relevant indices for TSR comparison as the Travel  
and Leisure Index members represent a range of UK quoted leisure companies, and the FTSE 350 is the index of the 350 largest  
UK listed companies by market capitalisation.

 

The graph shows the value, at 21 August 2010, of £100 invested in Punch Taverns plc on 21 August 2005, compared with the value 
of £100 invested in the FTSE 350 Travel and Leisure Index and £100 invested in the FTSE 350 Index, for the same period. The other 
points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.
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Audited information
The total of Directors’ emoluments in the year was £2,432,000 (2009: £3,893,000), including pension contributions of £270,000 
(2009: £213,000). The remuneration of the Directors at the end of the year was as follows: 

Annual remuneration

 Basic salary / fees  Benefits1  Bonus  Pension

 Other payments 
made to former 

Directors Total

2010
£000

2009
£000

2010
£000

2009
£000

2010
£000

2009
£000

2010
£000

2009
£000

2010
£000

2009
£000

2010
£000

2009
£000

Executive Directors
Giles Thorley 525 525 20 33 – 60 95 63 – – 640 681
Phil Dutton 350 350 29 32 – 40 63 43 – – 442 465
Mike Tye 400 400 22 19 – 40 56 49 – – 478 508
Roger Whiteside 400 315 14 11 – 32 56 39 – – 470 3972

Non-executive Directors  
Peter Cawdron 155 155 – – – – – – – – 155 155
Ian Fraser 52 52 – – – – – – – – 52 52
Mark Pain 42 42 – – – – – – – – 42 42
Ian Wilson3 44 42 – – – – – – – – 44 42
Tony Rice4 47 42 – – – – – – – – 47 42
Former Directors –
Andrew Knight5 – – – – – – – – – 28410 – 284
Deborah Kemp6 – 42 – 4 – – – 5 – 42010 – 471
Jonathan Paveley7 – 116 – 13 – – – 14 – 50910 – 652
Fritz Ternofsky8 33 55 – – – – – – – – 33 55
Mike Foster9 29 47 – – – – – – – – 29 47
Total 2,077 2,183 85 112 – 172 270 213 – 1,213 2,432 3,893
1  Benefits include the following elements; health cover, car, fuel, death in service and income protection.
2  Total 2009 year payment reflects the fact that Roger was recruited part way through the financial year.
3  Became Chairman of the Nominations Committee on 31 March 2010 following Mike Foster’s retirement.
4  Became Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and was appointed Senior Independent Non-executive Director on 31 March 2010 following  
 Fritz Ternofsky’s retirement.
5  Left the Board 7 July 2008.
6  Left the Board 21 October 2008.
7  Left the Board 29 January 2009.
8  Retired 31 March 2010.
9  Retired 31 March 2010.
10  This includes salary and pension paid from date of cessation as Director to the contract termination date, notice period and compensation for loss of office. 

Pension
During the period Giles Thorley, Phil Dutton, Mike Tye and Roger Whiteside received a Group contribution into their personal pension 
arrangements representing between 16% and 18% of their pensionable salary.
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Directors’ interests in the Group’s share plans

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
The following table sets out the awards made under the LTIP. Full details of the operation of the LTIP are set out in the first part  
of this report. 

Value of shares conditionally awarded Value of shares released

Executive Directors
Date 

of award
Date 

of release

Share price 
at date of
award (£)

Number
as at

22 August
2009 £000

Percentage 
of salary 

at date 
of award

Awarded 
during the 

period

Adjusted 
during the 

period1

Lapsed 
during the 

period

Market 
price at 
date of 

lapse (£)

Number
as at

21 August
2010

Giles Thorley 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 79,787 900 200 – 1,284 81,071 0.90 –
22.01.08 22.01.11 5.71 183,727 1,050 200 – 2,958 – – 186,685
10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 631,578 1,048 200 – 10,168 – – 641,746
16.10.09 16.10.12 0.90 – 1,050 200 1,166,666 – – – 1,166,666

Total  895,092      1,995,097
Phil Dutton 07.09.07 07.09.10 10.31 33,947 350 100 – 546 – – 34,493

22.01.08 22.01.11 5.71 122,484 700 200 – 1,971 – – 124,455
10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 421,052 700 200 – 6,778 – – 427,830
16.10.09 16.10.12 0.90 – 700 200 777,777 – – – 777,777

Total    577,483      1,364,555
Mike Tye 07.07.08 07.07.11 2.71 295,202 800 200 – 4,752 – – 299,954

10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 481,203 799 200 – 7,747 – – 488,950
16.10.09 16.10.12 0.90 – 800 200 888,888 – – – 888,888

Total    776,405      1,677,792
Roger Whiteside

10.11.08 10.11.11 1.66 481,203 799 200 – 7,747 – – 488,950
16.10.09 16.10.12 0.90 – 800 200 888,888 – – – 888,888

Total  481,203      1,377,838
1  Adjustment made to each individual holding in accordance with the Equity Raise in July 2009 as approved by the Remuneration Committee  

on 7 October 2009. 

Awards granted in 2006, 2007 and 2008 will only be released if the Group’s TSR is equal to or greater than the median level of 
performance of the comparator groups over the three year holding period from the date of grant at which point 25% of the award 
will be released. Full release of the award will occur for upper quartile performance with straight line release between the median  
and upper quartile positions. Full details of the performance conditions attached to the 2009 awards are detailed on page 43 in the 
first part of this report.
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Report on Directors’ 
remuneration
continued

Inland Revenue Approved Share Incentive Plan (SIP)
The SIP is the current all employee share plan operated by the Group. The following table sets out the shares purchased and awarded 
under the SIP in respect of the Executive Directors. Full details of the operation of the SIP are set out in the Directors’ report on  
page 33 and in the share based payment note in note 26 to the accounts which can be found on page 92.

Executive Directors
Date of
award

Date of
release

Share price 
at date of 

purchase of 
partnership 
shares and 

award of 
matching 
shares (£)

Number
as at 

22 August 
2009

Partnership 
shares 

purchased 
during the 

period

Matching 
shares 

conditionally 
awarded 

during the 
period

Partnership 
or dividend 

shares 
released 

during the 
period

Matching 
shares 

released 
during the 

period

Gain on 
release of 
matching 

shares 
£000

Number 
 as at

21 August 
2010

Giles Thorley 30.01.07 30.01.10 11.45 11 – – 11 – – –
15.06.07 15.06.10 13.16 228 – – 114 114 – –
29.06.07 29.06.10 12.31 5 – – 5 – – –
23.01.08 23.01.11 6.37 26 – – – – – 26
27.06.08 27.06.11 3.17 29 – – – – – 29
30.06.08 30.06.11 3.11 966 – – – – – 966
12.12.08 12.12.11 0.60 2 – – – – – 2
06.03.09 06.03.12 0.36 2 – – – – – 2
26.06.09 26.06.12 1.08 2,776 – – – – – 2,776
24.07.09 24.07.12 0.95 2 – – – – – 2

Total    4,047      3,803
Phil Dutton 24.07.09 24.07.12 0.95 3,146 – – – – – 3,146

27.07.10 27.07.13 0.78 – 1,923 1,923 – – – 3,846
Total    3,146      6,992
Mike Tye 24.07.09 24.07.12 0.95 3,146 – – – – – 3,146

27.07.10 27.07.13 0.78 – 1,923 1,923 – – – 3,846
Total    3,146      6,992
Roger Whiteside 24.07.09 24.07.12 0.95 3,146 – – – – – 3,146

27.07.10 27.07.13 0.78 – 1,923 1,923 – – – 3,846
Total    3,146      6,992

Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB)
The following table sets out the awards made under the DSB. Full details of the operation of the DSB are detailed on page 44 in the 
first part of this report. 

Value of shares conditionally awarded Value of shares released

Executive Directors
Date 

of award
Date 

of release

Share price 
at date of 
award (£)

Number 
as at

22 August 
2009 £000

Awarded 
during the 

period

Adjusted 
during the 

period1

Lapsed 
during the 

period

Market price 
at date of 

release/ 
lapse (£)

Gain on 
release

£000

Number
as at

21 August 
2010
£000

Giles Thorley 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 6,815 77 – 109 6,924 0.90 – –
 12.11.07 12.11.10 9.36 8,966 84 – 144 – – – 9,110

 15,781       9,110
1  Adjustment made to each individual holding in accordance with the Equity Raise in July 2009 as approved by the Remuneration Committee  

on 7 October 2009. 

The DSB above will only be released if the Group’s average EPS growth before exceptional items (tax normalised) is equal to  
or exceeds RPI +5% p.a. over the three year holding period from the date of award and the associated bonus shares are retained  
by the Executive Director over this period.
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Discretionary Share Plan (DSP)
The DSP is a legacy option scheme. The Company does not currently intend to make any future grants under the DSP. The last award 
under the DSP was made in January 2006. Full details of the operation of the DSP are set out in the share based payment note  
in note 26 to the accounts which can be found on page 92. 

Exercise period

Executive Directors
Date of 

grant From To
Exercise
price (£)

Number of 
options at
22 August 

2009

Adjusted 
during 

the period1

Number of 
options at 
21 August 

2010

Number of 
options 

already vested
Performance 

condition

Giles Thorley 21.12.01 27.05.02 25.05.12 1.98 1,251,230 20,144 1,271,374 1,271,374 –
21.12.01 27.05.02 25.05.12 2.05 344,780 5,550 350,330 350,330 –
05.12.02 05.12.05 05.12.12 1.94 154,639 2,448 157,087 157,087 C1
02.03.04 02.03.07 01.03.14 5.19 63,355 1,020 64,375 64,375 C2
17.11.04 17.11.07 17.11.14 5.51 42,470 683 43,153 43,153 C3
16.11.05 16.11.08 16.11.15 7.67 35,637 573 36,210 36,210 C3

Total     1,892,111 1,922,529 1,922,529  
1  Adjustment made to each individual holding in accordance with the Equity Raise in July 2009 as approved by the Remuneration Committee  

on 7 October 2009. 

No options were granted, lapsed or exercised during the period.

Performance conditions for option vesting are shown in the table below:

Reference Condition

C1 Vests if EPS growth is at least RPI +3% p.a.
C2 40% of options vest if EPS growth of RPI +12% p.a., 100% vest if EPS growth of RPI +15% p.a.
C3 40% of options vest if EPS growth of RPI +8% p.a., 100% vest if EPS growth of RPI +12% p.a.

Spirit Value Growth Plan (SVGP)
The SVGP is a long term incentive scheme awarded to one individual Executive Director, Mike Tye, in July 2008. The SVGP is intended 
to provide a direct alignment between value growth of the business of Punch Pub Company and the remuneration of Mike Tye to 
assist in driving the performance of this business and its value of shareholders. Payment of the award, should performance conditions 
be met, is in non-pensionable cash. 

Executive Director Date of award First release date Performance period Potential award

Mike Tye 07.07.08 Beginning of 2011 / 12 
financial year

Three full financial years  
following date of award

Payment in cash of 7.5% of the amount 
of value growth above hurdle rate 
staggered over two years following year 
end 2010 / 111

1 The performance hurdle is 6% compound annual growth per annum. 

The share price at the close of business on 21 August 2010 was £0.772. During the period the highest share price was £1.498 and  
the lowest was £0.547.

This report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee and has been approved by the Board. It complies with the Companies 
Acts and related regulations. This report will be put to shareholders for approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom 
law and those International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements for each financial period which fairly present the financial position  
of the Company and of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Company and of the Group for that period.  
In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;•	
 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable •	
information; 
 provide additional disclosures when compliance with specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand the •	
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and 
state that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements. •	

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4  
of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge:

a)  the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company and the Group; and

b)  the management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the 
Company and the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced.

On behalf of the Board

Ian Dyson  Phil Dutton
Chief Executive Officer Finance Director
11 October 2010   11 October 2010

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities  
in relation to the financial statements
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Financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010

52 weeks to 21 August 2010 52 weeks to 22 August 2009

Notes

Before
exceptional 

items
£m

Exceptional
 items

(note 6)
£m

Total
£m

Before
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional 
items

(note 6) 
£m

Total
£m

Revenue 2 1,283.0 – 1,283.0 1,441.0 – 1,441.0
Operating costs before depreciation and 
amortisation (864.7) (34.2) (898.9) (928.9) (37.4) (966.3)
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures 3.5 – 3.5 2.3 – 2.3

EBITDA1 2 421.8 (34.2) 387.6 514.4 (37.4) 477.0
Depreciation and amortisation (51.6) – (51.6) (62.3) – (62.3)
Impairment – (217.6) (217.6) – (663.1) (663.1)
Goodwill charge2 – (9.0) (9.0) – (52.1) (52.1)
Loss on sale of non-current assets2 – (5.5) (5.5) – (4.3) (4.3)

Operating profit / (loss) 3 370.2 (266.3) 103.9 452.1 (756.9) (304.8)
Finance income 4 24.9 44.4 69.3 31.8 246.0 277.8
Finance costs 5 (264.3) – (264.3) (323.5) – (323.5)

Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps 6 – (68.0) (68.0) – (55.2) (55.2)

Profit / (loss) before taxation 130.8 (289.9) (159.1) 160.4 (566.1) (405.7)
UK income tax (charge) / credit 8 (38.1) 37.3 (0.8) (47.0) 276.3 229.3

Profit / (loss) for the financial period 
attributable to owners of the parent company 92.7 (252.6) (159.9) 113.4 (289.8) (176.4)

Earnings / (loss) per share 9
Basic (pence) 14.4 (24.9) 36.1 (56.1)
Diluted (pence) 14.4 (24.8) 36.1 (56.1)

Dividend per share paid or proposed  
in respect of the period (pence) 10 – –
Total dividend paid or proposed  
in respect of the period (£m) 10 – –

1  EBITDA represents earnings before depreciation and amortisation, impairment, goodwill charge, loss on sale of non-current assets, finance income, finance 
costs, movement in fair value of interest rate swaps and tax of the Group.

2  Loss on sale of non-current assets and goodwill charge have been reclassified within operating profit / (loss) to better reflect the nature of the transactions, 
as explained in note 6.



www.punchtaverns.com

54

Financial statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010

Notes

 52 weeks to 
21 August

2010
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Loss for the period attributable to owners of the parent company (159.9) (176.4)

Actuarial gains / (losses) on defined benefit pension schemes 28 31.9 (72.6)
Losses on cash flow hedges (133.4) (91.7)
Transfers to the income statement on cash flow hedges 49.3 25.3
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 8 14.8 38.9
Tax charge related to indexation on revalued properties 8 – (1.6)

Other comprehensive loss for the period (37.4) (101.7)

Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to owners of the parent company (197.3) (278.1)
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Notes

21 August
2010

£m

22 August
2009

£m

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 4,691.8 5,124.3
Operating leases 12 86.3 68.0
Other intangible assets 12 5.3 6.6
Goodwill 12 495.1 504.1
Investments in joint ventures 31 47.0 43.5
Derivative financial instruments 22 – 2.7

5,325.5 5,749.2
Current assets
Inventories 17 7.8 7.5
Trade and other receivables 15 63.5 83.8
Current income tax assets 11.7 8.2
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 19 125.1 169.6
Cash and cash equivalents 18 316.5 678.6

524.6 947.7

Total assets 5,850.1 6,696.9

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 (268.9) (316.7)
Short term borrowings 21 (63.5) (50.2)
Derivative financial instruments 22 (57.9) (67.7)
Provisions 23 (23.5) (22.3)

(413.8) (456.9)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 (3,511.7) (4,022.7)
Convertible bonds 21 – (193.5)
Derivative financial instruments 22 (349.2) (231.0)
Deferred tax liabilities1 16 (10.7) (21.2)
Retirement benefit obligations 28 (23.0) (59.5)
Provisions 23 (66.0) (41.7)
Other liabilities 24 (1.1) (1.7)

(3,961.7) (4,571.3)

Total liabilities (4,375.5) (5,028.2)

Net assets 1,474.6 1,668.7

Equity
Called up share capital 25 0.3 0.3
Share premium 455.0 455.0
Equity component of convertible bonds – 21.0
Hedge reserve (162.6) (105.2)
Share based payment reserve 8.5 8.8
Retained earnings 1,173.4 1,288.8

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent company 1,474.6 1,668.7
1 Deferred tax assets of £144.5m have been reclassified in the prior year and offset against deferred tax liabilities to reflect the legal right of offset.

On behalf of the Board

Ian Dyson
11 October 2010

Phil Dutton
11 October 2010

Consolidated balance sheet
at 21 August 2010
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Share 
capital

£m

Share 
premium

£m

Equity 
component 

of convertible 
bonds

£m

Hedge 
reserve

£m

Share based 
payment 

reserve
£m

Retained 
earnings

£m

Total 
equity

£m

Total equity at 23 August 2008 0.1 455.0 30.0 (57.4) 8.7 1,156.5 1,592.9
Loss for the period – – – – – (176.4) (176.4)
Other comprehensive losses for the period – – – (47.8) – (53.9) (101.7)

Total comprehensive loss for the period 
attributable to owners of the parent company – – – (47.8) – (230.3) (278.1)
Issue of share capital 0.2 – – – – 353.6 353.8
Transfer equity component of convertible bonds – – (9.0) – – 9.0 –
Share based payments – – – – 0.1 – 0.1

Total equity at 22 August 2009 0.3 455.0 21.0 (105.2) 8.8 1,288.8 1,668.7
Loss for the period – – – – – (159.9) (159.9)
Other comprehensive (losses) / gains for the period – – – (57.4) – 20.0 (37.4)

Total comprehensive loss for the period 
attributable to owners of the parent company – – – (57.4) – (139.9) (197.3)
Transfer equity component of convertible bonds – – (21.0) – – 21.0 –
Share based payments – – – – (0.3) 3.5 3.2

Total equity at 21 August 2010 0.3 455.0 – (162.6) 8.5 1,173.4 1,474.6

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010

Financial statements



57
Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

Fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

Notes

52 weeks to 
21 August 

2010
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit / (loss) 103.9 (304.8)
Depreciation and amortisation 51.6 62.3
Impairment 217.6 663.1
Goodwill charge 9.0 52.1
Loss on sale of non-current assets 5.5 4.3
Share based payment expense recognised in profit 3.2 0.1
(Increase) / decrease in inventories (0.3) 1.0
Decrease in trade and other receivables 23.2 0.3
Decrease in trade and other payables (55.8) (27.1)
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts recognised in the income statement (4.4) (3.4)
Increase in provisions and other liabilities 20.3 13.7
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture (3.5) (2.3)

Cash generated from operations 370.3 459.3
Income tax received – 7.6

Net cash from operating activities 370.3 466.9

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (103.0) (91.1)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 180.2 397.1
Proceeds from sale of operating leases 0.8 1.7
Proceeds from sale of other non-current assets held for sale 118.2 15.3
Purchase of other intangible assets (0.1) (2.0)
Interest received 3.7 5.9

Net cash generated from investing activities 199.8 326.9

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 25 – 353.8
Repayment of convertible bonds (202.7) (65.5)
Repayment of borrowings (428.1) (412.0)
Repayment of derivative financial instruments (33.3) (3.7)
Interest paid (259.9) (314.0)
Repayments of obligations under finance leases (2.6) (2.3)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments (1.1) (1.2)
Costs of terminating financing arrangements (4.5) (5.9)
Decrease in cash deposits used as security for loan notes – 14.4

Net cash used in financing activities (932.2) (436.4)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (362.1) 357.4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 678.6 321.2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 316.5 678.6

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
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Notes

21 August 
2010

£m

22 August
2009

£m

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 14 1,335.8 1,334.8
Receivables 15 1,252.8 1,397.9

2,588.6 2,732.7
Current assets
Receivables 15 11.3 34.3
Cash and cash equivalents 18 166.6 318.6

177.9 352.9

Total assets 2,766.5 3,085.6

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Other payables 20 (116.7) (110.0)

(116.7) (110.0)
Non-current liabilities
Other liabilities 24 (1,401.8) (1,807.8)

(1,401.8) (1,807.8)

Total liabilities (1,518.5) (1,917.8)

Net assets 1,248.0 1,167.8

Equity
Called up share capital 25 0.3 0.3
Share premium 455.0 455.0
Share based payment reserve 8.5 8.8
Retained earnings 784.2 703.7

Total equity 1,248.0 1,167.8

On behalf of the Board

Ian Dyson
11 October 2010

Phil Dutton
11 October 2010

Company balance sheet
at 21 August 2010
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Share 
capital

£m

Share 
premium

£m

Share based 
payment 

reserve
£m

Retained 
earnings

£m

Total 
equity

£m

Total equity at 23 August 2008 0.1 455.0 8.7 331.0 794.8
Profit for the period – – – 19.1 19.1

Total comprehensive profit for the period – – – 19.1 19.1
Issue of share capital 0.2 – – 353.6 353.8
Share based payments – – 0.1 – 0.1

Total equity at 22 August 2009 0.3 455.0 8.8 703.7 1,167.8
Profit for the period – – – 77.0 77.0

Total comprehensive profit for the period – – – 77.0 77.0
Share based payments – – (0.3) 3.5 3.2

Total equity at 21 August 2010 0.3 455.0 8.5 784.2 1,248.0

Company statement of comprehensive income
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010

Company statement of changes in equity
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010

Company income statement
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010

52 weeks to 
21 August 

2010 
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Profit attributable to shareholders 77.0 19.1
Total recognised income for the period attributable to equity shareholders 77.0 19.1

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company’s income statement has not been included in these financial 
statements. The Company’s profit for the financial year was £77.0m (August 2009: £19.1m).
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Notes

52 weeks to
21 August 

2010
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating (loss) / profit (2.7) 1.1
Investment impairment 2.2 –
Decrease in receivables – 4.9
Decrease in other payables 0.5 (0.5)

Cash inflow from operations – 5.5
Income tax paid – –

Net cash flow from operating activities – 5.5

Interest received 1.8 0.6

Net cash generated from investing activities 1.8 0.6

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 25 – 353.8
Repayment of borrowings – (14.4)
Costs of terminating financing arrangements (0.2) –
Interest paid – (1.3)
Interest received – 0.3
Decrease in cash deposits used as security for loan notes – 14.4
Intercompany transfers in 684.8 1,044.6
Intercompany transfers out (838.4) (1,102.8)

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (153.8) 294.6

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (152.0) 300.7
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 318.6 17.9

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 166.6 318.6

Company cash flow statement
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
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1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements presented in this document have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union. The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption 
provided under s408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its individual income statement and related notes.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial 
instruments to fair value, and in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under 
IFRS as adopted by the European Union. New standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), becoming effective during the year, have not had 
a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the 
financial statements, the Directors are required to consider whether the Group can continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, and continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing this annual report and 
financial statements.

Further information in relation to the Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position is set out in the Operational review on pages 11 to 15 and Our risks and uncertainties on pages 22 to 25. 

The financial position of the Group, its cashflows, liquidity position and borrowings are described in the Financial review on  
pages 26 to 29 and in notes 18, 21 and 22, together with information on the Group’s strategies surrounding managing interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk, capital risk and credit risk. 

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand 
pounds, except where indicated.

New standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards
The IASB and IFRIC have issued and endorsed the following standards, interpretations and amendments:

Effective for the Group and the Company in these financial statements:
IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’•	
IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’•	
IAS 1 (revised) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’•	
IFRS 3R ‘Business Combinations’ •	
 Amendments to IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ and IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’: Puttable Financial   •	

 Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 
Amendments to IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’ and IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’•	
Amendment to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’: Eligible Hedged Items•	
Amendment to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’: Improved Disclosures about Financial Instruments•	
Amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payments’: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations•	
Amendments to IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives’ and IAS 39: Embedded Derivatives•	
IFRIC 17 ‘Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners’•	
IFRIC 18 ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’•	

The above new standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards have had no material impact on the results or the 
financial position of the Group or the Company for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010. IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction 
of Real Estate and IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’ are not applicable to the Group Financial Statements.

Effective for the Group and the Company for the financial period beginning 22 August 2010:
Amendment to IFRS 2: Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions – effective from 1 January 2010•	
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments’ – effective from 1 July 2010•	

Effective for the Group and the Company for future years:
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ – effective from 1 January 2013•	

The amendment to published standards that has an effective date of after these financial statements has not been adopted early by 
the Group and the Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of this amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s 
reported income or net assets in the period of adoption. 

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
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1 Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation
Consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the parent company (Punch Taverns plc) and all of its subsidiaries. 

The Group’s interests in its joint ventures are incorporated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred out of the Group. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in value in the 
financial statements of the Company. Investments in joint ventures are carried at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s 
share of accumulated comprehensive income, less distributions received and less any impairment in value.

All intra-group balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in full. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses. Where assets are transferred between segments or disposed, the goodwill attributable to 
these assets is also transferred or charged to the income statement respectively.

Goodwill carried in the balance sheet is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary 
acquired, the gain is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Operating leases and other intangible assets
The fair values attached to operating head leasehold interests on acquisitions are deemed to represent lease premiums, and are 
carried as intangible assets. These operating leases together with other intangible assets are capitalised at cost. Amortisation is 
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. The estimated useful lives 
are as follows:

Operating leases
Over the term of the lease

Software 
3 to 10 years

Payments made on entering into or acquiring operating leases are accounted for as intangible assets and amortised over the lease 
term on a straight-line basis.

Property, plant and equipment
Properties held at 22 August 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, were revalued at that date and this revaluation is the deemed cost 
under IFRS.

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings include removable items, which are generally regarded as within landlord ownership. These are 
depreciated in accordance with the policy detailed below.

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised 
impairment in value. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, less estimated residual values, by 
equal annual instalments as follows:

Licensed properties, unlicensed properties and owner-occupied properties
50 years or the life of the lease if shorter

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings, office furniture and fittings and motor vehicles
5 to 15 years

Information technology equipment
3 years

Freehold land is not depreciated.

An annual assessment of residual values is performed and there is no depreciable amount if residual values are the same as, or more 
than, book value. Residual values are based on the estimated amount that would be currently obtainable from disposal of the asset 
net of disposal costs if the asset were already of the age and condition expected at the end of its useful life.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Impairment 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment and if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject to depreciation or 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not  
be recoverable. A review for indicators of impairment is performed annually. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. Any impairment charge is recognised in the income statement in the year in which it occurs. When an 
impairment loss, other than an impairment loss on goodwill, subsequently reverses due to a change in the original estimate, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, up to the carrying amount that would 
have resulted, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic resources as a result  
of past events.

Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance 
sheet date. Provisions are discounted if the effect of the time value of money is material. The discount rate used to determine the 
present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with  
the borrowings. 

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated taking account of any issue costs, and any discounts or premiums on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation 
process.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds, net of direct issue costs.

Convertible bonds
On issue, the debt and equity components of convertible bonds are separated and recorded at fair value net of issue costs. The fair 
value of the debt component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. This amount is 
classified as a liability and measured on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The 
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and is recognised in equity, net of income tax effects. The carrying 
amount of the equity component is not re-measured in subsequent years.

On early repurchase of the convertible bond, the consideration paid is allocated to the liability and equity components at the date  
of transaction. The liability component at the date of transaction is determined using the prevailing market interest rate for similar 
non-convertible debt at the date of the transaction, with the equity component as the residual of the consideration paid and the 
liability component at the date of transaction. The difference between the consideration paid for the repurchase allocated to the 
liability component and the carrying amount of the liability at that date is recognised in profit or loss. The amount of consideration 
paid for the repurchase and transaction costs relating to the equity component is recognised in equity.

Taxation
Income tax expense comprises both the income tax payable, based on taxable profits for the year, and deferred tax.

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or where the deferred tax 
asset or liability arises on an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, 
carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Movements in deferred 
tax are charged or credited in the income statement, except where they relate to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

For properties acquired as part of a business combination, movements in the deferred tax liability resulting from indexation allowance 
are taken to the income statement until the tax base cost plus indexation allowance reaches the fair value on acquisition, and directly 
to equity thereafter for historic revaluation surpluses.

Deferred tax balances are not discounted.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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1 Accounting policies continued

Leasing 
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. A corresponding liability is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability to achieve a constant rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Payments made on entering into or acquiring operating leases are accounted for as intangible assets and amortised over the lease 
term on a straight-line basis.

Pensions
The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made to separately administered funds. 
The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the Group’s defined benefit arrangements is the difference between 
the fair value of scheme assets and the present value of scheme liabilities. Any defined benefit assets are limited to the total of any 
unrecognised past service costs and the present value of economic benefits in the form of any future refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the plan. The cost of providing benefits under the plans is determined separately for each plan 
using the projected unit credit actuarial method. The current service cost is charged to operating profit. The interest cost and the 
expected return on assets are shown as a net amount within finance income or finance expense. The cumulative net deficits on these 
defined benefit pension schemes have been recognised in full in equity at the date of transition to IFRS and subsequent actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised in full as they occur in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The Group also contributes to money purchase pension plans for employees. Contributions are charged to the income statement  
as they become payable.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its risk associated with interest rate fluctuations. 
Such derivative financial instruments are initially accounted for and subsequently re-measured to fair value. The fair value of the 
interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments. 

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument,  
and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value 
hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they 
hedge exposure to variability in forecast transactions.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items, 
as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised 
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised or no longer qualifies  
for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is kept in 
equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss 
recognised in equity is transferred to the income statement immediately. The replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into 
another hedging instrument is not an expiry, sale or termination where such replacement or rollover is part of the documented 
hedging strategy.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Changes in fair value of any derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately  
in the income statement. 
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1 Accounting policies continued

Share based payment transactions
A number of employees of the Group (including Directors) receive an element of remuneration in the form of share based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’).

Equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value of transactions involving the granting of 
shares is determined by the share price at the date of grant. The fair value of transactions involving the granting of share options is 
calculated by an external valuer based on a binomial model, a beta model or the Black-Scholes model dependent upon the most 
appropriate valuation model for the individual scheme. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance 
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Punch Taverns plc (‘market conditions’).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, on a straight-line basis over  
the vesting period based on the Group’s estimate of how many of the awards will eventually vest. No expense is recognised for 
awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as 
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as 
measured at the date of the modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated 
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification to  
the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share 
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and 
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and VAT. All operations take place solely in the United Kingdom.

Drink and food sales 
Revenue in respect of drink and food sales is recognised at the point at which the goods are provided, net of any discounts or volume 
rebates allowed.

Rents receivable 
Rents receivable are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Machine income
The Group’s share of net machine income is recognised in the period to which it relates. 

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amount. An estimate 
for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Receivables are written off against the doubtful 
debt provision when management deems the debt to be no longer recoverable.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (calculated on a first in / first out basis) and net realisable value.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and  
are not depreciated.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the  
asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale and completion should  
be expected within one year from the date of classification.

Dividend distribution
Final dividends are recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends 
are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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1 Accounting policies continued

Exceptional items
In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, profit is presented excluding items which management consider will 
distort comparability, either due to their significant non-recurring nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments. Further detail 
on the nature of exceptional items is included in note 6.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgements including those relating to income taxes, deferred tax, 
financial instruments, property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets, valuations, provisions and post-employment 
benefits.

Management bases its estimates and judgements on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions and conditions.

The estimates and judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are detailed 
below.

Goodwill impairment
The Group assesses whether goodwill is impaired on at least an annual basis. The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units 
(CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require assumptions 
to be made regarding future cash flows and the choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those  
cash flows. These assumptions are disclosed in note 13. Actual outcomes could vary from these estimates.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment if circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Recoverable amounts are determined based on value-in-use calculations and estimated sale proceeds. These calculations require 
assumptions to be made regarding future cash flows and the choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash flows. These assumptions are disclosed in note 13. Actual outcomes may vary from these estimates.

Post-employment benefits
The present value of defined benefit pension scheme liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and depend on a number of 
actuarial assumptions which are disclosed in note 28. Any change in these assumptions could impact the carrying amounts of pension 
liabilities.

Onerous lease provisions 
The Group provides for its onerous obligations under operating leases where the property is closed or vacant and for properties 
where rental expense is in excess of income. The estimated timings and amounts of cash flows are determined using the experience 
of internal and external property experts; however, any changes to the estimated method of exiting from the property could lead  
to changes to the level of the provision recorded.

Effectiveness of cash flow hedges
The Group performs an assessment of the probability of future cash flows on the floating rate notes and related interest rate swaps. 
Where future expected hedged cash flows are expected to still be highly probable, the Group continues to account for these as 
effective cash flow hedges, with the effective portion being recognised in equity. Where future expected cash flows are deemed  
not to be highly probable but are still expected to occur, the Group discontinues hedge accounting from the date of the assessment. 
From this date, all movements in the fair value of the cash flow hedges are recognised in the income statement. Where future 
expected cash flows are deemed to no longer be expected to occur, the Group discontinues hedge accounting from this date and 
recycles the existing accumulated amounts in equity in the income statement. From this date all future movements in the fair value  
of the cash flow hedges are recognised in the income statement.

Authorisation of financial statements
The Group’s and Company’s financial statements of Punch Taverns plc (the Company) for the period ended 21 August 2010 were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 11 October 2010 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board’s behalf by  
Ian Dyson and Phil Dutton.

Corporate information
Punch Taverns plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England. The Company’s shares are listed on the London 
Stock Exchange.
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2 Segmental analysis

The Group has two reportable segments, a leased estate (Punch Partnerships) and a managed estate (Punch Pub Company), which 
are the Group’s strategic business units. Each strategic business unit consists of a number of cash generating units (CGUs), which are 
individual pubs. These CGUs generate their own revenues, which are consolidated to give the Group revenue and as a result, Group 
revenue is not reliant on one significant customer. 

The Group’s risks and returns are affected predominantly by the differences in the products and services provided by the strategic 
business units. Between 22 August 2009 and 21 August 2010, one pub with a fair value of £1.2m has transferred from the managed 
to the leased estate.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker is represented by the Executive Directors and senior management of the Group. Performance is 
measured based on segmental EBITDA, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Executive Directors 
and senior management.

The Group operates solely in the United Kingdom, and therefore has only one geographical segment. 

52 weeks to 21 August 2010

Leased 
£m

Managed
£m

Unallocated
£m

Total
£m

Drink revenue 455.7 353.7 – 809.4
Food revenue – 243.6 – 243.6
Rental income 178.3 – – 178.3
Other revenue 19.1 32.6 – 51.7

Revenue 653.1 629.9 – 1,283.0
Operating costs1 (322.5) (542.2) – (864.7)
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures – – 3.5 3.5

EBITDA1 330.6 87.7 3.5 421.8
Depreciation and amortisation (20.6) (31.0) – (51.6)

Operating profit before exceptional items 310.0 56.7 3.5 370.2

Operating exceptional items (266.3)
Net finance costs (195.0)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps (68.0)
UK income tax charge (0.8)

Loss attributable to owners of the parent company (159.9)

52 weeks to 22 August 2009

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Unallocated
£m

Total
£m

Drink revenue 521.3 379.6 – 900.9
Food revenue – 257.9 – 257.9
Rental income 223.0 – – 223.0
Other revenue 25.2 34.0 – 59.2

Revenue 769.5 671.5 – 1,441.0
Operating costs1 (357.7) (571.2) – (928.9)
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures – – 2.3 2.3

EBITDA1 411.8 100.3 2.3 514.4
Depreciation and amortisation (21.5) (40.8) – (62.3)

Operating profit before exceptional items 390.3 59.5 2.3 452.1

Operating exceptional items (756.9)
Net finance costs (45.7)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps (55.2)
UK income tax credit 229.3

Loss attributable to owners of the parent company (176.4)
1 Pre exceptional items.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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2 Segmental analysis continued
21 August 2010

Leased
£m

 Managed
£m

Unallocated
£m

Total
£m

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 4,063.2 1,411.6 – 5,474.8
Unallocated assets – – 375.3 375.3

Total assets 4,063.2 1,411.6 375.3 5,850.1

Segment liabilities (186.5) (190.0) – (376.5)
Unallocated liabilities – – (3,999.0) (3,999.0)

Total liabilities (186.5) (190.0) (3,999.0) (4,375.5)

Net assets 3,876.7 1,221.6 (3,623.7) 1,474.6

22 August 2009

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Unallocated
£m

Total
£m

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 4,560.6 1,403.3 – 5,963.9
Unallocated assets – – 877.5 877.5

Total assets 4,560.6 1,403.3 877.5 6,841.4

Segment liabilities (210.6) (190.2) – (400.8)
Unallocated liabilities – – (4,771.9) (4,771.9)

Total liabilities (210.6) (190.2) (4,771.9) (5,172.7)

Net assets 4,350.0 1,213.1 (3,894.4) 1,668.7

21 August 2010

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Total
£m

Capital expenditure 
Acquisition spend1 – – –
Investment spend 46.7 64.7 111.4

Total capital expenditure 46.7 64.7 111.4

22 August 2009

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Total
£m

Capital expenditure 
Acquisition spend1 – – –
Investment spend 44.9 42.2 87.1

Total capital expenditure 44.9 42.2 87.1
1 Excludes the transfer of pubs from the managed segment to the leased segment.

With the exception of the transfer of pubs, there are immaterial sales between the business segments. Segment assets include 
property, plant and equipment, operating leases, goodwill, other intangible assets, inventories, receivables and non-current assets 
classified as held for sale, and exclude cash, taxation and investments in joint ventures, while segment liabilities comprise operating 
liabilities and exclude taxation, corporate borrowings and related derivatives and retirement benefit liabilities. Capital expenditure 
comprises additions to property, plant and equipment, operating leases and other intangible assets, including additions resulting from 
acquisitions through business combinations.
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3 Analysis of expenses 

The following items have been included in arriving at operating profit:
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010 

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

 2009
£m

Drink and food costs 435.8 470.3
Managed pub running costs 288.1 306.7
Leasehold rentals1 52.9 51.4
Depreciation 44.9 53.8
Amortisation 6.7 8.5
Impairment losses 217.6 663.1
Goodwill charge2 9.0 52.1
Loss on sale of non-current assets 5.5 4.3
Other costs3 122.1 137.9

Total costs deducted from revenue to determine operating profit 1,182.6 1,748.1
1 Includes utilisation of property lease provisions of £14.8m (August 2009: £10.9m).
2 In the prior year includes an adjustment to goodwill in respect of deferred tax (£24.1m).
3 Included within other costs are £34.2m (August 2009: £37.4m) of exceptional costs. 

Auditors’ remuneration is as follows:
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010 

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Statutory audit services  
Audit of Group financial statements 0.2 0.3
Audit of subsidiary companies pursuant to legislation – 0.1

 
Non-audit related services
Other services1 – 0.4
1 Relates to services provided in relation to the Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer in July 2009 (note 25). 

The accounts of the parent company do not include details of remuneration receivable by the auditor and its associates for non-audit 
services, as the Group accounts are required to include this information as required by Regulation 5(1)(b) of The Companies 
(Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008 on a consolidated basis.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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4 Finance income
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010 

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Bank interest receivable 3.6 5.6
Pension finance income 20.8 24.7
Other finance income 0.5 1.5
Exceptional finance income (note 6) 44.4 246.0

Total finance income1 69.3 277.8
1 Total finance income includes £0.5m (August 2009: £1.5m) of other finance income which relates to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

5 Finance costs
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010 

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Interest payable on bank borrowings – 0.6
Interest payable on loan notes1 231.6 274.2
Interest payable on convertible bonds 2.2 19.5
Interest payable on finance leases 1.1 1.2
Pension finance costs 21.7 21.4
Other interest payable 0.1 1.3
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 2.4 3.7
Effect of unwinding discounted provisions 5.2 1.6

Total finance costs 264.3 323.5
1  Interest payable on loan notes is net of £11.4m credit (August 2009: £13.6m credit) for the amortisation of fair value adjustments and £7.9m net credit 

(August 2009: £8.1m net credit) for interest rate swaps, £5.3m (August 2009: £5.3m) of which relates to financial liabilities at fair value through profit  
or loss and £2.6m (August 2009: £2.8m) of which relates to financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss. 
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6 Exceptional items

In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, profit is presented excluding items which management consider will 
distort comparability, either due to their significant non-recurring nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments. Included in 
the income statement are the following exceptional items:

52 weeks to 
21 August 

2010 
£m

52 weeks to
22 August 

2009
£m

Operating
Redundancy and other related one-off costs (1.5) (8.5)
Movement on property liabilities1 (32.7) (28.9)
Impairment losses (note 13) (217.6) (663.1)
Goodwill charge2,3 (9.0) (52.1)
Loss on sale of non-current assets3 (5.5) (4.3)

(266.3) (756.9)

Finance income
Loan note redemptions4 44.4 246.0

Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps5 (68.0) (55.2)

Total exceptional items before tax (289.9) (566.1)

Tax
Tax impact of exceptional items 29.6 111.6
Recognition of previously uncrystallised deferred tax assets6 – 119.8
Tax impact of indexation7 – (6.2)
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods8 7.7 27.0
Recognition of deferred tax assets not previously recognised on acquisition2 – 24.1

37.3 276.3

Total exceptional items after tax (252.6) (289.8)
1 Represents provision for rent payments following the reversion of onerous leases to the Group and additional provision for onerous leases. 
2  Represents £9.0m write down of goodwill (August 2009: £28.0m), of which £5.8m related to the leased estate (August 2009: £17.9m) and £3.2m related  

to the managed estate (August 2009: £10.1m), relating to the apportioned value of goodwill allocated to those pubs disposed of during the year. In the prior 
period, also represents tax losses of £24.1m which had previously not been recognised on the acquisition of the Spirit group in January 2006, which were 
subsequently recognised in the year.

3  In order to better reflect the nature of disposal transactions, loss on sale of non-current assets and goodwill charge have been reclassified within operating 
profit / (loss), for which comparatives have been restated.

4 Represents profit on the purchase of securitised debt and convertible bonds together with the write off of related deferred issue costs.
5  Represents the movement in the fair value of interest rate swaps which do not qualify for hedge accounting. Whilst the interest rate swaps are considered  

to be effective in matching the amortising profile of existing or planned floating rate borrowings, they do not meet the definition of an effective hedge  
due to the relative size of the mark to market difference of the swap at the date of acquisition or inception, or changes in expected future maturity profiles.  
At 22 August 2009 interest rate swaps held to hedge the Punch Taverns Finance B Limited Class A8 notes were deemed to be ineffective due to the intention 
to purchase and cancel a portion of these notes ahead of their expected legal maturity. As a result, a charge of £19.3m was recycled through the income 
statement.

6 In the prior period, represents the recognition of deferred tax assets that relate to capital losses arising on a group restructuring.
7 In the prior period, represents tax impact of RPI for the full year on the indexation allowance applied to the tax based cost of properties. 
8 Represents the impact of finalising past tax matters. In the prior period also represented changes to base cost information in relation to property assets.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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7 Employees and directors

Staff costs
52 weeks to 

21 August
2010 

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Wages and salaries 189.3 195.6
Social security costs 13.7 14.2
Share based payments 3.2 0.1
Other pension costs 2.8 3.2

209.0 213.1

The average number of employees during the period was as follows:
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010 

No.

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
No.

Management and administration1 869 925
Retail staff1 16,615 17,532

17,484 18,457
1 Employee numbers relate to actual employees rather than full time employee equivalents.

No employees are employed directly by the Company.

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the ‘Report on Directors’ remuneration’ on pages 40 to 51.

8 Taxation

(a) Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Tax charged / (credited) in the income statement
 52 weeks to 21 August 2010  52 weeks to 22 August 2009

Ongoing
£m

Exceptional
£m

Total
£m

Ongoing
£m

Exceptional
£m

Total
£m

Current tax
UK corporation tax – current year 20.8 (20.8) – 15.9 (14.0) 1.9
UK corporation tax – adjustments in respect of prior years – (3.5) (3.5) – (22.7) (22.7)

20.8 (24.3) (3.5) 15.9 (36.7) (20.8)

Deferred tax (note 16)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
– current year 17.3 (8.8) 8.5 31.1 (235.6) (204.5)
Indexation – current year – – – – 6.2 6.2
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
– adjustments in respect of prior years – (4.2) (4.2) – (10.2) (10.2)

17.3 (13.0) 4.3 31.1 (239.6) (208.5)

Total tax charge / (credit) in the income statement 38.1 (37.3) 0.8 47.0 (276.3) (229.3)
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8 Taxation continued

Tax on items credited to equity
In addition to the amount credited to the income statement, tax movements recognised directly in equity through the Consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income were as follows:

52 weeks to 
21 August 

2010 
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Deferred tax
Deferred tax on gain / (loss) on actuarial valuation of pension schemes 8.9 (20.3)
Deferred tax on effective element of cash flow hedges (23.7) (18.6)
Tax charge related to indexation on revalued properties – 1.6

Deferred tax credit recognised directly in equity (14.8) (37.3)

(b) Reconciliation of the total tax charge / (credit)
The effective rate of tax is different to the full rate of corporation tax. The differences are explained below: 

52 weeks to 
21 August 

2010 
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Loss on ordinary activities before tax (159.1) (405.7)
Tax at current UK tax rate of 28% (August 2009: 28%) (44.5) (113.6)
Effects of:
Net effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes and non-taxable income (ongoing items) 1.6 2.0
Losses arising not yet recognised as assets (ongoing items) – 0.1
Deferred tax debit on indexation of properties (exceptional items) – 6.2
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods (exceptional items) (7.7) (32.9)
Current period exceptional debits / (credits) (exceptional items) 51.4 (91.1)

Total tax charge / (income) reported in the income statement 0.8 (229.3)

Details of the exceptional tax credits and debits are included in note 6.

 
9 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held in the employee share trust, which are treated as cancelled.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (after adding back interest on 
dilutive convertible bonds) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (adjusted for the effects 
of dilutive options and dilutive convertible bonds).

The equity portion of the convertible bonds has been assessed and its impact is not dilutive on either basic earnings or adjusted 
earnings at 22 August 2009. The bond was repaid in full during the period. 

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares are set out below:
52 weeks to 21 August 2010 52 weeks to 22 August 2009

Earnings
£m

Per share 
amount

pence
Earnings

£m

Per share
amount

pence

Basic loss per share (159.9) (24.9) (176.4) (56.1)
Diluted loss per share (159.9) (24.8) (176.4) (56.1)

Supplementary earnings per share figures:
Basic earnings per share before exceptional items 92.7 14.4 113.4 36.1
Diluted earnings per share before exceptional items 92.7 14.4 113.4 36.1

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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9 Earnings per share continued

The impact of dilutive ordinary shares is to increase weighted average shares by 1,056,240 (August 2009: nil) for employee share 
options and nil (August 2009: nil) for convertible bonds.

52 weeks to 
21 August 

2010
No. (m)

52 weeks to 
22 August 

2009
No. (m)

Basic weighted average number of shares 642.5 314.3
Share Bonus Plan 0.1 –
Long Term Incentive Plan 1.0 –

Diluted weighted average number of shares 643.6 314.3 

10 Dividends

No dividends have been declared and paid during the current or prior year. 

The Directors will not be proposing the payment of a final dividend.

 
11 Property, plant and equipment

Land and 
buildings

£m

Public house 
fixtures and 

fittings
£m

Other 
assets

£m
Total

£m

Cost or deemed cost
At 23 August 2008 6,318.4 349.8 23.8 6,692.0
Additions 66.1 17.1 1.9 85.1
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale (247.4) (6.2) – (253.6)
Disposals (584.0) (24.7) – (608.7)

At 22 August 2009 5,553.1 336.0 25.7 5,914.8
Additions 52.8 56.4 1.3 110.5
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale (372.5) (19.6) – (392.1)
Disposals (256.2) (48.1) (0.1) (304.4)

At 21 August 2010 4,977.2 324.7 26.9 5,328.8

Accumulated depreciation
At 23 August 2008 277.1 132.9 7.3 417.3
Charge for the year 4.3 47.5 2.0 53.8
Impairment losses (note 13) 580.2 35.3 – 615.5
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale (83.1) (5.7) – (88.8)
Disposals (194.4) (12.9) – (207.3)

At 22 August 2009 584.1 197.1 9.3 790.5
Reclassification1 24.3 – – 24.3
Charge for the year 5.5 37.6 1.8 44.9
Impairment losses (note 13) 224.3 (6.7) – 217.6
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale (252.5) (16.1) – (268.6)
Disposals (134.5) (37.2) – (171.7)

At 21 August 2010 451.2 174.7 11.1 637.0

Net book value at 21 August 2010 4,526.0 150.0 15.8 4,691.8

Net book value at 22 August 2009 4,969.0 138.9 16.4 5,124.3
1 Reclassification of accumulated depreciation between tangible fixed assets and operating leases.
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11 Property, plant and equipment continued

The cost of work in progress within property, plant and equipment at 21 August 2010 was £30.4m (August 2009: £21.5m).

The Group leases various licensed properties, offices and other commercial properties and other assets under finance leases. The 
leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

Included in property, plant and equipment above are motor vehicles held under finance leases with a net book value of £2.4m 
(August 2009: £2.4m) and properties held under finance leases with a net book value of £13.1m (August 2009: £14.4m).

Included in land and buildings are properties with a net book value of £4,460.6m (August 2009: £4,943.4m) over which the Group’s 
borrowings are secured by way of fixed and floating charges.

 
12 Goodwill, operating leases and other intangible assets

Operating 
leases

£m

Other 
intangible 

assets
£m

Goodwill
£m

Cost
At 23 August 2008 168.5 13.5 556.2
Additions – 2.0 –
Disposals (4.9) – (28.0)
Adjustment in respect of deferred taxation (note 16)1 – – (24.1)

At 22 August 2009 163.6 15.5 504.1
Additions – 0.9 –
Disposals (3.4) – (9.0)

At 21 August 2010 160.2 16.4 495.1

Amortisation
At 23 August 2008 44.3 6.4 –
Charge for the year 6.0 2.5 –
Impairment losses (note 13) 47.6 – –
Disposals (2.3) – –

At 22 August 2009 95.6 8.9 –
Reclassification2 (24.3) – –
Charge for the year 4.5 2.2 –
Disposals (1.9) – –

At 21 August 2010 73.9 11.1 –

Net book value at 21 August 2010 86.3 5.3 495.1

Net book value at 22 August 2009 68.0 6.6 504.1
1  In the prior period, an adjustment has been made to the goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Spirit Group in January 2006 due to the recognition  

of additional capital losses.
2 Reclassification of amortisation between operating leases and tangible fixed assets.

Included within operating leases are properties with a net book value of £78.7m (August 2009: £61.9m) over which the Group’s 
borrowings are secured by way of fixed and floating charges.

Other intangible assets relate to computer software.

At 21 August 2010, the goodwill assigned to the leased estate is £348.2m (August 2009: £353.9m) and the goodwill assigned  
to the managed estate is £146.9m (August 2009: £150.2m).

While there was no goodwill impairment, goodwill has been reduced in the year by £9.0m (2009: £28.0m), £5.8m (August 2009: 
£17.9m) of which related to the leased estate and £3.2m (August 2009: £10.1m) related to the managed estate, representing the 
apportioned value of goodwill allocated to those pubs disposed of during the year.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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13 Impairment losses

Property, plant and equipment and operating leases
When any indicators of impairment are identified, property, plant and equipment and operating leases are reviewed for impairment 
based on each cash generating unit (CGU). The cash generating units are individual pubs. The carrying value of these individual pubs 
was compared to the recoverable amount of the CGUs, which was based predominantly on value-in-use. 

Where it is considered more likely than not that a pub will be disposed within the near-term rather than continue to be held and 
traded by the Group, the recoverable amount is based on the estimated fair value less costs to sell of that pub rather than by 
reference to its value-in-use, which is lower.

Due to further weakening in trading in our non core pubs, further impairments have been recognised in both the leased and 
managed estates as follows:

 52 weeks to 21 August 2010  52 weeks to 22 August 2009

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Total
£m

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Total
£m

Property, plant and equipment 209.1 8.5 217.6 478.5 137.0 615.5
Operating leases – – – 4.9 42.7 47.6

209.1 8.5 217.6 483.4 179.7 663.1

Following a review of the entire estate, 1,347 pubs have been identified as non core, being considered not sustainable as pubs in the 
long term or to have a higher alternative use value. These pubs are likely to be sold or converted for alternative use within the next 
five years and have been written down to their fair value less costs to sell, which is higher than their value-in-use.

Cash flows used in the value-in-use calculation are based on EBITDA less maintenance capital expenditure. Value-in-use is calculated 
using five year financial forecasts. Beyond the initial five year period, cash flows are extrapolated for the remaining useful life of the 
CGUs using the growth rate assumed in the final year of the five year financial forecasts. This rate assumes an ongoing trading decline 
for these pubs and therefore does not exceed either the UK’s post-war average growth rate or the average long term growth rate for 
the market. The pre-tax risk adjusted discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8.0% (August 2009: 8.5%).

Included within the above are reversals of impairment losses of property, plant and equipment of £25.2m for the leased estate and 
£0.8m for the managed estate. The impairment reversals were primarily due to the identification of pubs where expected future cash 
flows have risen to a level such that their value-in-use is now above carrying value.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
The Group has recognised a total impairment of £217.6m. The level of impairment is predominantly dependent upon judgements 
used in arriving at projected disposal values, future growth rates and the discount rate applied to cash flow projections. Key drivers  
to future growth rates are dependent on the Group’s ability to maintain drinks, rental and gaming machine profit streams in the 
leased business, whilst in the managed business, future growth rates are dependent on the ability to maintain drinks, food and 
gaming machine profit streams whilst effectively managing pub operating costs. The impact on the impairment charge of applying 
different assumptions to the disposal values, growth rates used in the five year financial forecasts and in the pre-tax discount rates 
would be as follows:

Impairment charge / (credit) 
and reduction / (increase) in net assets

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Total
£m

Impact if disposal value was: increased by 10% (24.8) (1.5) (26.3)
decreased by 10% 25.4 1.9 27.3

Impact if discount rate was: increased by 1% 1.2 – 1.2
decreased by 1% (1.5) – (1.5)

Impact if business plan growth rates were: increased by 2% in each year (2.2) – (2.2)
decreased by 2% in each year 1.5 – 1.5

Goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash generating units (CGUs) based on the benefits to the Group that arise from each business 
combination. The two groups of CGUs are identified by their pub operating format (leased or managed) and this is the lowest level  
at which goodwill is monitored by the Group. The value of the goodwill was reviewed for impairment during the current financial 
year by means of comparing the recoverable amount of the CGUs to the carrying value of their goodwill. The recoverable amount  
of the CGUs was determined based on value-in-use calculations. These value-in-use calculations use the same assumptions as for 
property, plant and equipment and operating leases. No impairment was identified. Neither a 2% decrease in the growth rate in  
each of the next five years nor a 1% increase in the discount rate would have led to an impairment of goodwill in the current period.
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14 Investments in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures

Company
Total

£m

At 22 August 2009 1,334.8
Additions 3.2
Impairment (2.2)

At 21 August 2010 1,335.8

During the period, the Company made a capital contribution of £3.2m (August 2009: £0.1m) to its immediate subsidiary undertaking, 
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited. 

Safe Jumper Limited, a company incorporated in Jersey that was acquired during the prior period, has been wound up during the 
current year, and was struck off the register on 10 February 2010.

The impairment during the period relates to the Company’s investment in Punch (IB) Limited. The impairment arose after a group 
re-organisation was carried out in order to simplify the group structure.

Details of the principal subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures at 21 August 2010 are as follows:
Name of company Nature of business

Subsidiary undertakings owned directly:
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited Holding company

Directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries of Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited:
Punch Partnerships (PGRP) Limited Pub operating company
Punch Partnerships (PTL) Limited Pub operating company
Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited Pub operating company
Punch Partnerships (Pubs) Limited Pub operating company
Punch Pub Company (Pubs) Limited Pub operating company
Punch Pub Company (Trent) Limited Pub operating company
Spirit Group Holdings Limited Intermediate holding company
Punch Partnerships (PPCS) Limited Intermediate supply company
Punch Pub Company (Supply) Limited Intermediate supply company
Punch Taverns Finance plc Financing company
Punch Taverns Finance B Limited Financing company
Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco) Limited Financing company
Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited Financing company
Punch Taverns Investments (A) Limited Financing company
Punch Taverns Investments (B) Limited Financing company
Punch Taverns Investments (S) Limited Financing company
Punch Taverns (Offices) Limited Property company
Avebury Group Limited Management and administration company
InnSpired Company Limited Management and administration company
Punch Pub Company Limited Management and administration company

Joint ventures:
Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited Property company
Matthew Clark (Holdings) Limited Intermediate holding company of Matthew Clark

The Company owns 100% of the ordinary share capital directly or indirectly and controls 100% of the voting rights of the companies 
listed above, with the exception of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, of which the Company indirectly owns 51% of the ordinary 
share capital but can only exercise joint control as both parties have equal voting rights on all decisions, and Matthew Clark (Holdings) 
Limited, of which the Company indirectly owns 50% of the ordinary share capital and exercises joint control.

All companies are incorporated in England and Wales other than Punch Taverns Finance B Limited, which is incorporated in the 
Cayman Islands and Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco) Limited, which is incorporated in Jersey.

In addition to those investments listed above, the Group also maintains day-to-day control over Spirit Issuer Parent Limited and its 
wholly owned subsidiary, Spirit Issuer plc, a special purpose entity that was set up purely for providing financing to the Spirit group of 
companies. Although no company in the Group owns any shares either directly or indirectly in Spirit Issuer Parent Limited or Spirit 
Issuer plc, the financial statements are also consolidated into the Group financial statements in accordance with SIC 12.

Exemption has been taken to exclude subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial position do not principally affect the financial 
statements from the above disclosure.
 

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
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15 Trade and other receivables
Group Company

21 August 
2010 

£m

22 August
2009

£m

21 August
2010

£m

22 August
2009

£m

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade receivables 39.0 58.4 – –
Amounts owed by group undertakings – – 11.2 33.8
Prepayments and accrued income 23.6 24.5 0.1 –
Tax and social security receivable – – – 0.5
Other receivables 0.9 0.9 – –

63.5 83.8 11.3 34.3

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts due from group undertakings – – 1,252.8 1,397.9

16 Deferred tax

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

Deferred tax
Group

21 August
2010 

£m

22 August
2009

£m

At beginning of period 21.2 267.0
Debited / (credited) to income statement 4.3 (208.5)
Credited to equity (14.8) (37.3)

At end of period 10.7 21.2

The Company has no deferred tax balances.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period are shown below: 

Deferred tax assets
Group 

Tax losses
£m

Retirement 
benefit 

liabilities
£m

Financial 
instruments

£m
Other

£m
Total

£m

At 23 August 2008 22.2 2.1 57.6 17.7 99.6
Credited / (charged) to income statement 5.8 (5.8) 7.9 (5.6) 2.3
Credited to equity – 20.3 18.6 – 38.9
Transfers 3.7 – – – 3.7

At 22 August 2009 31.7 16.6 84.1 12.1 144.5
(Charged) / credited to income statement (5.4) (1.5) 1.3 (4.4) (10.0)
(Charged) / credited to equity – (8.9) 23.7 – 14.8

At 21 August 2010 26.3 6.2 109.1 7.7 149.3
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16 Deferred tax continued

Deferred tax liabilities
Group

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances
£m

Gains on 
property1

£m
Total

£m

At 23 August 2008 156.8 209.8 366.6
Charged / (credited) to income statement 8.9 (215.1) (206.2)
Charged to equity – 1.6 1.6
Transfers – 3.7 3.7

At 22 August 2009 165.7 – 165.7
Credited to income statement (5.7) – (5.7)

At 21 August 2010 160.0 – 160.0
1 In the prior period includes £119.8m credit to the income statement relating to the recognition of capital losses.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £300.3m (August 2009: £131.7m) and unused capital losses of 
£2,561.3m (August 2009: £2,536.2m) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect 
of £97.4m (August 2009: £112.5m) of such losses, which are expected to be utilised against future profit streams within the Group. 
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining £2,764.2m (August 2009: £2,555.4m) of losses due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams. Current legislation deems that these losses may be carried forward for an unlimited number 
of years.

The Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010 announced that the UK corporation tax rate will reduce from 28% to 24% over a period  
of four years from 2011. The first reduction in the rate from 28% to 27% was substantively enacted on 20 July 2010 and will be 
effective from 1 April 2011. This will reduce the Group’s future current tax charge accordingly. As the rate change was substantively 
enacted prior to the year end, the reduced rate has been included in the calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities. Had further 
tax rate changes been substantively enacted on or before the balance sheet date it would have had the effect of reducing the 
deferred tax liability recognised at that date by £0.4m per percentage point reduction.

17 Inventories
21 August 

2010 
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Goods held for resale 7.8 7.5

The Group consumed £186.3m of inventories during the year (August 2009: £199.5m) and charged £nil to the income statement  
for the write down of inventories during the year (August 2009: £nil). 

18 Cash
Group Company

21 August 
2010 

£m

22 August
2009

£m

21 August
2010

£m

22 August
2009

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 316.5 678.6 166.6 318.6

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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19 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 125.1 169.6

At the current period end, non-current assets classified as held for sale represents £97.9m (August 2009: £155.8m) of pubs from the 
leased estate and £27.2m (August 2009: £13.8m) of pubs from the managed estate that are individually being actively marketed for 
sale with varying expected completion dates within one year. The value of non-current assets classified as held for sale represents the 
expected net disposal proceeds, and is the value after an impairment charge of £62.0m.

20 Trade and other payables
 Group  Company

21 August 
2010 

£m

22 August
2009

 £m

21 August
2010 

£m

22 August
2009

£m

Trade payables 85.7 83.5 – –
Amounts owed to group undertakings – – 116.7 109.1
Other tax and social security payable 22.2 41.5 – –
Other payables 36.6 40.9 – –
Accruals and deferred income 121.8 141.5 – 0.9
Share of joint venture liabilities 2.6 9.3 – –

268.9 316.7 116.7 110.0

21 Financial liabilities
21 August 2010 22 August 2009

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due

within 
one 
year

£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

within 
one 
year
£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

Secured loan notes:
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc 26.1 1,619.4 1,645.5 14.0 1,893.4 1,907.4
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited 30.0 967.0 997.0 27.9 1,149.3 1,177.2
Issued by Spirit Issuer plc 5.0 910.7 915.7 5.7 964.2 969.9

Total interest bearing loans and borrowings 61.1 3,497.1 3,558.2 47.6 4,006.9 4,054.5

Obligations under finance leases 2.4 14.6 17.0 2.6 15.8 18.4
Convertible bonds – liability component – – – – 193.5 193.5

Total financial liabilities 63.5 3,511.7 3,575.2 50.2 4,216.2 4,266.4



Financial statements

www.punchtaverns.com

82

21 Financial liabilities continued

Secured loan notes
The secured loan notes have been secured by way of fixed and floating charges over various assets of the Group.

Interest is paid quarterly in arrears on all secured loan notes. Scheduled capital repayments are made quarterly on those loan notes 
that are amortising. The details for the secured loan notes, including the date of the final scheduled instalment for each class of note, 
as indicated in its description, are as follows:

Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc:
21 August 2010 22 August 2009

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due

within 
one 
year

£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

within
one 
year
£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

Class A1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by April 2022 
at 7.274% per annum – 270.0 270.0 – 270.0 270.0
Class A2 secured fixed rate notes repayable by July 2020 
at 6.82% per annum 22.2 255.3 277.5 – 300.0 300.0
Class A3(N) secured floating rate notes repayable by 
April 2015 at LIBOR1 +0.13% per annum – – – 1.2 2.5 3.7
Class B1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by April 2026 
at 7.567% per annum – 99.8 99.8 – 135.1 135.1
Class B2 secured fixed rate notes repayable by July 2029 
at 8.374% per annum – 117.6 117.6 – 142.7 142.7
Class B3 secured floating rate notes repayable by July 2031 
at LIBOR1 +0.24% to July 2014 and LIBOR1 +0.60% thereafter – 159.0 159.0 – 167.0 167.0
Class C secured fixed rate notes repayable by April 2033 
at 6.468% per annum – 97.3 97.3 – 184.0 184.0
Class M1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by October 2026 
at 5.883% per annum 4.5 117.4 121.9 13.5 167.7 181.2
Class M2(N) secured floating rate notes repayable by 
July 2029 at LIBOR1 +0.20% to July 2014 and LIBOR1  
+0.50% thereafter – 398.7 398.7 – 400.0 400.0
Class D1 secured floating rate notes repayable by 
October 2032 at LIBOR1 +0.82% to July 2014 and LIBOR1 
+2.05% thereafter – 103.6 103.6 – 125.0 125.0

26.7 1,618.7 1,645.4 14.7 1,894.0 1,908.7
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 0.7 6.9 7.6 0.8 9.0 9.8
Less: deferred issue costs (1.3) (6.2) (7.5) (1.5) (9.6) (11.1)

26.1 1,619.4 1,645.5 14.0 1,893.4 1,907.4
1 For 3 month deposits.

In the current period, the Group redeemed notes with a nominal value of £251.8m, being £22.5m Class A2, £3.4m Class A3(N), 
£35.3m Class B1, £25.0m Class B2, £8.0m Class B3, £86.7m Class C, £48.2m Class M1, £1.3m Class M2(N) and £21.4m Class D1 
notes. In the prior period, the Group redeemed notes with a nominal value of £149.5m, being £85.6m Class A3(N), £4.9m Class B1, 
£7.3m Class B2, £8.0m Class B3, £31.0m Class C and £12.7m Class M1 notes.

These figures are net of notes held by the Group not yet cancelled, which as at 21 August 2010 were £5.6m Class B2, £6.0m Class C 
and £1.1m Class M1 notes held by Punch Taverns Investments (A) Limited (22 August 2009: £8.0m Class B3 and £2.0m Class C notes 
held by Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited).

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited:
21 August 2010 22 August 2009

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due

within 
one 
year

£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

within
one 
year
£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

Class A3 secured fixed rate notes repayable by June 2022  
at 7.369% per annum 3.8 194.7 198.5 – 198.5 198.5
Class A6 secured fixed rate notes repayable by December 
2024 at 5.943% per annum – 220.0 220.0 – 220.0 220.0
Class A7 secured fixed rate notes repayable by June 2033  
at 4.767% per annum 19.2 166.8 186.0 23.5 207.9 231.4
Class A8 secured floating rate notes repayable by June 2033 
at LIBOR1 +0.28% until June 2015 and LIBOR1 +0.7% 
thereafter 2.4 62.1 64.5 – 222.6 222.6
Class B1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by June 2025 
at 8.44% per annum – 61.5 61.5 – 61.5 61.5
Class B2 secured fixed rate notes repayable by June 2028  
at 6.962% per annum – 92.4 92.4 – 92.4 92.4
Class C secured floating rate notes repayable by June 2035  
at LIBOR1 +1.1% until June 2015 and LIBOR1 +2.75% thereafter – 125.0 125.0 – 98.4 98.4

25.4 922.5 947.9 23.5 1,101.3 1,124.8
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 5.2 47.8 53.0 5.3 53.0 58.3
Less: deferred issue costs (0.6) (3.3) (3.9) (0.9) (5.0) (5.9)

30.0 967.0 997.0 27.9 1,149.3 1,177.2
1 For 3 month deposits.

In the current period, the Group redeemed notes with a nominal value of £183.6m, being £24.4m Class A7 and £159.2m Class A8 
notes. The Group also sold Class C notes with a nominal value of £26.6m in the current period. In the prior period, the Group 
redeemed notes with a nominal value of £123.7m, being £2.5m Class A3, £18.6m Class A7, £27.4m Class A8, £16.0m Class B1, 
£32.6m Class B2 and £26.6m Class C1 notes.

These figures are net of notes held by the Group not yet cancelled, which as at 21 August 2010 were £2.5m Class A3, £23.1m Class A7, 
£3.6m Class B1 and £28.0m Class B2 notes held by Punch Taverns Investments (B) Limited and £15.5m Class A7, £12.4m Class B1  
and £4.5m Class B2 notes held by Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited (22 August 2009: £2.5m Class A3, £18.6m Class A7, £3.6m  
Class B1, £28.1m Class B2 and £26.6m Class C notes held by Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited and £12.4m Class B1 and £4.5m 
Class B2 notes held by Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited).
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Issued by Spirit Issuer plc:
21 August 2010 22 August 2009

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due

within 
one 
year

£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

within
one 
year
£m

after 
more than 

one year
£m

Total
£m

Class A1 secured floating rate debenture notes repayable  
by September 2026 at LIBOR1 +0.22% per annum to 
September 2011 and LIBOR1 +0.55% thereafter – 144.7 144.7 – 144.7 144.7
Class A2 secured floating rate debenture notes repayable by 
June 2029 at LIBOR1 +1.08% per annum to September 2011 
and LIBOR1 +2.7% thereafter – 188.6 188.6 – 188.6 188.6
Class A3 secured fixed / floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by September 2019 at 5.86% to September 2014 
and LIBOR1 +0.55% thereafter – 116.7 116.7 – 114.9 114.9
Class A4 secured fixed / floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by March 2025 at 6.582% to September 2018  
and LIBOR1 +2.775% thereafter – 242.5 242.5 – 276.2 276.2
Class A5 secured fixed / floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by December 2032 at 5.472% to September 2028 
and LIBOR1 +0.75% thereafter – 174.0 174.0 – 184.0 184.0

– 866.5 866.5 – 908.4 908.4
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 5.0 44.2 49.2 5.7 55.8 61.5

5.0 910.7 915.7 5.7 964.2 969.9
1 For 3 month deposits.

In the current period the Group redeemed notes with a nominal value of £43.7m, being £33.7m Class A4 and £10m Class A5 notes. 
The Group also sold Class A3 notes with a nominal value of £1.8m in the current period. In the prior period, the Group redeemed 
notes with a nominal value of £341.6m, being £5.3m Class A1, £11.4m Class A2, £135.1m Class A3, £73.8m Class A4 and £116.0m 
Class A5 notes.

These figures are net of notes held by the Group not yet cancelled, which as at 21 August 2010 were £15.9m Class A4 and £28.2m 
Class A5 notes held by Punch Taverns Investments (S) Limited (22 August 2009: £5.3m Class A1, £2.4m Class A2, £11.2m Class A3, 
£27.1m Class A4 and £41.8m Class A5 notes held by Punch Taverns (Shawshank) Limited).

Interest rate swaps
The Group has taken out various interest rate swaps to reduce the interest rate risk associated with floating rate loans as follows:

Punch Taverns Finance plc
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate on the Class A3(N), Class B3, Class M2(N) 
and Class D1 floating rate notes to a fixed rate of 5.954%. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the 
contractual repayment profile of the floating rate notes. 

Punch Taverns Finance B Limited
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate on the Class A8 and Class C notes to  
a fixed rate of 5.1% and 4.7577% respectively. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual 
repayment profile of the floating rate notes. Although the Class A8 swap ensures that cash flows are perfectly hedged over the life  
of the notes, it was deemed ineffective as at 22 August 2009 due to the intention to purchase and cancel a portion of these notes 
ahead of their expected legal maturity.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Spirit Issuer plc
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate to a fixed rate of 6.581% to March 2012 
and 6.831% thereafter on the Class A1 and Class A2 debenture notes and, after their respective step-up dates, 4.529% on the  
Class A3, Class A4 and Class A5 debenture notes. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual 
repayment profile of the floating rate notes. Although these swaps ensure that cash flows are perfectly hedged over the life of the 
notes they were deemed ineffective at the time of acquisition of the Spirit group, in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39,  
and accordingly all future movements in fair value will be recognised in the income statement.

After taking account of the various interest rate swaps entered into by the Group, the interest rate exposure of the Group’s financial 
liabilities are as set out below. There are no financial liabilities other than short term payables excluded from this analysis:

21 August 2010 22 August 2009

Fixed
£m

Floating
£m

Total
£m

Fixed
£m

Floating
£m

Total
£m

Secured loan notes:
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc 1,645.5 – 1,645.5 1,907.4 – 1,907.4
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited 997.0 – 997.0 1,177.2 – 1,177.2
Issued by Spirit Issuer plc 915.7 – 915.7 969.9 – 969.9

Total loans and borrowings 3,558.2 – 3,558.2 4,054.5 – 4,054.5

Obligations under finance leases 17.0 – 17.0 18.4 – 18.4
Convertible bonds – liability component – – – 193.5 – 193.5

Total financial liabilities 3,575.2 – 3,575.2 4,266.4 – 4,266.4

Interest rate analysis
The weighted average effective interest rates of interest bearing loans and borrowings, including the effect of interest rate swaps,  
at the balance sheet date are as follows:

21 August 
2010

%

22 August 
2009

%

Secured loan notes 6.8 6.8
Finance leases 6.5 6.5
Convertible bonds – 9.2

The average interest rate for Group loans and borrowings is 6.8% (August 2009: 6.9%).

Borrowing facilities
During the prior period, the Company cancelled a £50m bank facility, due to expire in October 2010, deemed not to be required.

Obligations under finance leases
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

21 August 2010 22 August 2009

Minimum 
lease 

payments
£m

Present value 
of future 

obligations
£m

Minimum 
lease 

payments
£m

Present value 
of future 

obligations
£m

Within one year 2.4 2.4 2.6 2.6
Within one to five years 6.2 5.0 7.0 5.7
Over five years 45.6 9.6 47.6 10.1

54.2 17.0 57.2 18.4
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21 Financial liabilities continued

Convertible bonds
The Group issued £275.0m 5.0% convertible bonds at a nominal value of £275.0m on 14 December 2005. During the period, the 
Group redeemed all remaining bonds (nominal value of £192.1m). The share price at the date of pricing of the convertible bonds in 
the market was £8.60. The fair values of the liability component and equity component were determined at issuance of the bonds. 
The fair value of the liability component was calculated using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. The residual 
amount, representing the value of the equity conversion component, was included in shareholders’ equity as a separate reserve.

The value of convertible bonds recognised in the balance sheet is calculated as follows:
£m

Liability component at 23 August 2008 264.8
Finance cost (note 5) 19.5
Cash interest paid (11.8)
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 1.3
Redeemed (80.3)

Liability component at 22 August 2009 193.5
Finance cost (note 5) 2.2
Cash interest paid (3.0)
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 0.2
Redeemed (192.9)

Liability component at 21 August 2010 –

Finance cost on the bonds was calculated using the effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of 9.23%  
(August 2009: 9.23%).

Maturity of Group debt
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s debt at 21 August 2010 and 22 August 2009 based on contractual, 
undiscounted cash flows including interest.

Period ended 21 August 2010

Within 
one year

£m

One to 
two years

£m

Two to 
five years

£m

More than 
five years

£m
Total

£m

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
– capital 52.1 55.0 251.8 3,101.0 3,459.9
– interest 24.9 24.5 72.4 231.8 353.6
– interest rate swaps 209.3 206.2 608.6 1,947.9 2,972.0

286.3 285.7 932.8 5,280.7 6,785.5

Period ended 22 August 2009

Within 
one year

£m

One to 
two years

£m

Two to 
five years

£m

More than 
five years

£m
Total

£m

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
– capital 38.2 64.2 238.9 3,600.6 3,941.9
– interest 26.6 26.3 77.5 266.3 396.7
– interest rate swaps 228.5 226.0 667.2 2,292.0 3,413.7

293.3 316.5 983.6 6,158.9 7,752.3

Convertible bonds
– capital – 205.9 – – 205.9
– interest 9.6 4.8 – – 14.4

9.6 210.7 – – 220.3

302.9 527.2 983.6 6,158.9 7,972.6

The contractual maturity of trade and other payables is within one year.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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22 Financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Financial assets
Interest rate swaps – at fair value through profit or loss – 2.7
Receivables (amortised cost) 39.0 58.4
Cash and short term deposits 316.5 678.6

355.5 739.7

Financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps – at fair value through profit or loss 159.5 128.4
Interest rate swaps – not at fair value through profit or loss 247.6 170.3
Amortised cost 3,643.9 4,331.5
Finance lease obligations 17.0 18.4

4,068.0 4,648.6

The Company holds financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost as shown in note 31.

All derivative financial instruments are held on the balance sheet at fair value; the effective portion of changes in the fair value  
of derivative financial instruments, that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, are recognised in equity. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in 
the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. Changes in fair value of any derivative financial 
instruments, that do not qualify for hedge accounting, are recognised immediately in the income statement.

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivative financial instruments, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid 
resources. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various 
other financial instruments such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, capital risk and credit risk. There  
is no material currency exposure as all material transactions and financial instruments are in sterling. The Group has no material 
exposure to equity securities or commodity price risk and it is the Group’s policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments 
shall be undertaken. The Board reviews and agrees policies for each of these risks and they are summarised on pages 22 to 25.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest bearing assets, other than cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s income and operating  
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. Income and cash flows from cash and cash equivalents 
fluctuate with interest rates.

The Group finances its operations through a mixture of equity shareholders’ funds and loan notes. The Group borrows at both  
fixed and floating rates of interest and then employs derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to generate the 
desired interest rate profile and to manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The cash balances attract interest  
at floating rates. 

Where over-hedging arises (for example, due to early repayment of floating rate notes) the Group will seek to eliminate the 
over-hedging, where this is financially practicable, either by embedding the cost in new swaps or by terminating the over-hedge.  
As at the year end, the Group held £44.1m of floating rate notes for which interest swaps remain outstanding.

The Group has taken out derivative financial instruments such that 100% of all loans at 21 August 2010 (August 2009: 100%) were 
either at fixed rate or were converted to fixed rate as a result of swap arrangements thereby largely eliminating the Group’s exposure 
to changes in interest rates.
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22 Financial instruments continued

Cash flows associated with cash deposits, debt and interest rate swaps and the fair value of these instruments fluctuate with changes 
in interest rates. If the interest rates had been 1% higher or lower during the period, the effect on the income statement would  
be as follows:

Period ended 21 August 2010

Interest 
receivable

£m

Interest 
payable

£m

Movement
in fair value 

of interest 
rate 

swaps
£m

Impact on income statement if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss) 2.9 – 61.5
Impact on income statement if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss) (2.9) – (71.8)
Impact on equity if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss) – – 110.8
Impact on equity if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss) – – (130.7)

Period ended 22 August 2009

Impact on income statement if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss) 2.7 – 76.8
Impact on income statement if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss) (2.2) – (76.8)
Impact on equity if interest rates increased by 1%: gain / (loss) – – 110.8
Impact on equity if interest rates decreased by 1%: gain / (loss) – – (110.8)

Whilst cash flow interest rate risk is largely eliminated, the use of fixed rate borrowings and derivative financial instruments exposes 
the Group to fair value interest rate risk such that the Group would not benefit from falls in interest rates and would be exposed to 
unplanned costs, such as breakage costs, should debt or derivative financial instruments be restructured or repaid early.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s funding strategy is to ensure a mix of financing methods offering flexibility and cost effectiveness to match the 
requirements of the Group. The Group is primarily financed by secured loan notes, with approximately 90% (August 2009: 91%)  
of the capital balance on these loan notes being repayable after more than five years from the balance sheet date, subject to relevant 
covenants being met. The Board continues to review alternative sources of finance. The Group’s objective is to smooth the debt 
maturity profile and to arrange funding ahead of requirements where required so maturing short term debt may be refinanced or 
paid as it falls due. Cash flow forecasts are frequently produced to assist management in identifying liquidity requirements and are 
stress tested for possible scenarios. This includes assessments of the ability to meet the restricted payment conditions in the three 
securitisation structures in order that cash can be released to the top company level. Should any securitisations not meet the restricted 
payment conditions, then cash generated may under certain circumstances become trapped within the securitisation (not made 
available to the wider group) to naturally de-lever that securitisation. Cash balances are invested in short term deposits such that they 
are readily available to settle short term liabilities or to fund capital additions. 

In the prior period pressure on the Group’s revenue, profit, cash flows and overall liquidity from the general UK consumer 
environment made it necessary for the Group to take steps to improve the capital structure of the Group, to increase cash flow  
and repay debt in advance of maturity dates. For these reasons, the Group announced a Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer  
on 15 June 2009. The Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer completed in July 2009 raising net funds of £353.6m. These funds 
were used to facilitate the repayment of the Group’s convertible bonds and for the repurchase of securitisation notes at a discount  
to par (if appropriate opportunities arose) and to provide additional support to the securitisation groups as necessary to assist the 
Group in providing covenant headroom.

Capital risk
The Group’s capital structure is made up of net debt, issued share capital and reserves. These are managed effectively to minimise  
the Group’s cost of capital, to add value to shareholders and to service debt obligations, ultimately ensuring that the Group continues 
as a going concern. The Group’s debt is divided into three separate securitisations. The securitised debt is monitored by a variety  
of measures, which are reported to the debt providers on a quarterly basis. The Group assesses the performance of the business,  
the level of available funds and the short to medium strategic plans concerning capital spend as well as the need to meet financial 
covenants and such assessment influences the level of dividends payable.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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22 Financial instruments continued

Credit risk
With the exception of cash and short term deposits invested with banks and financial institutions, there are no significant 
concentrations of credit risk within the Group. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by the 
carrying value as at the balance sheet date. The Group’s objective is to minimise credit risk by ensuring that surplus funds are invested 
with banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings and that the Group deals with third parties that have been subject to 
credit checks, or that have good credit scores, where appropriate. Trade and other receivables, as shown on the Consolidated balance 
sheet, comprise a large number of individually small amounts from unrelated customers and are shown net of a provision for doubtful 
debts. Management estimates the provision for doubtful debts based on a review of all individual receivable accounts, experience and 
known factors at the balance sheet date, taking into account any collateral held in the form of cash deposits, which is quantified. 
These cash deposits are applied against unpaid debt when licensees leave the pubs, and vary in size. The amount of cash deposits 
held at 21 August 2010 is £33.2m (August 2009: £37.2m). These are held on the balance sheet within trade and other payables. 
Receivables are written off against the doubtful debt provision when management deems the debt no longer recoverable. 

An analysis of the provision held against trade receivables for doubtful debts is shown below:
21 August 

2010 
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Provision for doubtful debts at beginning of period 7.4 8.1
Charged to income statement 5.6 8.0
Utilised during the period (5.9) (9.6)
Released during the period (1.8) –

Provision for doubtful debts at end of period 5.3 6.5

The ageing of trade receivables at the balance sheet date, net of the doubtful debt provision, is as follows:
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Live debt  Current 32.3 51.2
 0 – 35 days past due 1.1 1.8
 Over 35 days past due 5.5 5.4

Closed debt 0.1 –

39.0 58.4

Live debt represents balances outstanding from current licensees. Closed debt relates to outstanding balances from customers that 
are no longer current licensees of the Group.

There are no indicators at 21 August 2010 that debtors will not meet their payment obligations in respect of the net amount of trade 
receivables recognised in the balance sheet. 

Derivative financial instruments
The carrying values of derivative financial instruments in the balance sheet are as follows:

Group

21 August 2010

Current 
assets

£m

Non-current 
assets

£m

Current 
liabilities

£m

Non-current 
liabilities

£m

Interest rate swaps – – 57.9 349.2

Group

22 August 2009

Current 
assets

£m

Non-current 
assets

£m

Current 
liabilities

£m

Non-current 
liabilities

£m

Interest rate swaps – 2.7 67.7 231.0
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22 Financial instruments continued

The interest rate swaps replace the LIBOR rate on the Group’s secured floating rate loan notes and bank loans with a fixed rate.  
The capital amount of the swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment profile of the associated notes over their life 
(see note 21 for more detail). Of the total carrying value of the interest rate swaps £247.6m (August 2009: £170.3m) qualify as, and 
are treated as, cash flow hedges in accordance with IAS 39 and movements in their fair values are recognised directly in equity. The 
remaining £159.5m (August 2009: £125.7m) do not qualify for hedge accounting with movements in their fair value being recognised 
in the income statement.

Fair value of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities
With the exception of the Group’s secured loan notes and convertible bonds, there are no material differences between the carrying 
value of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities and their fair values as at the balance sheet date.

The carrying value of the Group’s secured loan notes at 21 August 2010 is £3,558.2m (August 2009: £4,054.5m) and the fair value, 
measured at market value, of this debt at that date is £2,863.6m (August 2009: £3,397.4m). The carrying value of the liability element 
of the convertible bonds is nil at 21 August 2010 (August 2009: £193.5m) and the fair value of the whole instrument, measured  
at the listed market value, of these bonds at 21 August 2010 is nil (August 2009: £198.0m).

Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments carried at fair value are required to be measured by reference to the following levels:

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly  
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

All financial instruments carried at fair value have been measured by a level 2 valuation method.

23 Provisions

Group
Onerous 

contracts
£m

Property
 leases

£m
Insurance

£m
Total

£m

At 23 August 2008 11.3 31.9 5.4 48.6
Unwinding of discount effect of provisions 0.5 0.6 – 1.1
Charged to income statement – 41.1 2.2 43.3
Utilised during the period (4.4) (10.9) (1.9) (17.2)
Released during the period – (11.8) – (11.8)

At 22 August 2009 7.4 50.9 5.7 64.0
Reclassification1 – 6.7 – 6.7
Unwinding of discount effect of provisions 0.4 4.8 – 5.2
Charged to income statement – 49.9 1.1 51.0
Utilised during the period (4.0) (14.8) (1.4) (20.2)
Released during the period – (17.2) – (17.2)

At 21 August 2010 3.8 80.3 5.4 89.5
1 Reclassification of £6.7m from trade and other payables during the year to more accurately reflect the nature of the balance.

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:
21 August 

2010 
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Current 23.5 22.3
Non-current 66.0 41.7

89.5 64.0

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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23 Provisions continued

Onerous contracts
The onerous contracts provision relates to the termination costs for supply contracts, acquired on the acquisition of the Spirit group  
in January 2006, that expire in August 2011. The onerous cost element of these contracts has been provided for based on anticipated 
future volumes and the difference between contract prices and market prices.

Property leases
The provision for property leases has been set up to cover operating costs of vacant or loss making premises. The provision covers  
the expected shortfall between operating income and rents payable. Payments are expected to be ongoing on these properties for  
a number of years.

Insurance
The provision for insurance relates to an estimate of monies that may become payable on claims not yet made to the Group.  
The majority of this provision is expected to be utilised within five years of the balance sheet date.

24 Other non-current payables
Group Company

21 August 
2010 

£m

22 August
2009

 £m

21 August
2010

£m

22 August
2009 

£m

Other payables 1.1 1.7 – –
Amounts owed to group undertakings – – 1,401.8 1,807.8

1.1 1.7 1,401.8 1,807.8

Included within amounts owed to group undertakings are various loan balances, for which additional detail is disclosed in note 31. 
Remaining balances have no restrictive terms or conditions associated with them.

25 Share capital
21 August 

2010
No. (000)

21 August
2010

£m

22 August
2009

No. (000)

22 August
2009

£m

Allotted, called-up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 0.04786p 642,781 0.3 642,260 0.3

The movements in the called-up share capital are set out below:
Ordinary 

shares
No. (000)

Ordinary 
shares

£m

At 23 August 2008 266,542 0.1
Issued on exercise of share options 718 –
Issue of ordinary share capital 375,000 0.2

At 22 August 2009 642,260 0.3
Issued on exercise of share options 521 –

At 21 August 2010 642,781 0.3

Changes in share capital
In the prior period on 7 July 2009, the Company issued 375,000,000 new shares as part of a Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer 
in the market. These shares were placed at £1.00. The issue of these shares resulted in net cash proceeds of £353.8m. 

Under the Discretionary Share Plan, the Long Term Incentive Plan, the Deferred Share Bonus Plan and the Share Bonus Plan no 
ordinary shares were issued during the period (August 2009: nil). Under the Share Incentive Plan, 521,060 (August 2009: 713,603) 
matching shares were issued at par consideration. In the prior year, under the Save As You Earn scheme the final 3,957 ordinary 
shares were issued to employees at a price of £1.66. This scheme ended in April 2009. See note 26 for further details of the ongoing 
schemes. The issue of these shares resulted in net cash proceeds of £nil (August 2009: £nil).

Rights of shareholders 
All ordinary shares in issue at 21 August 2010 rank pari passu in all respects.
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26 Share based payments

The Company has five share incentive schemes by which Directors and employees are able to acquire shares in the Company. All of 
these schemes are equity-settled schemes. IFRS 2 has been applied to all grants of equity-settled awards after 7 November 2002 that 
had not vested before 1 January 2005.

Discretionary Share Plan
The first scheme is a Discretionary Share Plan (DSP) whereby options are granted to senior management over ordinary shares in the 
Company, at the prevailing market price at time of grant. These options vest after a three year performance period, with performance 
targets set by the Remuneration Committee, and are then exercisable for a period of between seven and ten years. Performance 
targets for options granted on 31 January 2006 and 16 November 2005 are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 
40% of options vesting on growth of RPI +8% per annum up to 100% vesting on growth of RPI +10% per annum. Performance 
targets for options granted on 17 November 2004 are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options 
vesting on growth of RPI +8% per annum up to 100% vesting on growth of RPI +12% per annum. Performance targets for options 
granted on 2 March 2004 are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options vesting on growth of RPI 
+12% per annum up to 100% vesting on growth of RPI +15% per annum. No options have been granted under this scheme since  
31 January 2006.

Long Term Incentive Plan
The second scheme is a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) whereby senior management will receive conditional rights over ordinary 
shares in the Company. Eligible employees are awarded rights to the issue of a maximum number of shares at the beginning  
of a three year period, a proportion of which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period depending on the extent  
to which the performance conditions set by the Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation is made are satisfied. Further 
information on the performance conditions of the Long Term Incentive Plan are shown in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on  
pages 40 to 51. At 21 August 2010 eligible employees held rights over ordinary shares that may result in the issue of 34,493 shares  
on 10 September 2010, 836,525 shares on 22 January 2011, 22,804 shares on 12 May 2011, 299,954 shares on 7 July 2011, 
3,972,972 shares on 10 November 2011, 59,090 shares on 11 May 2012 and 7,009,856 shares on 16 October 2012 and  
484,209 shares on 1 June 2013.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
The third scheme is a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) whereby senior management receive part of their post-tax annual bonus in 
shares. These shares are held on behalf of the senior management in a trust and if certain performance and eligibility conditions are 
met then a further award of shares is made after three years. At 21 August 2010, 58,379 shares are held within the trust and eligible 
employees hold additional rights over ordinary shares that may result in the future issue of up to 26,763 shares on 12 November 2010.

Share Bonus Plan
The fourth scheme is a Share Bonus Plan (SBP) whereby, at the discretion of the Board, certain employees of the Group, who are 
eligible for an annual bonus, are entitled to participate. Eligible employees are awarded rights to the issue of a maximum number of 
shares at the beginning of a two year period, which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period if the eligibility condition 
set by the Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation is made is satisfied. At 21 August 2010, eligible employees held rights 
over ordinary shares that may result in the issue of 104,144 shares on 10 November 2010. 

Share Incentive Plan
The fifth scheme is a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) open to all eligible employees, whereby proceeds contributed by employees are used 
to buy shares in the Company at prevailing market values. These shares are called partnership shares and are held in a trust on behalf 
of the employee. For every partnership share bought by the employee the Company will give the employee one share free of charge 
(‘matching share’). The employees have to take their shares out of the plan on leaving the Group and will not be entitled to the 
matching share if they leave within three years of buying the partnership shares. If the Company awards dividends to its shareholders, 
the employee will receive a dividend on each of the partnership and matching shares they hold. The Company arranges for the 
dividends to be used to buy extra shares (‘dividend shares’). Dividend shares must be held in the plan for three years before they can 
be removed unless the employee leaves the Group in which case they must be taken out. The scheme was introduced in June 2004 
with shares being acquired at market values on an annual or monthly basis. As at 21 August 2010 1,585,892 shares (August 2009: 
1,064,832 shares) had been issued by the Company to the trust at par value. The par value of the shares issued that has been 
deducted from reserves is negligible. The market value of these shares at 21 August 2010 was £2.0m (August 2009: £1.1m).

Fair value of share awards
The fair value is measured using the valuation technique that is considered to be the most appropriate to value each class of award. 

Discretionary Share Plan
There were no awards made in relation to the Discretionary Share Plan during the current or the previous period. 

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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26 Share based payments continued

Long Term Incentive Plan
The key assumptions for awards made in the current and previous period are as follows:

Grant date
1 June 

2010
16 October

2009
11 May

2009
10 November

2008

Valuation model
Monte 

Carlo
Monte 

Carlo
Monte 

Carlo
Monte 

Carlo
Share price at date of grant £0.71 £0.91 £1.59 £1.70
Shares under option 484,209 7,055,073 59,090 4,097,958
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility 118.8% 104.1% 107.1% 60.1%
Expected life 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Risk free rate 1.4% 2.0% 2.1% 1.0%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expectation of meeting performance criteria 100% 100% 0% 0%
Fair value per option £0.45 £0.63 £0.94 £0.73

Expected volatility has been calculated based on the historic volatility of the Company’s share price corresponding to the expected life 
of the option or share award.

The expected term of the options is based on the life to the point of expected exercise. This is determined through analysis of 
historically evidenced exercise patterns of option holders.

The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life.

Share Incentive Plan
The fair value of the matching shares issued under the Company’s Share Incentive Plan is recognised as the market value of the shares 
issued at the date of purchase. This charge is spread over the three year vesting period on a straight line basis.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
There were no awards made in relation to the Deferred Share Bonus Plan during the current or the previous period.

Movements in options and awards under share based payment schemes
Reconciliations of movements for the DSP, LTIP, DSB, SBP and SIP schemes over the 52 weeks to 21 August 2010 are shown below:

Discretionary Share Plan
52 weeks to 

21 August
2010 

No.

52 weeks to
 21 August

2010
WAEP1

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
No.

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
WAEP1

Outstanding at beginning of period 2,105,478 271 2,331,785 288
Adjusted during the period2 33,854 270 – –
Expired during the period (127,139) 725 (226,307) 445
Forfeited during the period (7,117) 595 – –

Outstanding at end of period 2,005,076 241 2,105,478 271

Exercisable at end of period 2,005,076 241 2,105,478 271
1 Weighted average exercise price (pence).
2  Adjustment to each individual holding made in accordance with the equity raise in July 2009 as approved by the Remuneration Committee  

on 7 October 2009.
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26 Share based payments continued

Long Term Incentive Plan
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010 

No.

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
No.

Outstanding at beginning of period 5,594,499 2,088,812
Adjusted during the period1 87,660 –
Granted during the period 7,539,282 4,711,490
Expired during the period (318,423) (322,799)
Forfeited during the period (183,115) (883,004)

Outstanding at end of period 12,719,903 5,594,499
1  Adjustment to each individual holding made in accordance with the equity raise in July 2009 as approved by the Remuneration Committee  

on 7 October 2009.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
52 weeks to

21 August 
2010 

No.

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
No.

Outstanding at beginning of period 99,141 150,918
Adjusted during the period1 634 –
Removed during the period (358) (8,212)
Expired during the period (14,880) (31,672)
Forfeited during the period – (11,893)

Outstanding at end of period 84,537 99,141
1  Adjustment to each individual holding made in accordance with the equity raise in July 2009 as approved by the Remuneration Committee  

on 7 October 2009.

Share Bonus Plan 
52 weeks to

21 August 
2010 

No.

52 weeks to 
22 August

2009
No.

Outstanding at beginning of period 102,500 –
Adjusted during the period1 1,644 –
Granted during the period – 102,500

Outstanding at end of period 104,144 102,500
1  Adjustment to each individual holding made in accordance with the equity raise in July 2009 as approved by the Remuneration Committee  

on 7 October 2009.

Share Incentive Plan
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010 

No.

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
No.

Outstanding at beginning of period 826,729 250,114
Granted during the period 521,060 746,655
Forfeited during the period (36,494) (44,040)
Released during the period (8,150) (126,000)

Outstanding at end of period 1,303,145 826,729

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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26 Share based payments continued

Outstanding options
Options outstanding at 21 August 2010 comprise the following:

Discretionary Share Plan    

Exercise date
Number of 

share options
Exercise price / 

Pence per share

27 May 2002 to 25 May 2012 1,271,374 198
27 May 2002 to 25 May 2012 353,433 205
5 December 2005 to 5 December 2012 176,138 194
2 March 2007 to 1 March 2014 71,115 519
17 November 2007 to 17 November 2014 69,726 551
16 November 2008 to 16 November 2015 58,131 767
31 January 2009 to 31 January 2016 5,159 866

No options were exercised during the current period. The options outstanding at 21 August 2010 had a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 1.9 years (August 2009: 2.9 years). 

The total charge for the year relating to employee share based plans was £3.2m (52 weeks ended 22 August 2009: £0.1m) all of 
which related to equity-settled share based payment transactions. 

27 Net debt

(a) Analysis of net debt
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Secured loan notes (3,459.8) (3,941.9)
Convertible bonds1 – (201.7)

Gross debt (3,459.8) (4,143.6)
Cash and cash equivalents 316.5 678.6

Nominal value of net debt (3,143.3) (3,465.0)

Capitalised debt issue costs 11.4 18.4
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of secured loan notes (109.8) (129.6)
Fair value of interest rate swaps (407.1) (296.0)
Balance sheet adjustments to convertible bonds2 – 6.8
Finance lease obligations (17.0) (18.4)

Net debt (3,665.8) (3,883.8)

Balance sheet:
Borrowings (3,575.2) (4,072.9)
Convertible bonds – (193.5)
Derivative financial instruments (407.1) (296.0)
Cash and cash equivalents 316.5 678.6

Net debt (3,665.8) (3,883.8)
1 In the prior period represents nominal value of convertible bonds of £192.1m plus subsequent accretion of liability to redemption value on maturity.
2  In the prior period represents equity component of convertible bonds less subsequent accretion of liability to redemption value on maturity for this equity 

component.
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27 Net debt continued

(b) Analysis of changes in net debt
At 23 August 

2008
£m

Cash flow
£m

Non-cash 
movements

£m

At 22 August 
2009

£m
Cash flow

£m

Non-cash 
movements

£m

At 21 August 
2010

£m

Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand 321.2 357.4 – 678.6 (362.1) – 316.5
Cash deposits 14.4 (14.4) – – – – –

Cash and cash deposits 335.6 343.0 – 678.6 (362.1) – 316.5

Debt
Borrowings (4,730.0) 399.9 257.2 (4,072.9) 430.7 67.0 (3,575.2)
Guaranteed loan notes (14.4) 14.4 – – – – –
Derivative financial instruments (179.7) 3.7 (120.0) (296.0) 33.3 (144.4) (407.1)
Debt component of convertible bonds (264.8) 65.5 5.8 (193.5) 202.7 (9.2) –

(5,188.9) 483.5 143.0 (4,562.4) 666.7 (86.6) (3,982.3)

Net debt per balance sheet (4,853.3) 826.5 143.0 (3,883.8) 304.6 (86.6) (3,665.8)

Net debt incorporates the Group’s borrowings, bank overdrafts, derivative financial instruments and obligations under finance leases, 
less cash and cash equivalents and cash deposits. The cash deposits were used as security for loan notes which were repaid in full in 
the prior period.

Non-cash movements relate to amortisation of deferred issue costs and premium on loan notes and convertible bonds, the equity 
component of convertible bonds and fair value movement in derivative financial instruments.

(c) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents in the period (362.1) 357.4
Cash outflow from change in cash deposits – (14.4)
Cash outflow from change in debt financing 664.1 481.2

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 302.0 824.2

Non-cash movements in net debt (85.4) 144.3

Change in net debt resulting from non-cash flows (85.4) 144.3

Obligations under finance leases 1.4 1.0

Movement in net debt 218.0 969.5
Net debt at beginning of period (3,883.8) (4,853.3)

Net debt at end of period (3,665.8) (3,883.8)

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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28 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

During the period, the Group operated three funded defined benefit pension schemes; the Pubmaster Pension Scheme, the Punch 
Pub Company Pension Scheme (PPCPS) (formerly the Spirit Group Pension Scheme (SGPS)) and the Punch Pub Company Retail 
Pension Scheme (PPCRPS) (formerly Spirit Group Retail Pension Plan (SGRPP)). The pension plans have not invested in any of the 
Group’s own financial instruments, nor in properties or other assets used by the Group.

The tables below illustrate the impact of defined benefit schemes on the income statement and the balance sheet and relate to the 
Pubmaster Pension Scheme, the PPCPS and the PPCRPS. 

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Analysis of amounts charged to operating costs:
52 weeks to

21 August 
2010

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Current service cost (0.1) (0.1)

Analysis of amounts credited to other finance income:
52 weeks to

21 August 
2010

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Expected return on assets 21.9 26.0
Interest on scheme liabilities (21.7) (21.4)

Net credit 0.2 4.6

Analysis of amounts recognised in the SOCI in the period:
52 weeks to

21 August 
2010

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Actual return on assets 47.5 (7.8)
Expected return on assets (21.9) (26.0)
Actuarial gain / (loss) on liabilities 6.3 (67.9)

Expected actuarial gains / (losses) recognised in the SOCI 31.9 (101.7)
Restriction on surplus recognised – 29.1

Actuarial gains / (losses) recognised in the SOCI 31.9 (72.6)

Cumulative amounts recognised in the SOCI:
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

At beginning of period (32.8) 39.8
Net actuarial gains / (losses) in the period 31.9 (72.6)

At end of period (0.9) (32.8)

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
21 August

2010
£m

 22 August
2009

£m

Present value of scheme liabilities (418.6) (416.6)
Fair value of scheme assets 395.6 357.1

Net retirement benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet (23.0) (59.5)
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28 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

Movements in the present value of scheme liabilities are as follows:
52 weeks to

21 August 
2010

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Present value of scheme liabilities at beginning of year 416.6 342.3
Current service cost 0.1 0.1
Interest cost 21.7 21.4
Actuarial (gains) / losses (6.3) 67.9
Benefits paid (13.5) (15.1)

Present value of scheme liabilities at end of year 418.6 416.6
 
Movements in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

52 weeks to
21 August 

2010
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Fair value of scheme assets at beginning of year 357.1 376.5
Expected return on scheme assets 21.9 26.0
Actuarial gains / (losses) 25.6 (33.8)
Contributions paid by employer 4.5 3.5
Benefits paid (13.5) (15.1)

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 395.6 357.1

Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the balance sheet date and the expected return on scheme assets is derived as  
a weighted average of the expected return on each asset class, recognising the proportions of the assets invested in each. The expected 
return on each asset class is determined after taking external expert advice and by reference to relevant equity and bond indices.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:
21 August 

2010
22 August

2009

Equities 46.9% 53.6%
Bonds 44.2% 38.8%
Property 8.1% 6.7%
Other 0.8% 0.9%

The history of experience adjustments on the schemes for the current and previous financial years is as follows:
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

23 August
2008

£m

18 August
2007

£m

19 August
2006

£m

Present value of retirement benefit liabilities (418.6) (416.6) (342.3) (373.3) (393.5)
Fair value of plan assets 395.6 357.1 376.5 380.0 368.8

Net (liability) / asset in the scheme (23.0) (59.5) 34.2 6.7 (24.7)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities 0.6 (4.5) 24.3 2.5 (5.8)
Percentage of scheme liabilities 0.1% 1.1% 7.1% 0.7% 1.5%

Experience adjustments on scheme assets 25.6 (33.8) (30.0) (1.7) 4.8
Percentage of scheme assets 6.5% 9.5% 8.0% 0.4% 1.3%

The expected contributions to defined benefit schemes for the next financial year, beginning 22 August 2010, are £4.5m.

In July 2010 the Government announced a proposal to replace the Retail Price Index (RPI) with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for 
pension increases in the private sector on the basis that the CPI is a more appropriate measure of the change in cost of living for 
pensioners than RPI. The Group is currently in the process of seeking legal advice on how this change might impact the benefits 
payable under the three defined benefit pension schemes. The impact of changing from RPI to CPI is likely to result in a reduction  
in the present value of scheme liabilities.

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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28 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

Scheme funding
Pubmaster Pension Scheme
The Pubmaster Pension Scheme is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been 
determined by a qualified actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 6 April 2010, updated to 21 August 2010, the 
balance sheet date. The mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables that allow for future mortality 
improvements. The assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows:

21 August 
2010

22 August
2009

Male currently aged 50 22.8 years 21.9 years
Male currently aged 65 21.0 years 20.4 years
Female currently aged 50 25.3 years 23.4 years
Female currently aged 65 23.6 years 22.5 years

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows:
21 August 

2010
22 August

2009

Rate of increase of salaries 4.30% 4.40%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.90% 3.00%
Discount rate 5.10% 5.60%
Inflation assumption 3.05% 3.15%
Revaluation of deferred pensions 3.05% 3.15%

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
Long term 

rate of 
return 

expected at 
21 August 

2010

Value at
21 August

2010
£m

Long term
rate of
return

expected at
22 August

2009

Value at
22 August

2009
£m

Equities 7.75% 26.6 7.25% 23.5
Bonds 4.30% 16.8 4.75% 14.7
Insured pensions 5.10% 1.7 5.60% 2.0
Cash 4.00% 0.3 4.00% 0.3

Total market value of assets 45.4 40.5
Present value of scheme liabilities (54.5) (54.1)

Net pension liability before deferred tax (9.1) (13.6)
Deferred tax asset 2.4 3.8

Net pension liability (6.7) (9.8)

Punch Pub Company Pension Scheme
The PPCPS is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been determined by a qualified 
actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 5 April 2007, updated to 21 August 2010, the balance sheet date. The 
mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables that allow for future mortality improvements. The 
assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows:

21 August 
2010

22 August
2009

Male currently aged 45 22.3 years 22.2 years
Male currently aged 65 20.5 years 20.4 years
Female currently aged 45 23.7 years 23.7 years
Female currently aged 65 22.6 years 22.5 years

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows:
21 August 

2010
22 August

2009

Rate of increase of salaries – 3.60%
Rate of increase in pensions 3.20% 3.30%
Discount rate 5.20% 5.20%
Inflation assumption 3.40% 3.60%
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28 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
Long term 

rate of 
return 

expected at 
21 August 

2010

Value at
21 August

2010
£m

Long term
rate of 
return

expected at
22 August

2009

Value at
22 August

2009
£m

Equities 7.75% 57.0 7.25% 56.9
Government bonds 4.00% 19.2 4.25% 14.5
Property 7.00% 11.3 6.25% 6.4
Corporate bonds 5.00% 20.0 5.25% 16.0
Other 1.50% 0.5 1.50% 0.8

Total market value of assets 108.0 94.6
Present value of scheme liabilities (120.5) (120.9)

Net pension liability before deferred tax (12.5) (26.3)
Deferred tax asset 3.4 7.4

Net pension liability (9.1) (18.9)

Punch Pub Company Retail Pension Plan
The PPCRPP is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been determined by a 
qualified actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 31 October 2006, updated to 21 August 2010, the balance sheet 
date. The mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables that allow for future mortality improvements. 
The assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows:

21 August 
2010

22 August
2009

Male currently aged 45 22.3 years 22.2 years
Male currently aged 65 20.5 years 20.4 years
Female currently aged 45 23.7 years 23.7 years
Female currently aged 65 22.6 years 22.5 years

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows:
21 August 

2010
22 August

 2009

Rate of increase of salaries – 3.60%
Rate of increase in pensions 1.80% 1.90%
Discount rate 5.20% 5.30%
Inflation assumption 3.40% 3.60%

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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28 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
Long term 

rate of 
return 

expected at
21 August 

2010

Value at
21 August 

2010
£m

Long term
rate of
return

expected at
22 August

2009

Value at
22 August

2009
£m

Equities 7.75% 102.1 7.25% 110.8
Government bonds 4.00% 58.2 4.25% 44.3
Corporate bonds 5.00% 60.6 5.25% 49.2
Property 7.00% 20.7 6.25% 17.4
Other 1.50% 0.6 1.50% 0.3

Total market value of assets 242.2 222.0
Present value of scheme liabilities (243.6) (241.6)

Net pension liability before deferred tax (1.4) (19.6)
Deferred tax asset 0.4 5.5

Net pension liability (1.0) (14.1)

On the acquisition of the Spirit group, the Group undertook to make scheduled contributions to reduce the pension scheme deficits 
on acquisition over the five years to 2010. Following finalisation of the actuarial valuations of the SGPS and SGRPP schemes as at  
5 April 2007 and 31 October 2006 respectively, no additional payments were required to be made to the SGRPP scheme; the final 
scheduled contribution into the SGPS of £4.4m was paid subsequent to the period end, on 26 August 2010.

The pension costs for the defined contribution schemes are as follows:
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010

£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Defined contribution schemes 2.7 3.1

Pension risk
The Group operates three defined benefit pension schemes which are all closed to new members. The schemes are subject to risk 
regarding the relative amount of the schemes’ assets, which are affected by the value of investments and the returns generated by 
such investments, compared to the schemes’ liabilities, which are affected by changes in the life expectancy, actual and expected 
price inflation, changes in bond yields and future salary increases. The difference in value between scheme assets and scheme 
liabilities may vary significantly in the short term, potentially resulting in an increased deficit (or reduced surplus) being recognised  
on the Group’s balance sheet. 

Legislation means that, on occasion, it may be appropriate to approach the Pensions Regulator for pre-clearance of agreements 
reached with the Pension Trustees at the time of significant corporate transactions. Such clearance may include a requirement to 
increase the level of funding over a reduced timescale.
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29 Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments

Group
22 August 

2009
£m

21 August
2010

£m

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases:
Within one year 68.8 67.6
Between one and five years 270.2 266.3
After five years 1,168.1 1,253.6

1,507.1 1,587.5

The future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases when discounted to present value are £658.0m  
(August 2009: £750.4m).

The Group leases various licensed properties, offices and other commercial properties under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The Group also leases vehicles under 
non-cancellable operating lease agreements.

The total future minimum sublease payments expected to be received are £148.8m (August 2009: £169.0m).

The Group is a lessor of licensed properties to retailers. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The total 
non-cancellable future minimum lease payments expected to be received are:

Land and 
buildings 

21 August 
2010

£m

Land and
buildings

22 August
2009

£m

Within one year 158.6 176.4
Between one and five years 502.7 578.3
After five years 582.3 736.8

1,243.6 1,491.5

The Company has no operating lease commitments at 21 August 2010 (August 2009: £nil).

30 Capital and other financial commitments

Group
Capital commitments for property, plant and equipment

21 August
2010

£m

22 August
2009

£m

Contracted but not provided 18.4 7.6

The Company has no capital commitments at 21 August 2010 (August 2009: £nil).

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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31 Related party transactions

Group
Transactions with key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Group comprise members of the Punch Taverns plc Board of Directors and other nominated 
senior executives.

The key management personnel compensation is as follows:
52 weeks to 

21 August 
2010

£m

 52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Short term employee benefits 3.1 3.8
Post-employment employee benefits 0.4 0.3
Share based payments – –

3.5 4.1

Transactions with joint ventures
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, holds 50% of the entire issued share capital of Matthew 
Clark (Holdings) Limited, the holding company of the Matthew Clark group of companies. The Group’s investment in this joint 
venture at 21 August 2010 is £47.0m (August 2009: £43.5m). The Group had transactions of £17.4m with Matthew Clark during the 
52 weeks to 21 August 2010 (52 weeks to 22 August 2009: £22.9m) and there was £4.1m owing to Matthew Clark at 21 August 2010 
(August 2009: £3.4m).

During the period, the Group has paid invoices and raised sales invoices on behalf of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, a joint 
venture owned indirectly by the Company, which have been recharged via an intercompany account. At the period end, the Group 
owed Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited £0.5m (August 2009: Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited owed the Group £0.2m).

Year end balances arising from transactions with joint ventures
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August
2009

£m

Unsecured loan stock receivable 10.6 10.0
Amounts owed to joint ventures (4.6) (3.2)

Total amounts due from joint ventures 6.0 6.8

All rights, together with the joint venture partner of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, to receive interest on the unsecured loan 
stock, have been waived. The amount outstanding at the period end has been fully provided by the Group due to the uncertainty  
of its recoverability.

Neither the Group nor the Company have had any transactions with any of the pension schemes during the current or prior period, 
other than those disclosed in note 28.

Company
Transactions with key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Company comprise members of the Punch Taverns plc Board of Directors. The Directors do 
not receive any remuneration from the Company (August 2009: £nil) as their emoluments are borne by other Group companies.  
The Company did not have any transactions, with the exception of transactions related to share based payments, with the Directors 
during the financial year (August 2009: £nil). Details of these transactions are provided in the Report on Directors’ remuneration.
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31 Related party transactions continued

Transactions with subsidiary undertakings
The Company enters into loans with its subsidiary undertakings at both fixed and floating rates of interest on a commercial basis. 
Hence, the Company incurs interest expense and earns interest income on these loans and advances. 

52 weeks to  
21 August

2010
£m

52 weeks to
22 August

2009
£m

Loans and advances 
Increase / (decrease) in loan notes owed by subsidiary undertakings 107.9 (61.2)
Increase / (decrease) in loans owed by subsidiary undertakings 175.9 (575.6)
(Increase) / decrease in other loans and advances owed to subsidiary undertakings (157.6) 2,750.0

The loans are repayable on demand but the Company will not request repayment for at least 12 months.

Year end balances arising from transactions with subsidiary undertakings
21 August 

2010
£m

22 August 
2009

£m

Receivables 1,264.0 1,431.7
Payables (1,518.5) (1,916.9)

The amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings include £823.1m (August 2009: £715.1m) of loan notes, all of which are interest 
bearing. The loan notes accrue interest at fixed rates ranging between 12% and 15%, which is capitalised quarterly in arrears.  
In addition, the Company has intercompany loans of £429.7m (August 2009: £253.8m) owed by subsidiary undertakings that are 
non-interest bearing and £571.4m (August 2009: £571.4m) of loans owed to subsidiary undertakings that are non-interest bearing.

32 Contingent liabilities and assets

In prior years, the Group has disposed of a number of properties for which it remains contingently liable for the head leases should 
the assignee default on the terms of the lease. This may result in a number of leases reverting to the Group for which the annual  
net exposure to the Group is considered unlikely to exceed £6m per annum.

At the balance sheet date a contingent asset of £18.8m exists in relation to an outstanding claim made to HMRC regarding 
recoverable VAT.

33 Post balance sheet events

Subsequent to the year end the Group has repurchased £21.3m of the nominal value of outstanding debt.
 

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2010
continued
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Punch Taverns plc

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Punch Taverns plc for the 52 week 
period ended 21 August 2010 which comprise the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement, the Consolidated statement of changes in equity,  
the Company balance sheet, the Company statement of changes in equity, the Company statement of comprehensive income,  
the Company cash flow statement and the related notes 1 to 33. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in  
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and,  
as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,  
or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 52, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit  
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those  
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/UKP.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
•  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at  

21 August 2010 and of the Group’s and parent company’s profit / loss for the period then ended;
•  the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; 
•  the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union  

and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
•  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards  

the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
•  the part of the Report on Directors’ remuneration to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the  

Companies Act 2006; 
•  the information given in the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 

with the financial statements; and
 the information given in the Corporate governance statement set out on pages 35 to 39 with respect to internal control and risk   •	

 management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures is consistent with the Group   
 financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or
•  the parent company financial statements and the part of the Report on Directors’ remuneration to be audited are not in agreement 

with the accounting records and returns; or
•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
•  a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the Company.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
 the Directors’ statement, set out on page 62, in relation to going concern; and•	

•  the part of the Corporate governance statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 
Combined Code specified for our review.

G A Watts (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants, One Snowhill, Snow Hill Queensway, Birmingham, B4 6GH
11 October 2010
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Five year financial summary

Consolidated trading results
21 August

2010
as reported

£m

22 August
2009

as reported
£m

23 August
20081

as restated2

£m

18 August
2007

as reported
£m

19 August
2006

as reported
£m

Revenue3 1,283.0 1,441.0 1,560.6 1,704.9 1,546.1
Operating expenses before depreciation and amortisation (864.7) (928.9) (940.3) (1,042.9) (939.8)
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture 3.5 2.3 3.1 1.6 –

EBITDA3 421.8 514.4 623.4 663.6 606.3
Depreciation and amortisation (51.6) (62.3) (62.5) (56.5) (46.1)

Operating profit3 370.2 452.1 560.9 607.1 560.2
Profit on sale of non-current assets – – 0.4 3.0 1.4
Net finance costs (239.4) (291.7) (299.0) (328.4) (312.0)

Profit before tax3 130.8 160.4 262.3 281.7 249.6
Taxation3 (38.1) (47.0) (76.3) (57.7) (54.8)

Profit after tax3 92.7 113.4 186.0 224.0 194.8

Exceptional items (252.6) (289.8) (250.7) 54.4 52.0

Earnings per share:
Basic adjusted (pence)4 14.4 36.1 69.9 84.4 74.9
1 The period ended 23 August 2008 is a 53 week period.
2 The period ended 23 August 2008 was restated from that reported to better reflect the nature of tax items.
3 Before exceptional items.
4 Earnings adjusted for the impact of exceptional items.

Consolidated balance sheets 
21 August

2010
as reported

£m

22 August
2009

as restated1

£m

23 August
2008

as restated2

£m

18 August
2007

as reported
£m

19 August
2006

as restated3

£m

Property, plant and equipment 4,691.8 5,124.3 6,274.7 6,495.5 6,506.0
Goodwill 495.1 504.1 556.2 556.2 537.8
Operating leases and other intangible assets 91.6 74.6 131.3 157.3 163.3
Other non-current assets 47.0 46.2 153.5 191.8 197.8

Total non-current assets 5,325.5 5,749.2 7,115.7 7,400.8 7,404.9
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 125.1 169.6 20.1 8.2 28.5
Other current assets 399.5 778.1 428.7 429.6 697.8
Current liabilities (413.8) (456.9) (439.8) (444.8) (568.3)
Non-current liabilities (3,961.7) (4,571.3) (5,531.8) (5,656.9) (6,136.3)

Net assets 1,474.6 1,668.7 1,592.9 1,736.9 1,426.6

Share capital 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1
Reserves 1,474.3 1,668.4 1,592.8 1,736.8 1,426.5

Shareholders’ equity 1,474.6 1,668.7 1,592.9 1,736.9 1,426.6

Nominal value of gross debt (3,459.8) (4,143.7) (4,851.9) (4,922.6) (5,254.8)
1 The period ended 22 August 2009 has been restated to show the deferred tax balance net within non-current liabilities. There has been no impact on net assets.
2 The period ended 23 August 2008 was restated to reflect the repayment profile of derivative financial instruments. There was no impact on net assets. 
3 The period ended 19 August 2006 was restated from that reported to reflect the finalisation of the fair values on the acquisition of the Spirit group.
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Financial glossary

Beta model
A model for pricing share options which applies the same 
principles as the binomial model but takes into account the 
relationship of the share price to a portfolio of a comparator 
group companies’ shares.

Binomial model
A model for pricing share options which applies the same 
principles as decision tree analysis by considering the possibilities 
that prices may increase or decrease by a certain percentage.

Black-Scholes model
A model for pricing share options using the share price, the  
time to expiration of the option, the risk-free interest rate and  
the expected standard deviation of the share return.

Cash flow hedges
A hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows.

Combined Code
The Combined Code on corporate governance sets out standards 
of good practice in relation to issues such as board composition 
and development, remuneration, accountability and audit, and 
relations with shareholders.

Convertible bond
A corporate bond that can be exchanged for a specific number  
of ordinary shares. Convertible bonds generally have lower 
interest rates than non-convertible bonds because they accrue 
value as the price of the underlying shares rise. Convertible bonds 
therefore reflect a combination of the benefits of shares and 
corporate bonds.

Corporate governance
Corporate governance describes the system by which an 
organisation is directed and controlled.

Debenture notes
A form of bond taken out by a company, which it agrees to  
repay at a specified future date and which bears interest  
(either fixed or variable) until maturity.

Derivative financial instruments
Financial instruments whose value changes in response to 
changes in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, 
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, or other variable, and 
are settled at a future date.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is earnings per share after allowing  
for the dilutive effect of the conversion into ordinary shares  
of the weighted average number of options outstanding  
during the period and shares from the assumed conversion  
of convertible bonds.

Earnings per share (EPS)
Earnings per share is a performance measure that expresses  
the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders divided  
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the period.

EBITDA
EBITDA represents earnings before finance income, finance  
costs, movement in fair value of interest rate swaps, UK income 
tax, depreciation, amortisation and profit on sale of non-current 
assets.

Effective interest rate method
A method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset  
or financial liability and of allocating the interest income or 
expense over the relevant period.

Exceptional items
Items which management consider will distort comparability, 
either due to their significant non-recurring nature or because  
of specific accounting treatments. These are separately identified 
in order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance.

Experience gains / losses
Changes in the valuation of defined benefit pension scheme  
that arise when events have not coincided with the actuarial 
assumptions made for the previous valuation.

Fair value
The amount at which assets can be exchanged, or liabilities 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s 
length transaction.

Finance lease 
A method of purchasing an asset by making rental payments 
throughout the expected lifetime of the asset. The lessee shows 
an asset and a corresponding liability in the balance sheet. 
Finance lease payments are accounted for as a reduction in  
the liability.

Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the amount paid for a company over  
the fair value of the net assets acquired at the date of acquisition.

IAS
International Accounting Standards.

IASB
International Accounting Standards Board.

IFRS 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

IFRIC
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.
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Financial glossary
continued

Indexation allowance
Indexation allowance is tax relief given when calculating capital 
gains that takes into account inflation based on the Retail Prices 
Index (RPI). Indexation allowance can only reduce an un-indexed 
gain to nil and cannot create or increase a capital loss.

Interest cover
A performance measure that shows the number of times  
EBITDA covers the net finance income and finance cost.

Interest rate swap
A derivative financial instrument used to minimise exposure to 
changes in interest rates by payment to receive a fixed interest 
rate in exchange for a floating rate interest rate, or payment  
to receive a floating rate interest rate in exchange for a fixed 
interest rate.

LIBOR
London Inter Bank Offered Rate. The interest rate quoted 
between banks, which is a recognised basis for calculating  
a floating interest rate.

Monte Carlo valuation method
A model for pricing share options that generates many random 
possible price paths, calculates assumed exercise values, then 
averages and discounts to give the value of the option.

Net debt
Loans, convertible bonds, derivative financial instruments and 
finance leases net of other interest bearing deposits and cash  
and cash equivalents.

Nominal value of net debt
The value of a security stated by the issuer; unrelated to market 
value. For bonds, it is the amount paid to the holder at maturity. 

Operating lease
A method of renting assets over a period that is less than the 
expected life of the asset. The lessee does not show an asset  
or liability on their balance sheet and periodic payments are 
accounted for by the lessee as operating expenses in the period.

Operating result
Profit after deducting all operating expenses including 
depreciation and amortisation.

Over-hedge
An over-hedge occurs when the notional principal amount of  
the hedging instrument is greater than that of the hedged item.

PBT 
Profit before tax.

Projected unit credit method
The accounting method used to calculate provisions for pensions. 
It includes not only the pensions and vested interests accrued at 
the date of calculation, but also anticipated increases in salaries 
and pensions.

Securitisation
The process of raising finance by creating a financial instrument 
secured by pooling other financial assets to back the instrument.

Segmental reporting
Information regarding the financial position and results of 
operations in different business areas.

Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
The growth in value of a shareholding over a specific  
period, assuming that dividends are reinvested to purchase 
additional shares.

UK GAAP
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Working capital
Short term disposable capital used to finance day-to-day 
operations. It is calculated as current assets less current liabilities.
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